
Vale of White Horse District Council 
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 3 February 2023 

 Page 1 

Agenda 

 
Contact: Steve Culliford, Democratic Services 
Telephone: 07895 213735 
Email: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 26 January 2023 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

 

 

A meeting of the  

Cabinet 

 
will be held on Friday 3 February 2023 at 10.30 am  
Meeting Room 1, Abbey House, Abbey Close, Abingdon, OX14 3JE 
 
To watch this virtual meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel.   
 

Cabinet Members: 
Councillors  
Bethia Thomas (Chair) Helen Pighills 
Neil Fawcett (Vice-Chair) Sally Povolotsky 
Andy Crawford Judy Roberts 
Debby Hallett  
 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the 
officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 
 
 

Agenda 

 

Open to the Public including the Press 
 

1. Apologies for absence  
  
To record apologies for absence.   
 

2. Minutes  
(Pages 4 - 7)  
  

mailto:carole.nicholl@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings


Vale of White Horse District Council 
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 3 February 2023 

 Page 2 

To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 20 
December 2022.   
 

3. Declarations of interests  
  
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests and 
non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the agenda for 
this meeting. 
 

4. Urgent business and chair's announcements  
  
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair. 
 

5. Public participation  
  
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.   
 

6. Recommendations and updates from other committees  
  
To consider any recommendations to Cabinet from other committees.   
 

7. Distributing the White Horse Community Lottery - Community Fund  
(Pages 8 - 15)  
  
To consider the head of policy and programmes’ report.   
 

8. Milton Park - Proposed Revised Local Development Order  
(Wards Affected: Drayton; Sutton Courtenay)  
 
(Pages 16 - 56)  
  
To consider the head of planning’s report.  Appendix 1 is contained in a separate 
supplement to this agenda.   
 

9. Treasury management mid-year monitoring 2022/23  
(Pages 57 - 72)  
  
To consider the head of finance’s report.   
 

10. Treasury management and investment strategy 2023/24  
(Pages 73 - 110)  
  
To consider the head of finance’s report.   
 
 
 
 



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Cabinet agenda - Friday, 3 February 2023 

 Page 3 

11. Capital strategy 2023/24 to 2032/33  
(Pages 111 - 129)  
  
To consider the head of finance’s report.   
 

12. Revenue budget 2023/24 and capital programme to 2027/28  
(Pages 130 - 163)  
  
To consider the head of finance’s report.   
 

13. Exclusion of the public, including the press  
  
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3, Part 

1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and  
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.   
 
 
 

Exempt information under section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972  

  

14. Revenue budget 2023/24 and capital programme 2023/24 to 
2027/28  

(Pages 164 - 165)  
  
To consider the exempt appendix to the head of finance’s report.   
 



 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes - Tuesday, 20 December 2022  

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Cabinet 

 

 
held on Tuesday 20 December 2022 at 10.30am 
in the Meeting Room 1, Abbey House, Abbey Close, Abingdon, OX14 3JE  
 
 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present in the meeting room:  
Cabinet members: Councillors Neil Fawcett (Vice-Chair - in the chair), Sally Povolotsky 
and Judy Roberts 
Officers: John Backley (Technical Services Manager), Steve Culliford (Democratic 
Services Team Leader), and Mark Stone (Chief Executive) 
 
Remote attendance:  
Cabinet members: Councillors Andy Crawford and Debby Hallett  
Officers: Patrick Arran (Head of Legal and Democratic), James Carpenter (Head of 
Development and Corporate Landlord), Simon Hewings (Head of Finance), and Mark 
Minion (Head of Corporate Services)  
 

 

55. Apologies for absence  
 
Councillors Bethia Thomas (Chair) and Helen Pighills had sent their apologies for 
absence.   
 
Councillor Neil Fawcett (Vice-Chair) took the chair for this meeting.   
 

56. Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to adopt as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 2 
December 2022 and agree that the chair signs them as such.   
 

57. Declarations of interests  
 
None 
 

58. Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
None 
 

59. Public participation  
 
None 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes - Tuesday, 20 December 2022  

60. Car Park Fees  
 
Cabinet considered the report of the head of development and corporate landlord.  This 
set out the annual review of the council’s car park fees and helped Cabinet to decide 
whether to change the fees for 2023/24.  This year Cabinet was not asked to review the 
charges for penalties, as the level of car park penalty charges was now set by legislation, 
which changed on 1 November 2022 when the council introduced civil parking 
enforcement.   
 
The car park policy, agreed by Cabinet in August 2022, included guidance from the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984, which stated that council parking enforcement should be self-
financing, and that the council should aim for its parking income to at least meet the cost of 
managing its car parks.  The report set out the current fees and permit prices, together 
with a comparison of fees in other neighbouring council’s car parks.  It also set out the cost 
of providing the car parks’ service, and projected income and expenditure over a five-year 
period.   
 
Based on the current usage and estimated income and expenditure, the report set out 
options to allow the car park account to at least ‘break even’ in the medium term.  The 
options for 2023/24 were to: 

1. make no change to the current car parking fees  
2. remove the one-hour free parking and charge a nominal amount of 50p  
3. extend Sunday parking charges to all car parks  
4. create premium rate parking spaces closest to major amenities  
5. introduce a flat fee of £1 for the period 6pm to 9pm  
6. introduce half price permits for zero-emission vehicles  
7. increase the cost of permits by 10 per cent (rounded), in line with inflation  
8. simplify the charging regime  
9. increase fees across the board by 10 per cent  

 
The Cabinet member with responsibility for the council’s car parks service, recalled that 
last year Cabinet had reduced the free parking from two hours to one hour and increased 
all fees by 40 pence.  This had a marked impact on increasing car park income, putting the 
car park account in a better financial position, although overall the cost of running the car 
parks was still more than the income generated.  The report showed that there was an 
estimated deficit for 2022/23 of £259,186, and this deficit continued up to 2025/26.  
Although none of the options set out in the report met the deficit, the Cabinet member 
would work with officers and Cabinet members in 2023 to review the council’s parking 
provision.   
 
Turning to the options, the Cabinet member recommended option 7, to increase the cost of 
parking permits by ten per cent.  Although there was an existing decision to increase 
residents’ permits by 10 per cent on 1 April 2023, this was for existing residents only, as 
the option of cheaper parking permits for residents was removed in 2020.  Option 7 was 
for all other parking permits to increase by ten per cent.   
 
For straight forward increases in fees or permits, these could be amended by displaying 
variation notices in the car parks and local newspapers, and if there were no delays to the 
implementation, officers aimed to arrange for the changes to be made from 1 April 2023.  If 
other changes were agreed involving anything other than increase in fees, this would 
involve a period of formal consultation and for Cabinet to consider any feedback, and 
therefore such changes would not be implemented until a least June 2023.   
 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes - Tuesday, 20 December 2022  

Cabinet concurred with the Cabinet member’s recommendation to approved option 7: to 
increase all the cost of parking permits by ten per cent.  This could be done by displaying a 
variation notice.  The other options were rejected as they would either require a lengthy 
consultation or would inflict more financial pressure of local residents and small traders in 
town centres during the current cost-of-living crisis.  However, members welcomed further 
investigations into the possibility of introducing premium rates in future, by increasing fees 
in the car parks nearest to town centre facilities.   
 
RESOLVED: to  
 
(a) agree the car parking fees for the financial year 2023-24, including increasing the 

cost of permits by 10 per cent;   
 
(b) authorise the head of legal and democratic to prepare a Notice of Variation under the 

Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 for publishing in the local newspaper and all 
affected car parks; and  

 
(c) authorise the head of development and corporate landlord to oversee necessary 

communications.   
 

61. Budget Monitoring April to August 2022  
 
Cabinet considered the head of finance’s report, being the budget monitoring report for 
April to August 2022.   
 
The Cabinet member for finance highlighted a projected revenue overspend at the year-
end.  Rising inflation had resulted in costs being higher than budgeted for but these 
increases were partially offset by investment income being higher than expected due to 
interest rate rises.  The capital programme would be kept under review and re-profiled.   
 
RESOLVED: to note the budget monitoring report for April to August 2022.   
 

62. Budget setting 2023/24 update report  
 
Cabinet considered the head of finance’s report, being an update on the budget position 
for 2023/24.  This showed the work that was being undertaken to build the base budget.  
The 2023/24 budget was proving challenging as high inflation had resulted in rising costs.  
This would be offset by high investment income due to rising interest rates, but this was 
unlikely to continue over the Medium Term Financial Plan period.   
 
The head of finance updated Cabinet with news of the government settlement, which had 
been sent to the council the previous day.  This showed that for 2023/24 the council would 
receive a government funding increase, resulting in an increase in core revenue spending 
power of approximately 4.85 per cent.  New Homes Bonus would continue for a further 
year but would then be subject to review.  Cabinet noted that no firm detail had been 
provided on government funding for 2024/25 onwards.   
 
Cabinet thanked officers for the update report and noted that the next steps were for 
Cabinet members to consider a draft budget in February 2023 and recommend it to 
Council for adoption.   
 
RESOLVED: to note the latest position for the 2023/24 budget.   

Page 6



 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Cabinet minutes - Tuesday, 20 December 2022  

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.55 am 
 
 
 
Chair:        Date:  

Page 7



 

 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Policy and Programmes 

Author: Jayne Bolton 

Telephone: 07717 271911 

Textphone: 18001 07717 271911 

E-mail: Jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Bethia Thomas 

Tel: 07906 821680 

E-mail: Bethia.Thomas@whitehorsedc.gov.uk   

To: CABINET  

Date: 3 February 2023 

 

 

 

 

Distributing the White Horse Community 

Lottery - Community Fund 

Recommendations 

That Cabinet agrees to: 

a. Distribute the income the Vale of White Horse District Council receives in its central 
fund from the White Horse Community Lottery to the Voluntary and Community Sector 
(VCS) organisations registered as good causes in the Lottery. 
 

b. To do this through random selection of nine winners, with a minimum award of £1,000 
in 2022/23, and from 2023/24 proportionate to the number of tickets sold by each 
organisation, subject to organisations selling 20 tickets a week (as a minimum 
threshold). 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To agree the approach for distributing the income to the central fund from ticket sales, 
in line with the commitment the council has made for it ‘To be spent on supporting 
local organisations and community initiatives across the district.’ 
 

Corporate Objectives  

2. The council’s White Horse Community Lottery supports the Corporate Plan objective of 
building healthy communities and working together with organisations to help 

Page 8

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Bethia.Thomas@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 

community groups make changes in their local community, by raising unrestricted 
income for VCS organisations that provide valuable services to those in need.   

 

Background 

3. Cabinet approved the business case for the lottery on the 18 December 2020 and 
appointed an external lottery manager (Gatherwell Ltd) with experience of running local 
authority schemes.  

4. White Horse Community Lottery was launched to the public on 28 July 2021. At the 
time no decisions were taken on how the income to the White Horse Community Fund 
would be allocated. This reflected the need to establish how much income the scheme 
would be likely to generate, before considering the options for distribution.  

How the lottery works 
 
5. In summary, the White Horse Community Lottery: 

 Is a non-commercial society lottery, benefiting the local voluntary and 
community sector, and registered with the Gambling Commission. 

 Is an online lottery https://www.whitehorselottery.co.uk/ where players can take 
part by purchasing £1 tickets in a weekly draw. 

 Takes payments via Direct Debit, rolling monthly card payment, or block ticket 
purchase with a single payment for three, six or twelve months.  

 Invites local good causes to register online, and once passed the eligibility 
checks, groups are encouraged to promote the scheme to their members.  

 Players can win three free tickets or cash prizes of £25, £250, £1,000, and a 
top prize of £25,000 and additional bolt on prizes, a recent example is a £1,000 
bike voucher. 

6. White Horse Community Lottery gives 60 per cent of the revenue generated to support 
the community and voluntary sector in the Vale (in comparison, 28 per cent of National 
Lottery funds are given to good causes). 20 per cent is allocated to the prize fund, 17 
per cent to Gatherwell Ltd, and 3 per cent VAT. 

7. From each £1 entry, the 60 per cent good cause contribution comprises of 50p, which 
is distributed directly to the player’s nominated organisation and 10p which is put into 
the White Horse Community fund. 

8. Each lottery player identifies a specific charity to support from the list of registered 
organisations. Alternatively, they can choose to support the White Horse Community 
Fund, which is a central pot where proceeds will go towards supporting local 
organisation and community initiatives across the district. Ongoing costs to run the 
lottery are also met from this fund, covering the gambling licence, membership of the 
Lotteries Council and marketing activities. 

9. Good causes are responsible for promoting the lottery to their own supporters using a 
range of marketing materials, available to download from the White Horse Community 
Lottery website. Gatherwell also publicise the scheme, alongside the council. 

Page 9

https://www.whitehorselottery.co.uk/


 

 

 

Performance to date 

10. The total number of causes signed up to the lottery as of 19 October 2022 is 56, from a 
wide range of organisations including animal charities, PTAs, sports clubs, village halls, 
pre-schools, community action groups and more. There are currently 48 registered 
causes, the remaining eight are in the process of providing the relevant information to 
become a registered good cause. The number of players in a recent weekly draw1 was 
486, purchasing an average of 927 tickets per week, or nearly two tickets each. 

11. Statistics from 28 July 2021 to 19 October 2022 
 
 White Horse 

Community Fund 
Good 

Causes 
Total 

Number of tickets bought 9,924 42,522 52,446 

Number of players purchasing 
tickets for the White Horse 
Community Fund or their 
chosen Good Cause 

145 583 717* 

some purchase 
tickets for both 

Number of winners   1,172 

Total cause revenue £9,899.90 (inc. 
10p from each 

ticket sale) 

£21,261.00 £31,160.90 

 
12. As of 19 October 2022, the total number of winners includes 108 who have won a cash 

prize, the remainder receiving three free tickets. Total value of cash prizes to date is 
£4,500. The remainder of the prize fund £5,989 is held by Gatherwell, which enables 
them to pay the weekly Jackpot prize of £25,000 should it be won. The odds for this are 
(1:1,000,000). The size of the lotteries under Gatherwell management makes it 
extremely unlikely that the cost of jackpot prize pay-outs could exceed the funds 
allocated to prizes and Gatherwell is in a financial position to be able to cover any 
shortfall were that unlikely scenario to arise. 

White Horse Community Fund 
 
13. The White Horse Community Fund value has been growing steadily, receiving regular 

contributions from the 92 weekly players paying directly to the fund, as well as the 
additional 10p received from each £1 ticket purchased.  

14. A review of other local authority lotteries found that the majority of central funds are 
allocated using an application-based grant scheme which is open to all VCS 
organisations in the community. A small minority are only open to good causes already 
registered with the scheme. Another example shares the community fund pot amongst 
their existing lottery good causes as an annual payment. 

                                            
1 Figures taken from the draw held 15 October 2022 

Page 10



 

 

15. We are seeking a decision on how the council should allocate the White Horse 
Community Fund in future to help generate more interest in the lottery to sell more 
tickets, increase interest within the voluntary sector and the overall impact for 
communities. There are a number of different options available to us to spend the 
community fund, considerations are set out below: 

a. Giving all of the registered good causes a share of the central fund based on 
the number of tickets they have sold.  

b. Giving good causes who have sold 20 or more tickets per week a share of 
the central fund. 

c. Randomly select winners of the fund from registered good causes, with a 
minimum award of £1,000.   

d. Split the income amongst the district’s key VCS infrastructure providers. 
 

A. DISTRIBUTING TO ALL GOOD CAUSES 

16. This option would ensure every good cause that is registered with the scheme receives 
some funding, but it wouldn’t encourage the continued success of the scheme and will 
also mean the funds are spread very thinly.  For example, we have currently generated 
approximately £9,466 (excluding our overheads2 £2,121 and including VAT reclaim of 
£1,687), this will result in 71 per cent of organisations3 receiving less than £200 as of 
19 October 2022.  

17. Spreading the funds too thinly will have little to no impact on the good causes’ finances 
and processing lots of small payments will require more resources, as the council, 
rather than our lottery provider Gatherwell, would be responsible for distributing the 
funding as the money is paid to us monthly. 

B. GOOD CAUSES WHO SELL 20 TICKETS OR MORE 

18. Twenty tickets a week is the amount Gatherwell encourage good causes to sell in the 
first four weeks of joining the scheme, when they are signing up to join. This approach 
has the clear benefit of encouraging the continued success of the scheme, which will 
subsequently generate more income for themselves and the central fund. 
 

19. It will also mitigate against the risk of the funds being spread too thinly for organisations 
and residents they are supporting to really benefit from the additional income they 
could receive.  

 
20. Based on current good causes 114 out of the 48 organisations would receive a share of 

between £413 - £3,662, from a £9,466 pot (after expenses), but this should be 
achievable for a further four, which are currently selling between 16-19 a week. 
 

21. We would distribute the accumulated central funds, after the agreed deductions, as 
soon as possible. Funds collected between now and the 31 March 2023, will be 
retained, added to those collected during 2023/24 based on ticket sales on 31 March 
2024. Annual distribution will then continue based on ticket sales on 31 March. This is 
purely an operational decision as it is important to market and manage the lottery 

                                            
2 21/22 - Lotteries council was more in 21-22 £385, £186, £224 + £261 for Gambling Commission. 22/23 
£400 for Gambling Commission, £385 Lotteries Council + £280 for Annex A part 1 & 2 – changes to licence 
holders = £2,121 
3 48 organisations registered 
4 based on a report run on 24 Oct 2022  

Page 11



 

 

operation sustainably.  The amount will be kept under review to account for income 
generated between now and distribution.   

 
22. This approach has the added benefit, of requiring less officer resource, which could be 

redirected to increasing the number of causes and players supporting the lottery and 
developing other initiatives to support community organisations in the district.  
 
C. RANDOMLY SELECT WINNERS OF THE FUND FROM REGISTERED GOOD 

CAUSES 

23. Like option B, this approach has the benefit of encouraging the continued success of 
the scheme, mitigates the risk of funds being spread too thinly and requires the same 
officer resource. Random selection also means that organisations who are not currently 
achieving high tickets sales have an equal chance of receiving some of the funds. 
Resulting in much needed unrestricted income for these organisations, who may be 
struggling to generate income from the scheme.  
 

24. Currently there are four organisations who have registered but have not sold any 
tickets. These organisations would not be included in the draw as this would be unfair 
to organisations that have. The minimum any organisation would receive is £1,000. 
From the fund, £9,000 would be distributed amongst nine organisations and the 
remaining £466 retained and added to the funds collected in 2023/24, to be distributed 
after the 31 March 2024. 
 

25. There is a risk that organisations who are performing well, may feel it unfair if they are 
not drawn for the fund. However, they have the same random chance of selection. 

 
D. SPLIT THE INCOME AMONGST THE DISTRICT’S KEY VCS         
INFRASTRUCTURE PROVIDERS 

 
26. This option would allow us to agree a list of voluntary and community sector providers 

and the split of the fund, which may or may not be even. Providing much needed 
unrestricted income.  
  

27. The impact of the fund may however be smaller to these larger organisations, than the 
smaller good causes signed up to the scheme. Though it is important to note that some 
of the larger organisations, such as Citizens Advice and Vale Community Impact are 
also members of the lottery and could potentially benefit from option b. Equally, we 
would need a fair and transparent process to agree which key VCS organisations 
would benefit from the funds distributed. 
 

28. The ongoing officer resource for this approach would be similar to option b. 
 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

29. The White Horse Community Lottery is open to all not-for-profit community action 
groups and organisations, providing them with an opportunity to raise unrestricted 
income that they could use to fund climate initiatives/measures.  

 

 

Page 12



 

 

Financial implications 

30. The White Horse Community Fund up to 19 October 2022 has £9,899.90 and 
£1,687.80 from reclaimed VAT. The reclaimed VAT can be used on recruitment 
initiatives and marketing, which is what Gatherwell recommend but can also be 
distributed to good causes.  The £11,587.70 is currently held by the council and 
ringfenced for the lottery scheme in line with the councils’ commitment to residents 
purchasing a ticket. ‘To be spent on supporting local organisation and community initiatives 

across the district.’ 
 

31. Approximately £2,121 of this income needs deducting to cover the annual licences5 
spent to date, no money has been spent on marketing. This leaves £9,466.70 available 
to distribute to good causes as of the 19 October 2022. 
 

32. There are no additional financial implications from any of the options. The costs 
associated with making the payments can be met from within existing staff resources, 
which will vary depending on the level of distribution. The lottery pays for itself, with 
income from ticket sales paying for the gambling licences, related fees and marketing.  
 

33. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For Vale, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that the council was able to set a balanced budget for 2022/23, but that 
there is expected to be a budget gap in future years.  

34. This future funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3.7 million by 2026/27. As 
there remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the 
announcement of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term 
financial consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could 
increase further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to 
address this funding gap in future years. 
 

Legal Implications 

35. Distribution of the central fund to existing beneficiary organisations or the voluntary and 
community sector partners do not carry any significant legal implications. Good causes 
and key VCS partners have already gone through an eligibility process to confirm their 
not-for-profit status and have agreed to the terms and conditions of joining the lottery or 
receiving grant funding.  

36. The distribution of additional funds from the central fund will be unconditional - 
beneficiary organisations would be able to use the funding however they choose, 
providing it is in line with the aims and objectives set out in their constitution.  

37. As a society lottery licensee, the council is obliged to follow the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice.  Under the social 
responsibility Code Provision 4.3.3, further clarified in their guidance on the information 
that we are required to give to lottery players regarding proceeds and prizes, it states: 

                                            
5 21/22 - Lotteries council was more in 21-22 £385, £186, £224 + £261 for Gambling Commission. 22/23 
£400 for Gambling Commission, £385 Lotteries Council + £280 for Annex A part 1 & 2 – changes to licence 
holders = £2,121 
 

Page 13

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/guide/information-to-lottery-players-proceeds-and-prizes
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/guide/information-to-lottery-players-proceeds-and-prizes


 

 

Lottery licensees may use proceeds to fund grants to beneficiaries who meet the aims 
and objectives of their societies. Where this is the case, information should be available 
to consumers about how the allocation of grants is determined, including examples of 
those receiving them. 
 

38. The council must therefore ensure it offers a clear description of how the central fund is 
to be distributed and publicise this on the main webpage 
https://whitehorsedc.gov.uk/communitylottery and via 
https://www.whitehorselottery.co.uk/ 

Risks 

39. There is a limited risk the proposed approach doesn’t encourage the continued 
success of the scheme if the minimum requirement to sell 20 tickets proves to 
challenging, particularly for smaller causes with more limited resources and fewer 
supporters. If so, we could review the minimum threshold in the future. 

40. We have not consulted the good causes or the VCS on their preferred approach. 
However, we have considered the options carefully to achieve the greatest impact on 
our communities. There is a limited risk that good causes would prefer the option of 
proportionately distributing the central fund amongst all of them, however they currently 
don’t receive any of the central fund. 

Other implications 

41. In line with the public sector equality duties, we have considered the implications of 
random selection and proportionately distributing the funds on those protected by the 
Equality Act 2010. Officers are of the view that no groups will be disadvantaged by this 
decision. All good causes who sign up to the scheme, must demonstrate that there are 
no undue restrictions on their membership.  It’s also worth noting that most 
organisations that are currently registered are providing services to help to advance 
equality of opportunity and/or meet the needs of their communities. Additional funding 
will enhance the support the good causes can provide. 

Conclusion  

42. Recovery from the pandemic and cost of living crisis has highlighted the ongoing need 
within the Voluntary and Community Sector for unrestricted income. We can help meet 
this need through a blend of option B and C. Random selection of nine organisations is 
used to distribute the £9,000 income the council has received in its central fund from 
the White Horse Community Lottery to the VCS organisations registered as good 
causes, for year one. For subsequent years (2023/24 onwards) to proportionately 
distribute the income to the VCS organisations who are selling 20 tickets or more a 
week (as a minimum threshold).  

43. Random selection means that organisations who may be struggling to generate income 
from the scheme have an equal chance of receiving some of the funds. Subsequently, 
setting a minimum requirement of 20 ticket sales a week to receive a proportion of the 
central fund each year will encourage the continued success of the scheme, which will 
ultimately raise more unrestricted income for themselves and the other causes. Both 
approaches will ensure the funding is directed quickly to benefit the communities it is 
intended to support.  

Page 14

https://whitehorsedc.gov.uk/communitylottery
https://www.whitehorselottery.co.uk/


 

 

44. If this approach is supported, we will distribute the accumulated funds as soon as 
possible. Funds collected between now and the 31 March 2023, will be retained, added 
to those collected during 2023/24 based on ticket sales on 31 March 2024. Annual 
distribution will then continue based on ticket sales on 31 March. 

Page 15



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Adrian Butler 

Telephone: 07801 203 599 

E-mail: adrian.butler@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: Drayton and Sutton Courtenay 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Debby Hallett 

Tel: 07545 241013 

E-mail: debby.hallett@whitehorse.gov.uk   

To: CABINET 

Date: 3 February 2023 

 

 
 

Milton Park – Proposed Revised Local 

Development Order 

Recommendation 

Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council that: 

The Milton Park Local Development Order (attached at Appendix 1 to this report), is 
adopted subject to completion of a legal agreement securing the elements referred to in 
paragraph 24.   

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To seek agreement from Cabinet to progress a Local Development Order (LDO) 
attached as Appendix 1, for Milton Park, Milton to Council seeking agreement to adopt 
the LDO subject to completion of a legal agreement. 

Corporate Objectives  

2. The LDO seeks to support the local economy whilst including measures to reduce the 
carbon footprint of new buildings and seeking to reduce the effects for climate change 
whilst contributing towards a healthy community.   

Background 

3. Section 61A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local planning 
authority to make a LDO with the procedure for production and adoption of a LDO 
governed by Schedule 4A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 38 of 

Page 16

Agenda Item 8

mailto:adrian.butler@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:debby.hallett@whitehorse.gov.uk


Part 8 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015.  

4. The site subject to this proposed LDO is shown at Appendix 2, is wholly within the Vale 
of White Horse District and it is allocated by core policy 6 of the Local Plan for 
employment generating uses. The site also includes parcels of land forming part of the 
Science Vale UK Enterprise Zones. The LDO also falls within Didcot Garden Town. 
The site is already subject to a LDO which was adopted by the council in 2012 and 
remains effective for a period of 15 years although the revised LDO will supersede it 
should it be adopted. 

5. A LDO is intended as an Order that will grant planning permission for specific types of 
development (in this case employment generating uses), and within a defined area (the 
defined area is shown at Appendix 2). It also sets parameters for development, 
including use, size of buildings and design, and associated infrastructure, including 
roads and landscaping. A LDO streamlines the planning process by removing the need 
for developers to make a planning application provided the development is within the 
parameters set by the LDO, and therefore, it can bring forward development more 
quickly. By way of example the existing LDO for Milton Park has been recognised as 
being extremely successful in bringing forward developments in an attractive 
environment.  

6. MEPC which owns Milton Park produced a 2040 vision for Milton Park setting out 
commitments to long term investment seeking to grow Milton Park for commercial 
purposes and it has approached the council seeking a review of the current LDO. A 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was agreed by an individual cabinet member 
decision (ICMD) (Councillor Hallett) and completed between the council and MEPC 
committing to a review of the LDO and rolled forward as a key planning tool in 
delivering the 2040 vision; thereby helping to maintain Milton Park as a premier 
location for business in the UK and helping to realise the full potential of the Science 
Vale UK Enterprise Zones.  

7. During August 2022 Councillor Hallett agreed that a draft of the revised LDO could 
proceed to statutory public consultation and this decision was recorded in an ICMD.  

8. Formal consultation in accordance with Section 38 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, took place from 24 
August 2022 until 10 October 2022. In addition, to formal letters of notification being 
sent to local residents and businesses, leaflets notifying local residents of the LDO and 
three public consultation events (two in person and one on-line (these events were held 
outside the national period of mourning)), were distributed including in Milton and 
Sutton Courtenay villages, and social media messages released. Further consultation 
was undertaken with Oxfordshire County Council, National Highways and local 
business following production of a revised transport assessment. 

9. Twenty responses have been received from residents and businesses all of which raise 
concerns or objections. Of the Parish and Town Councils consulted, Milton Parish 
Council has concerns whilst Sutton Courteney and Drayton Parish Councils, and 
Didcot Town Council either do not object or support the LDO. A summary of consultee 
responses received and planning officer responses to them is included at Appendix 3. 

 

Page 17



The Proposed Milton Park Local Development Order 

10. A copy of the LDO which includes six appendices, is at Appendix 1. The six 
appendices are: 

i. The LDO plans (LDO area plan, land use plan and building height plan); 

ii. Design guidance; 

iii. Planning conditions and informatives; 

iv. A tree management framework; 

v. A pre-development notification form; and, 

vi. A statement of reasons for making the LDO which includes an assessment 
against Development Plan policies and other material planning considerations. 

11. The site area for the LDO remains the same as that already covered by the 2012 LDO. 
If adopted the LDO will permit the following: 

 Increase the floor space that can be permitted from the current maximum of 
370,000 sq m to 390,000 sq m.  

 Increase building heights from a current maximum of 16m to a maximum of 
22.5m with the 22.5m tall elements being in two parts of the southern area of 
Milton Park, with more widespread heights increasing to 18.5m although at 
sensitive edges in the north of Milton Park, heights are proposed to be 9m. 

 75 units of serviced accommodation to be used on a temporary basis by 
persons employed at Milton Park. 

 Ancillary uses including small scale retail (maximum of 500 sq m per individual 
unit), healthcare and crèche facilities, recreational and fitness facilities, and road 
side uses. All these uses are permitted in the existing LDO but the amount of 
floorspace is proposed to increase from five percent to ten percent of the total 
floorspace (39,000 sq m).  

 A hotel limited to a maximum of 8,000 sq m including conference facilities. 

 Car sales limited to a maximum of 10,000 sq m and limited to area MP8 which 
already contains car sales premises. 

12. The LDO will expire in 2041 which aligns with the period envisaged for the proposed 
Joint Local Plan. The LDO is to be reviewed every five years and in accordance with 
section 61A of the Town and Country Planning Act, the council could seek to revoke 
the LDO at any time. 

13. Following consideration of consultation responses the LDO has been revised with key 
changes being: 

 Clarity on the number of levels for decked parking (maximum of three levels 
including the ground level); 

Page 18



 Clarifying that the existing Class B2 and B8 uses already in Zones B and C are 
allowed to extend their businesses; 

 Zone A revised for continuity with the existing adopted LDO Zone A in so far as 
existing units 35 and 35a are concerned; 

 Limiting indoor leisure to one facility only; 

 Adding two conditions requiring flood modelling for development within 50m of 
Moor Ditch, and remediation of any unsuspected contamination encountered 
during development; 

 Addressing policy W11 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Part 1 Core 
Strategy – the proposal is compliant (see paragraph 2.8 of the Statement of 
Reasons in Appendix 1 and also the response to Oxfordshire County Council 
comments in Appendix 3). 

14. A screening opinion has been undertaken by the council to determine if the LDO 
requires an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). This opined that the proposal is 
not EIA development and a planning barrister agrees with this opinion. Nevertheless, 
the LDO is supported by technical reports which assess matters relating to traffic 
generation, biodiversity and ecology, impacts on heritage assets, landscape and visual 
impacts, air quality, flood risk, noise, land contamination, lighting and utilities. The LDO 
is also supported by a statement of reasons (in Appendix 1), which assesses the LDO 
proposals against Development Plan policies and other material planning 
considerations. It is considered that subject to securing a legal agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the imposition of planning 
conditions (the conditions are also in Appendix 1), the LDO can be made Development 
Plan compliant. 

15. The section 106 agreement will secure mitigation seeking to reduce traffic queues in to 
and out of Milton Park, encourage sustainable travel by public transport, walking and 
cycling and mitigate impacts on health care services, control changes of use and 
restrict the use of serviced accommodation as follows: 

 Highway mitigation works including safeguarding land for a two-way link road 
between High Street, Milton and Western Avenue, Milton Park; 

 Prevent vehicular movements from High Street, Milton on to Park Drive other 
than vehicles turning left; 

 Widening the Park Drive / Western Avenue roundabout to incorporate two lanes 
for west bound traffic; 

 Formalisation of the Park Drive / Western Avenue roundabout to a 4-arm 
signalised junction; 

 Widening of the effective flare length on the southern arm of the Sutton 
Courtenay Road / Park Drive / Milton Road roundabout; 

 Financial contributions towards improved cycling infrastructure including the 
delivery of the ‘Cinder Path’ cycle/footway parallel to the railway line from Milton 

Page 19



High Street to Steventon and an extension to the existing Kelaart’s Field 
cycleway north to Drayton Road, Drayton; 

 Financial contribution towards off-site highway improvements; 

 Financial contribution towards improved bus services serving Milton Park; 

 Five year review of the transport assessment and on-going monitoring of traffic 
flows through Milton Park; 

 Prevent changes of use of buildings on site that would otherwise not need 
planning permission; 

 Restrict the use of serviced accommodation to temporary accommodation; 

 Secure a financial contribution (£64,800 (index linked)) towards local health care 
services in the event of serviced accommodation being first occupied; 

 Compensation is not paid by this authority should the LDO be revoked; 
 

 The legal undertaking obligations will be transferred to any other land owner 
should land in the LDO area be sold. 

Options 

16. Options available to Cabinet are: 

a) To recommend to Council that the LDO is adopted; 

b) To recommend to Council that the LDO is not adopted for reasons to be specified 
by Cabinet; 

c) That a decision on adopting the LDO is deferred whilst officers seek specific 
amendments to the LDO which Cabinet considers necessary to make it acceptable. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

17. Milton Park is an accessible site located close to existing housing, permitted and 
planned housing including Great Western Park and Valley Park. A requirement for all 
new buildings is the inclusion of electric vehicle charging points, secure and sheltered 
cycle parking including provision for Ebikes. A travel plan will seek to encourage 
journeys by sustainable means of transport and this will be supplemented by financial 
contributions towards continuing public transport services to Milton Park and improved 
cycling and pedestrian connections both within and outside the Park. 

18. To encourage and incorporate measures seeking to reduce the carbon footprint of new 
buildings and mitigate the effects of climate change, the LDO includes planning 
conditions and design guidance seeking: 

 Sustainable surface water drainage and development proposed in flood risk 
improvement areas identified in the LDO including land adjacent to Pembroke Lane, 
Milton, measures to reduce flood risks are required. 

 Buildings are to achieve BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standards; and,  

Page 20



 An energy strategy and sustainability statement is required setting out full details of 
the approach to energy efficiency and renewable energy strategies to deliver 
savings on regulated energy use to achieve a 25% improvement over the Building 
Regulations Part L 2013 Targets. The Energy Strategy shall include a feasibility 
study into Low or Zero Carbon Technologies to assess the  most appropriate 
technology for the development with measures to be considered including but not 
limited to: 

o Air Source heat pumps 

o Ground Source heat pumps 

o Photovoltaics (PV) Panels 

o Wind Turbines 

o Solar Thermal 

o Biomass Heating 

o Excess heat supply for reuse on or off-site district heating 

o Green and blue roof systems. 

19. Further green spaces are to be provided on site and the planning conditions require a 
minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity or other percentage figure that may in future be 
adopted through national or local planning policies. Like the requirements of the 
existing LDO, a regular review (not less than every two calendar years), of baseline 
ecology surveys is required  and any relevant mitigation for protected species secured. 
Where culverted watercourses pass through development plots, de-culverting is 
required. 

Financial Implications 

20. The review of the LDO and associated evidence studies, planning barrister  and the 
council’s legal advice is funded by MEPC. However planning officer time is being spent 
on the project. 

21. The LDO will require pre-notification of developments proposed under the LDO to be 
submitted to, considered and determined by the council as local planning authority. 
Such submissions will need to be accompanied by a fee which will cover officer time in 
considering and determining a submission. Fees for applications to discharge planning 
conditions will still apply. 

22. Development in the Enterprise Zone will generate business rates growth income that 
will be retained by this council on behalf of LEP, and can be reinvested in the local 
area. 

Legal Implications 

23. Any planning law considerations are set out in the body of the report and a planning 
barrister has assisted officers with the preparation of the LDO. 

Page 21



24. A legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will 
need to be secured prior to any adoption of the LDO. This council’s and Oxfordshire 
County Council legal teams are instructed to draft the agreement which will include the 
following matters: 

 Highway mitigation works including safeguarding land for a two-way link road 
between High Street, Milton and Western Avenue, Milton Park; 

 Prevent vehicular movements from High Street, Milton on to Park Drive other 
than vehicles turning left; 

 Widening the Park Drive / Western Avenue roundabout to incorporate two lanes 
for west bound traffic; 

 Formalisation of the Park Drive / Western Avenue roundabout to a 4-arm 
signalised junction; 

 Widening of the effective flare length on the southern arm of the Sutton 
Courtenay Road / Park Drive / Milton Road roundabout; 

 Financial contributions towards improved cycling infrastructure including the 
delivery of the ‘Cinder Path’ cycle/footway parallel to the railway line from Milton 
High Street to Steventon and an extension to the existing Kelaart’s Field 
cycleway north to Drayton Road, Drayton; 

 Financial contribution towards off-site highway improvements; 

 Financial contribution towards improved bus services serving Milton Park; 

 Five year review of the transport assessment and on-going monitoring of traffic 
flows through Milton Park; 

 Prevent changes of use of buildings on site that would otherwise not need 
planning permission; 

 Restrict the use of serviced accommodation to temporary accommodation; 

 Secure a financial contribution (£64,800) towards local health care services in 
the event of serviced accommodation being first occupied; 

 Compensation is not paid by this authority should the LDO be revoked; 

 The legal undertaking obligations will be transferred to any other land owner 
should land in the LDO area be sold. 

25. This council’s legal costs are to be paid by MEPC. 

Risks 

26. The following will be used to minimise the risk of inappropriate development or 
development that is not permitted taking place: 

 The use of conditions and restrictions to ensure development is appropriate 

Page 22



 A requirement that the council is pre-notified of any development permitted by the 
LDO 

 Ongoing monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the LDO 

27. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 contains provisions for compensation to be 
paid by a local authority if permitted development rights in a local development order 
are withdrawn or amended.  However, the scheme of the legislation and of the 
proposed LDO mean that any risk of such liability on the part of the council is very low, 
and will be limited further by the terms of a legal undertaking being given to the council 
by MEPC. 

28. The formal consultation process has resulted in a number of responses, some 
expressing concerns about the proposed LDO. Officers are confident that these 
concerns have been addressed without the need for significant amendments to the 
LDO. 

Other implications 

29. It is not considered that the proposed LDO will have any negative impact on equality. 
An LDO for Milton Park will help to create a wide range of new jobs and will therefore 
provide opportunities for everyone in our community. New buildings will still need to 
meet the requirements of the Building Regulations and other legislation outside the 
planning remit. 

Conclusion 

30. The LDO is considered Development Plan compliant and it is requested that Cabinet 
supports the revised LDO proceeding to Council recommending that Council resolves 
to adopt the LDO attached at Appendix 1 subject to completion of a legal agreement 
securing the elements referred to in paragraph 24. 

 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – The Local Development Oder and its Six Appendices 
 
Appendix 2 – Summary of Consultee Responses   

 

Page 23



P
age 24



Application Reference: P22/V1917/LDO 
Location: Milton Park  Milton Abingdon 

 
13 January 2023 
 
 
Summary of the latest comments received following statutory consultation 24 August to 10 October 2022. A full copy of all the 
comments made can be seen online at: 
https://data.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P22/V1917/LDO 
 

Consultee Response Summary Proposed Actions/Response 

Milton Parish 
Council 
 

Concerns: 

• Echo the Police concerns regarding crime and anti-
social behaviour and the need to do everything 
possible to alleviate it.  

• Thames Water say the present water network 
infrastructure will not accommodate the needs of the 
development.  

• The Environment Protection Team highlight the impact 
of artificial light. There is already light pollution from 
the park with many lights being left on in buildings 
overnight.  

• There is some noise impact at times and air pollution, 
which can only increase with expansion. 

• Concerns regarding nature and road infrastructure 
around the park.  

• Kelaart’s Field is of archaeological importance and 
must be left to nature and never built on.  

• The park has become a place for technology and small 
trades do not appear to be catered for. We are losing 

 

• LDO amended in response to police 
comments (please see the response 
to Thames Valley Police Crime 
Prevention Officer comments below). 

• Thames Water comments addressed 
by condition as requested by Thames 
Water (please see their comments 
below). 

• Lighting -  the council cannot control 
lighting within buildings as it does not 
constitute development. External 
lighting is to be controlled by condition 
where there is potential for biodiversity 
impacts e.g. beside Moor Ditch. 

• Noise and pollution - the uses 
proposed are largely uses that can 
take place in residential areas without 
unreasonable disturbance. General 

P
age 25

https://data.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P22/V1917/LDO


 
our trades some of which, when lost, will never be 
revived. There are some empty buildings which could 
accommodate small trades.  

• Believe a hotel is not required as there is a large one 
already which was built under the present LDO.  

• The car showroom was built without planning 
permission, although permission was required for the 
signage. This shows granting this application gives 
carte blanche to build almost anything.  

• 75 residential units again sets a precedent for further 
development.  

• Please do not grant this application. 
 

industrial uses can cause noise and 
pollution and their activities are to be 
controlled by condition.  

• Direct road improvements and 
financial contributions are secured to 
improve highway infrastructure and to 
improve sustainable travel options 
including bus service enhancements, 
and new cycle/footways to Steventon 
and Drayton. 

• The LDO does not propose 
development on Kelhaart’s Field most 
of which is outside the LDO site. 

• The LDO can allow trade uses. All 
uses are likely to procced based on 
demand for that use. 

• Residential development other than 
serviced accommodation is not 
permitted by the LDO. 
 

Sutton Courtenay 
Parish Council 
 

No objection. 

• Request no five storeys buildings on the Sutton 
Courtenay side of the development. 

 

Locations for the tallest buildings are in the 
southern part of the LDO site away from the 
Sutton Courtenay side of the site. 

Drayton Parish 
Council 

Support: 

• Would like to see the permissive footpath linking 
Drayton footpath 192/12/20 to Steventon bridleway 
299/5/60 re-established and if possible turn into an 
adopted public right of way. This will allow people to 
walk between Drayton and Milton Park avoiding B 

This land is outside MEPC and this council’s 
control and therefore, it is not possible to 
insist on the permissive path being re-
established. However, the LDO does make 
provision for a new cycle/footway between 
Drayton and Milton Park and closely linking 
to the off road route on to Abingdon. 

P
age 26



 
roads and in accordance with the Drayton 
neighbourhood Plan. 

 
 

Didcot Town 
Council 
 

No concerns about the proposal.  

Residents 
 

19 letters of objection have been received as follows: 
Need for the Development: 

• Is the additional space needed? Milton Park appears 
to be operating under capacity with a number of under- 
utilised and empty buildings and working from home 
pattern do not appear to have been considered. 

 
 

• The LDO site is allocated for 
employment uses in the Local Plan 
(policy CP6). There is no requirement 
under this policy to restrict the 
employment uses. Uses are likely to 

P
age 27



 
• Any agreement to extend the LDO should be based on 

increasing the success of Science Vale and the 
establishment of Milton Park as a national Life Science 
Centre and no use should be permitted unless it 
contributes to this. 

• The permitted uses are too wide. Hotels, private health 
facilities, car sales, B2 general industrial, B8 storage 
and distribution, Sui Generis uses and serviced 
accommodation are likely to detract from its focus on 
maximizing 'the success of Science Vale' and should 
not be included in the LDO but be subject to planning 
applications. 

• Another hotel does not appear to be needed as the 
existing hotel has sufficient rooms. 

• More restaurants do not appear to be needed with 
current restaurants having closed. 

• Provision for small businesses and trade business 
should be made including smaller buildings for their 
use. 

Residential Amenity 

• Increased noise, pollution and disruption for local 
residents. 

• 24 hour innovation hub should not be permitted as it 
could encourage visits by people outside the Milton 
Park community, detract from village communities, 
retail provision elsewhere and add to traffic 
congestion, noise and light pollution. 

• Working hour restrictions should be applied. 

• Too much development in the area in recent years with 
construction work congesting roads and resulting in 
disturbance to residents. 

come forward on demand and to meet 
need. 
 
 
 

• Other uses proposed are ancillary to 
the main employment uses and aimed 
at supporting those uses and their 
employees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• The LDO does not prevent small 
businesses or trade business from 
using Milton Park. 

 
 
 

• Hours of use at Milton Park are not 
currently restricted and it would be 
unreasonable to restrict hours of use 
as this would impact on current 
businesses located at Milton Park. 
The LDO directs new General 
Industrial uses to areas away from 
existing residential uses to minimise 
disturbance. 

P
age 28



 
Taller Buildings 

• Taller and larger buildings would detract from the 
character of Milton, Sutton Courtenay and Didcot and 
be harmful in views from the AONB and the setting of 
Milton conservation areas village. 

• The heights in MP5 should be closer to 10m. 

• Set a precedent for more tall buildings. 
 

Kelhaart’s Field 

• The development would encroach onto Kelaart’s Field 
which is a scheduled monument and source of local 
pride. 

• Lose the buffer zone between Milton and Sutton 
Courtenay. This space needs to be preserved and 
include more planting. And also encroach on Sutton 
Courtenay. 

• No building north of Milton Park’s current curtilage 
should be permitted 

• Impact on a wildlife corridor with a reduction in 
biodiversity. 

Traffic, Travel and Parking 

• Exacerbate traffic movements including HGV 
movements through Milton village.  

• The local road infrastructure is insufficient to 
accommodate additional traffic movements and will 
result in increased congestion including from the A34 
to the Milton interchange and into Milton Park and at 
the Milton village access with Milton Park. 

• The speed limit from Milton Interchange to Milton Park 
should be reduced to 20mph. 

 

• The heights of buildings adjacent to 
the conservation area and closest to 
existing houses are to remain as 
already permitted but with new 10 or 
15m landscaping buffers to the 
northern edges of the site. 

• A Landscape and visual impact 
assessment does not identify any 
unacceptable landscape or visual 
impacts. The council’s landscape 
officer has no objections. 

• The LDO does not propose 
development on Kelhaart’s field or the 
fields between Milton and Sutton 
Courtenay. 

• The boundaries of the current LDO 
are not expanded by this new LDO but 
remain the same. 

• Biodiversity net gains are proposed 
and secured by conditions. 

• Milton village is subject to a 7.5T 
weight restriction and consequently 
HGV movements through the village 
are unlikely to increase. 

• OCC consider the road infrastructure 
which includes improvements such as 
HIF1 can accommodate the increased 
traffic. 

• Milton Park is already subject to a 
20mph speed limit. 

P
age 29



 
• A train service should be provided from Didcot to 

Milton Park and a new station provided before any 
enlargement. 

• Inadequate public transport being infrequent and 
unreliable. Improved bus services should be a priority 
to reduce congestion. 

• Need cycle lanes. 

• Circuitous bicycle route around Sutton Courtenay 
lengthens the journey time from Abingdon 

• Priority should be given to pedestrian access from the 
west of the site. There is no appropriate pavement for 
significant sections of the road running along the road 
which the Park Gym and The Plum Pudding pub are 
located. 

• Need to change mindsets to reduce single person car 
journeys. 

• Reducing car parking will push parking into the Milton 
village. 

• Need more electric vehicle charging points. 
Accessibility 

• Due regard has to be given to the Equality Act 2010, 
wherein disability is a protected characteristic. The 
footway beside Park Drive from the Milton Interchange 
and junction with High Street is very poor being 
uneven in places and on a steep slope from the 
carriageway to the outer edge of the footway. It is not 
currently accessible for wheelchair users. Obligations 
should be secured in a S106 to ensure adequate 
accessibility. 

Renewables 

• No mention of rooftop renewables 

• Milton Park is subject to a good public 
transport service and currently served 
by cycle paths from Didcot, the A4130, 
Sutton Courtenay Lane and across the 
green buffer between Milton Park and 
Sutton Courtenay. The LDO seeks to 
provide new cycle lanes as part of 
developments and secures a financial 
contribution towards a cycle path 
between Milton Park and Steventon as 
identified by the Local Plan (policy 
CP18a), and also to Drayton. 

• Pavements leading to the Park Gym 
and to the Plum Pudding PH are 
considered adequate.  

• Parking restrictions are part of the 
proposed mitigation. 

• Electric vehicle charging points for 
cars and E.bikes are a requirement of 
the LDO. 

 
 

• This footway is outside the LDO site 
area and this matter has been drawn 
to the attention of OCC as highway 
authority with a request that this issue 
be reviewed and if necessary 
remedied.. 

 

• Renewables are encouraged including 
roof top renewables (except wind 

P
age 30



 
• No mention of providing a waste-heat steam or hot 

water pipe from Didcot power station which could 
contribute to useful ‘cool side’ for the power station 
and provide heating to Milton park buildings. 

Other Matters 

• Benefits for the wider community should be provided 
such as gym concessions and bus passes and sports 
facilities such as tennis courts provided Lack of 
worker’s housing for early career staff within walking 
distance hinders hiring. 

• Set a precedent for more residential development on 
the Park which could gradually become a residential 
development. 

• Seems unnecessary to have a further LDO when one 
is already in place. 

• The LDO would allow a range of development without 
having to submit a planning application and the 
scrutiny that would involve.  

• The landscaping at the Milton Gateway is unmanaged 
and gives a poor first impression that is out of keeping. 
Appropriate landscaping and management is needed 
to improve the public realm and create a “proper” 
gateway. 
 

One resident repeats the comments made by Milton Parish 
Council. 
 
One resident whilst raising other objections, has no objection  
to taller buildings. 
 

turbines which could impact on air 
traffic safety). The LDO sets 
parameters for development with the 
LDO site boundaries and cannot 
address development that may involve 
third party land such as the power 
station. 

• Concessions to use facilities such as 
the gym is not a material planning 
consideration. Such offers are a 
decision for operators of facilities. 

• Any application for housing 
development would be subject to a 
planning application and considered 
on its merits. 

• Scrutiny of planning merits is 
undertaken as part of the LDO 
process – please see the Statement of 
Reasons in Appendix 3.  

 

P
age 31



 
One resident whilst objecting asks that should the LDO be 
granted it should not permit taller buildings or residential 
accommodation. 
 

Fedex Express 
UK 

Comments: 

• Fedex has operated from the site since 1981 without 
any restriction on operating hours. The distribution 
centre operates 24/7 which is essential to meeting 
customer requirements. It has two concerns: 

1. Currently Fedex is in Zone A in the adopted 2012 LDO 
but the proposed LDO changes this to Zone B which 
does not allow Class B8 uses. This is considered 
unjustified given there is no change in the relationship 
between Fedex and adjacent sites. Request Fedex is 
reallocated to Zone A. 

2. The draft LDO’s focus is on science and technology 
research and development should not come at the 
expense of other employment activity, specifically in 
the industrial and logistics sector which across the UK 
are significant employers and contributors to the UK 
economy. Logistics operators, such as FedEx, provide 
direct support to and are important to the success of 
science and technology research and development 
activities that are central to the 2040 Vision for Milton 
Park. 

• Request that the general extent of Zone B is reviewed 
to ensure land allocated in this Zone is only justified 
where it serves the purpose stated at LDO ‘Table B: 
Permitted Uses in the LDO Area’ of avoiding potential 
conflicts with residential amenity and not reduce the 

 
 
 
 

 

• The LDO has been revised to keep 
Fedex in Zone A and clarity is 
provided in the LDO that existing Use 
Classes B2 and B8 in zones B and C 
can seek to extend their premises 
should they wish to. 

P
age 32



 
supply of land that could otherwise be available for 
Class B8 uses. 
 

National 
Highways 

Comments: 

• National Highways is not concerned with the changes 
in proposed development or with the proposed 
highway mitigation to be secured through a S106 legal 
agreement with VOWH and OCC as the highway 
authority. However, National Highways is concerned 
that the mitigation is delivered in good time so that 
queuing on Park Drive does not impair traffic 
operations and safety at Milton Interchange 
Roundabout and create safety issues on the A34 
southbound off-slip to Milton Interchange Roundabout. 

• National Highways supports the 'monitor and 
manage/provide' approach to providing the identified 
mitigation.  

• The Milton Park LDO Monitoring and Review 
Framework for Highway Mitigation’ should: 
1. Confirm that the courtesy-related queuing on Park 
Drive, stretching from High Street back towards Park 
towards Milton Interchange, will be separately 
monitored to the eastbound queuing generated 
downstream on Park Drive related to the junction of 
Park Drive and Western Avenue. 
2. Confirm that the thresholds for the courtesy related 
queuing on Park Drive will be similar to those already 
proposed elsewhere. 
3. Correct paragraph 1.3.21 for missing and 
incompletely described queue length survey locations 
compared to those shown in Figure 3 (previously 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Highways confirms the amended 
transport assessment addresses these 
points. 

P
age 33



 
Figure 2) and included in Table 2. National Highways 
expected paragraph 1.3.21 to include the below: 
o Eastbound on Park Drive from Park Drive / Western 

Avenue / Park Square roundabout; 
o Southbound on Western Avenue from Park Drive / 

Western Avenue / Park Square roundabout; 
o Westbound on Park Drive from Park Drive / Western 

Avenue / Park Square roundabout; 
o Westbound/southbound on Park Drive from Milton 

Interchange; 
o Southbound on High Street from Park Drive / High 

Street junction; and 
o Eastbound on Park Drive from Milton Road / Sutton 

Courtenay Road / Park Drive roundabout. 
 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
 

Highways 
No objection: 
Since the previous formal response, dated 11th October 2022, 
(this response is available on the council’s web site), OCC 
Highways have been in discussion with the transport 
consultant regarding the outstanding issues that are required, 
for the previous holding objection to be removed.   
 
For transparency, each issue has been summarised below 
along with the narrative of discussion and OCC’s position: 
 

1. There was some confusion over the state of the 
Transport Assessment (TA), as originally its file name 
stated it was a ’DRAFT’ TA.  There were numerous 
elements that we asked for further clarification on or 
additions to be made to the document, which we 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34



 
needed to see.  Whilst these matters were discussed 
in meetings, OCC required details to be included within 
the TA for transparency.  These requirements are 
listed here, for ease of reference followed by OCC 
commentary:  

a. OCC have agreed an approach for a ‘worst 
case’ scenario, which utilises pre-Covid traffic 
baseline data and does not factor in any modal 
shift trends, however, we require this be 
detailed within the TA, alongside the results of 
such a scenario. 

i. This has been detailed in paragraphs 
9.7.15 – 9.7.17 of the TA. 

b. OCC require further explanation on how the 
growth/committed development trips have been 
allocated to the short, medium and long-term 
scenarios for transparency.  In paragraph 9.4.4, 
just taking a 1/3, then 2/3 and all of the planned 
growth through the modelled area appears to be 
a bit arbitrary and there may be justification for 
looking at the planned growth sites 
trajectories/district housing monitoring reports, 
to ascertain if the split between the periods of 
growth will be equal. This needs further 
justification. 

i. This has been added to section 9.4 of the 
TA. 

c. In paragraph 9.5.2. the wording is confusing. 
This section of the TA confirms the base year 
Milton Park model network being modified to 
account for the proposed improvements at 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



 
Milton Interchange (left turn filter lane from 
A4130 eastbound, and additional lanes exiting 
to Milton Park), which is associated with 
proposed development in the area. It also is 
modified to include the A4130 widening 
schemes either side of Milton Interchange, 
which on the east side, is part of the HIF 
proposals. OCC requires revised wording and 
clarification as to what year these infrastructure 
changes are that are included in the model, as 
they should not be in the 'base' year, but would 
be in a future forecasted year. 

i. This has been updated. 
d. Paragraph 8.6 mentions Covid-19 Implications 

as its title, however there is no narrative 
underneath, which appears to be an error. 
Clarification on this point is required. 

i. Even though this section has now been 
removed, this is acceptable, given that 
reference is made to their latest sets of 
Vivacity data and data going back prior to 
Covid, which has been considered.  It 
would just repeat narrative already 
covered. 

 
2. The Monitoring Review Framework (MRF) also 

requires further input, as although we have covered 
some of it off in discussion, it must be included in the 
report itself, again for transparency.  We cannot fully 
agree the monitoring approach and subsequent setting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 36



 
out of the s106 before we are satisfied with the 
approach. Items include:  

a. Explanation of how the thresholds were 
determined for both step 1 and step 2 is 
provided, however, for transparency, this should 
be further expanded upon in the report.  As we 
have stated before, using queue levels as 
opposed to flows might be a better 
approach.  In 1.4.3 it says if step 1 (flows) are 
triggered but step 2 (queues) isn’t, then step 2 
(Q) will be reassessed at increments of 5% 
flows. What happens if it’s the other way 
around? What if flows don’t increase, but 
queuing does? This is a key concern. OCC do 
not believe Q lengths should only be taken 
when flows reach a certain point, it needs to be 
more frequent. Are vivacity cameras (or other 
technology) able to be put at the relevant queue 
length locations and if it senses queues 
reaching that point, it triggers the next stage? Of 
course, there is still a question of how many 
times does it need to reach that point, how 
many days per week etc.  

i. See the narrative under point d).  This 
has been addressed and queue length 
surveys will also be included in stage 1 of 
the monitoring. 

b. The use of weekday average traffic flows, which 
includes Monday and Friday has been 
discussed, as they can often see a lower flow, 
which would impact on the average and impact 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 37



 
the analysis.  Your response to this point should 
be included. 

i. This has been included in paragraph 
1.3.12 – 1.3.14.  For the purposes of 
monitoring traffic volumes at Milton Park 
it is proposed that two-way peak period 
(07:00 – 10:00 and 16:00 – 19:00) 
Monday to Thursday weekday average 
flows serve as the metric for Stage 1, 
which OCC deem acceptable.    

c. The situation where flow actually goes down, 
but queues go up as less cars can get through 
per hour, as they are held up elsewhere on the 
network, has also been discussed, but your 
response should be included. 

d. The applicant has now made stage 1 a double 
prong approach, whereby the traffic flows and 
queue lengths are looked at in tandem.  On 
discussion with the applicant, an agreement on 
how often these thresholds have to be met and 
for what duration, for stage 2 to then be 
triggered, was discussed. If number of days in a 
month by month review was used, this may be 
overly complicated, as would it be a rolling 
month or calendar month by month?  There are 
also a lot of factors that could change month by 
month, to affect flows/queues.  Therefore, using 
a 2 consecutive week would be OCC’s 
preference, with the thresholds being met for 2 
days in a week, given that Monday and Friday 
are quieter anyway. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



 
i. Section has been added to the MRF 

under 1.4.5 to this effect. 
3. As part of the MRF, you should also detail your 

commitment to monitoring the car parking surrounding 
the site.  We need to protect against the risk that there 
could be an impact on the highway in a few key places 
and therefore we needed a commitment from MEPC 
that there is a review mechanism in place to ensure 
this doesn’t become an issue.  The review period of 
the LDO was acknowledged as playing an important 
role in this, however, if there is a requirement for a 
TRO, this commitment must be agreed and 
acknowledged in the MRF. 

a. This has been included, however, OCC noted 
the narrative did not say they will implement the 
TRO consultation process.  This will be an 
expectation and will be drafted in the s106.  We 
will include this in the s106 for signing. 

i. Section 1.6.1 of MRF has been updated 
accordingly. 

 
4. OCC require costings for the Kelaart’s Field link to 

Drayton Road and the Milton/Steventon Cinder track, 
before we can ascertain any contribution should that 
be required. 

a. There is a commitment to contribute to the 
Cinder Track and Kelaart’s Field link in the TA, 
although the section is still very vague.   

i. The costing estimates that have since 
been provided, whilst not required for 
OCC to remove their holding objection, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



 
are required to inform the contribution 
being sought through the s106.  In their 
current form, these are extremely limited 
in their detail and we have no scheme 
proposals to check them against.  For us 
to send these across to our QS team, we 
would at least expect to see details on 
type and amount of surfacing, lighting 
requirements, land assembly, utilities and 
site investigations, to name but a few. 

  
By the applicant’s own admission, they acknowledge that the 
list of unknowns is significant and caveat the costings with the 
following: 
  
‘…From past experience these unknowns tend to significantly 
impact a project both in terms of cost and program.’ 
  
It is therefore prudent to ask for further detail for both the 
Kelaart’s Field to Drayton Road route and the Cinder 
track.  Not only do we have to see some sort of scheme 
proposals, but there also has to be consideration of potential 
constraints that will need addressing, such as bridging of 
watercourses, gradient issues and archaeological elements 
and these factored into any costings exercise. 
  
Once these have been received, we will require time for our 
QS team to check them, so please do bear this in mind during 
the s106 negotiation discussions. 

b. Despite the HIF1 scheme delivering many 
active travel links/routes, it is all about 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



 
maintaining transparency and therefore, these 
should be highlighted in the TA, as a narrative 
for why MPEC are not delivering them. 

i. Further information has been provided 
from 10.3.15 onwards in the TA, in 
relation to forthcoming walking and 
cycling improvements in the vicinity of 
Milton Park, which are to be considered. 

 
5. We required you to address objection point 1 from our 

response, in the TA, which refers to the requirement 
for junction capacity analysis on two of the junctions to 
the east of the site.  It was discussed and agreed 
upon, but it should be justified in the TA. 

a. This has now been included. 
 

6. We require plans for the mitigation works, being 
proposed as part of the worst-case scenario, as well 
as the plans for the new link between Western Avenue 
and the High Street and flare length extension on 
northern arm of Park Drive / Western Avenue / Park 
Square roundabout. 

a. Included. These are high level ‘in principle’ 
mitigation proposals.   

 
In relation to the National Highway comments and associated 
alterations, changes have also been made as follows: 

• Monitoring and Review Framework (MRF) 1.3.21: 
Minor text changes to bullet point list of queue length 
survey locations, confirming that the courtesy queuing 
on Park Drive will be monitored; and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 41



 
• Monitoring and Review Framework 1.3.23: Text added 

in relation to courtesy queuing on Park Drive, 
confirming that this will be monitored and that the 
thresholds for this section mirror that of the Park Drive 
W1 trigger points outlined in Table 2. 

• Text has been added to Section 2.4 of the TA. 
  
Other comments: 
 
Section 1.3.26 of MRF has been updated accordingly to 
reflect our requirement to secure all mitigation works in this 
s106, whether triggered in the future or not. 
 
S106 needed to secure the following: 

Contribution Amount Index Details 

Strategic 
highways 

TBC Baxter Strategic 
highways 
infrastructure 
within the 
Didcot area 

Public 
Transport 
Services 

TBC RPIX Towards bus 
services 
serving Milton 
Park 

Public 
transport 
infrastructure 

TBC Baxter Upgrading 
Milton Park 
bus stops 

Traffic 
Regulation 
Order (TRO) 

TBC RPIX Towards 
implementation 
of a controlled 
parking zone 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42



 
(CPZ) and or 
parking 
restrictions on 
the highways 
adjacent to 
Milton Park. 

Travel Plan 
monitoring 

TBC RPIX The Travel 
Plan will 
contain a focus 
on the Decide 
and Provide 
monitoring and 
evaluation 
requirements. 

Public Rights 
of Way 

TBC Baxter Towards the 
improvement 
of pedestrian 
and cycling 
routes in the 
vicinity of the 
site. 

 

• Section 278 Agreement for works within the highway, 
to include (timing to be confirmed within the s106), but 
not necessarily limited to:  

o Delivery of a link road between High Street and 
Western Avenue - the exact alignment and form to be 
agreed when deemed appropriate by the monitoring 
and review process – delivered within a strategic area 
safeguarded for highway mitigation; and 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43



 
o Extending flare length on northern arm of Park Drive / 

Western Avenue / Park Square roundabout. The 
length of flare extension is to be agreed following 
modelling undertaken as part of the monitoring and 
review process.  

o Indicative modelling of a ‘worst-case’ demand scenario 
suggests that full signalisation of the Park Drive / 
Western Avenue junction and flare widening on the 
southern approach arm of the Milton Road / Park Drive 
roundabout may be required.  

o Off-site walking and cycling improvements to existing 
Public Rights of Way and other routes within the 
highway. 
 

Drainage 
No objection. 

• The site flood risk assessment FRA includes surface 
water advice and flood control requirements and these 
are suitable at this stage of the project. Expect to see 
detailed designs for individual parts of the project. 
 

Archaeology 
No objection: 

• The submitted LDO makes appropriate provision, 
secured by conditions 22-24, for the area of known 
archaeological sensitivity identified at MP9 of the LDO 
development area. 

 
Minerals and Waste 
No objection: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 44



 
• The site does not fall within a Mineral Safeguarding 

Area or a Mineral Consultation Area. The LDO would 
not affect any safeguarded Mineral Infrastructure. 

• A safeguarded waste management site falls within the 
area covered by the LDO. Therefore, Policy W11 of 
the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1 
– Core Strategy should be considered. This Policy 
states that where the development would directly or 
indirectly prevent or prejudice the use of a site 
safeguarded for waste management, the development 
will not be permitted unless: 

o The development is in accordance with a site 
allocation for development in an adopted local plan or 
neighbourhood plan; or 

o Equivalent waste management capacity can be 
appropriately and sustainably provided elsewhere; or  

o It can be demonstrated that the site is no longer 
required for waste management.  

• The adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 
1: Strategic Sites and Policies shows that most of the 
area covered by the Local Development Order has 
been allocated as a strategic employment site. 

 
Landscape and Green Infrastructure 
The district council landscape officer should be consulted. 
 

 
 
 

• Policy W11 relates to a wood 
recycling/transfer company that once 
occupied premises on Milton Park. In 
2015 the company relocated to new 
premises elsewhere in Abingdon. The 
LDO therefore, does not conflict with 
policy W11 of the Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan Part 1, as it is being 
provided elsewhere. OCC has now 
confirmed it has no objection in this 
respect. (This matter is addressed in 
greater detail in the Statement of 
Reasons (see Appendix 3). 

Thames Water 
 

Waste and Surface Water Comments: 

• Thames Water has been unable to determine the foul 
water infrastructure needs of this application. Request 
conditions to address this.  

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



 
Water Comments: 

• Thames Water has been unable to determine the 
existing water network infrastructure to accommodate 
the needs of this development. Request a condition to 
address this. 

 
Supplementary Comments: 

• A drainage strategy should contain the points of 
connection to the public sewerage system as well as 
the anticipated flows (including flow calculation 
method) into the proposed connection points. This 
data can then be used to determine the impact of the 
proposed development on the existing sewer system. 
If the drainage strategy is not acceptable Thames 
Water will request that an impact study be undertaken. 

 
Conditions: 

1. No occupation until Thames Water confirm foul water 
capacity exists or a phasing plan is agreed or the foul 
water network has been upgraded. 

2. No occupation until Thames Water confirm surface 
water capacity exists or a phasing plan is agreed or 
the surface water network has been upgraded. 

3. No occupation until Thames Water confirm all water 
network upgrades have been undertaken or a phasing 
plan is agreed or the foul water network has been 
upgraded. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Addressed by condition 9 
 
 
 
 
 

Drainage 
Engineer 

No objection:  

P
age 46



 
• The supporting technical assessments and LDO have 

been reviewed and are considered to suitably address 
matters concerning flood risk and drainage. 
 

Air Quality Officer No objection: 

• The air quality report has considered the impacts of 
dust and the operational phase upon air quality and 
modelled predicted impacts and compared them with 
local monitored levels and Defra background maps. 
The report predicts that the proposed development will 
not have any significant impacts on air quality in the 
immediate and surrounding area, and that dust 
emissions during the construction phase can be 
adequately controlled with mitigation. 

Conditions 
1. Dust management plan to form part of the construction 

environmental management plan. 
2. Provision of electric vehicle charging points (EVCP). 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Included at condition 25 
 

• EVCP included as condition 21 

Contaminated 
Land Officer 

No objection. 
Conditions 

1. Investigation for contamination before the development 
commences and if necessary, to produce a 
contaminated land remediation strategy before the 
development commences. 

2. The contaminated land remediation strategy to be 
completed before the development is occupied and a 
verification report submitted to the local planning 
authority for approval. 

3. If contamination not previously identified is discovered 
during development, a programme of investigation 

 
 

• Conditions included as conditions 26 
and 26a 

P
age 47



 
and/or remedial works submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
 

Environmental 
Protect Team 
(noise) 

No objection: 

• The measures in the artificial lighting and noise 
assessments should be implemented. 
 

 
Addressed in conditions 6 and 28 

Waste 
Management 
Officer 

No comments.  

Landscape 
Architect 

No objection: 

• In landscape terms, the main area of change is the 
additional proposed building heights. This proposed 
additional height has been explored and adjusted by 
using digital modelling to restrict the higher heights to 
the least sensitive southern areas of the site. The 
plans and associated documents contain clear 
parameters with regards to the relationship of plant on 
roofs and building heights, with roof plant included 
within the height parameters on the more sensitive 
northern and western areas of the site.  

• Wider and additional areas of planting have been 
proposed on the northern side of the site to help 
mitigate the impact of the proposed development on its 
interface with Milton and Sutton Courtenay villages. 

• Other LDO documents such as the Design Guidance, 
additional guidance has been created with regards to 
the expected design quality of the site.  

• With regards to landscape items such as hard and soft 
landscape design, building colour, building plant and 
service design are incorporated into the guidance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 48



 
• Section 3.86 of the Design Guidance refers to “deck 

parking should be a maximum of a single level in 
height”, this could be too restrictive. There are good 
local examples of deck parking, such as those at 
Oxford Science Park being 2 storey’s, with slightly 
sunken ground floor parking.  

• The LVA needs updating to reference the current 
Council Design Guide which is now the Joint Design 
Guide. 
 

• Decked parking is now clarified in the 
LDO as three floors including the 
ground floor. 

Forestry Officer No objection: 

• Support the proposed tree management strategy at 
appendix 4 of the LDO. 
 

 

Urban Design 
Officer 

No objection: 

• The LDO needs to refer to the 2022 adopted Joint 
Design Guide. 

• Clarify on the plans where cycle connections lead to. 

• In terms of street design consider not only raised 
tables (which can be unattractive) but speeds can be 
controlled by reduced forward visibility, physical and 
optical narrowing including narrower carriageways and 
different surface materials. 

• Consider courtyard type designs for offices. 

• Consider sinking ground level parking which would 
allow to go higher than one level. Make sure however 
to provide visual screening via landscaping to soften 
the visual impact of decking parking. 

 

• Relevant amendments made to the 
LDO Design Guidance. 

Countryside 
Officer 

No objection: 

• Condition 2 refers to the ecological baseline 
information for the LDO area being kept up-to-date by 

 

P
age 49



 
a regular review of the baseline surveys by a suitably 
qualified ecologist, not less than every two calendar 
years from date of adoption of the Order. This is to 
include an audit of the management prescriptions 
identified in Section 5 of the Milton Park Local 
Development Order 2022: Biodiversity Strategy 
prepared by Tyler Grange (19 November 2021) (Ref: 
14122 HM CW) for retained habitats and newly 
created habitats on Development Plots with the 
surveys submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Should the review identify 
changes in the baseline conditions, the relevant 
ecological survey(s) shall be undertaken by a 
professional ecologist and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
further development in the survey area(s).  

 

Natural England No objection: 

• Do not consider that this LDO poses any likely risk or 
opportunity in relation to our statutory purpose, and so 
does not wish to comment on this consultation. 
 

 

NHS Integrated 
Care Board 

Comments: 

• Insufficient consulting rooms to cope with increased 
population growth as a direct result of the increase in 
dwellings (the 75 units of serviced accommodation). 
Seek a financial contribution of £64,800 towards 
consulting room capacity in this PCN area. 
 

 

• The s.106 agreement secures the 
financial contribution – payable before 
first occupation of any serviced 
accommodation. 

P
age 50



 
Crime Prevention 
Officer – Thames 
Valley Police 

Comments: 

• Disappointed that the prevention of crime and disorder 
has not been a significant consideration within the 
proposals and ask that the documents within the LDO 
are revised to include a requirement for developers to 
explicitly incorporate crime prevention through 
environmental design throughout the development. 

• The Protect duty/PALS (Publically Accessible 
Locations) legislation is due to come into force 
imminently. This will place a legal obligation on owners 
and operators of Publicly Accessible Locations (PALs) 
to improve the protection of the public from terror 
attacks and criminal activity. It is far easier, and a lot 
more cost effective, to ensure that all efforts to design 
out crime and design in protective measures are taken 
from the outset, rather than having to make changes 
and redesign after development has been constructed. 
It is vital that all developments should have to consider 
and address these issues from the outset, and prior to 
permission being granted. Recommend specific 
guidance is included within the LDO regarding this 
issue, particularly around public spaces. 

• Strongly recommend consideration is given to 
requiring developers to consult and follow all guidance 
provided by Secured by Design. 

• The LDO Design Guidance should include a section on 
crime prevention and public safety.  

• Recommends changes to the LDO Design Guidance 
as follows: 
3.16 – Omit “long” from this statement. Blank facades 
even of a short length support crime and anti-social 

 

• The majority of the comments below 
are positively addressed in revised 
LDO Design Guidance (see Appendix 
3). Officers are also conscious that 
Milton Park has its own 24 hour 
security patrols. Where the Design 
Guide has not been revised, reasons 
for not doing so are explained below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Secured By Design goes beyond 
planning requirements and the 
definition of development e.g. security 
matters such as door locks. 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 51



 
behaviour (ASB) by reducing surveillance over the 
public realm and providing opportunities for graffiti.  
3.20 - recommend adding “… landscaping, boundary 
and surface treatments”.  
3.22/3.23 – Guidance should be provided for 
preventing unauthorised vehicular intrusion onto 
undeveloped plots or areas where hard landscaping is 
provided to meet these statements. Failing to do so 
creates spaces vulnerable to crime, ASB and 
illegal/unauthorised encampments.  
3.26 – guidance should be added to require corner 
plots to have dual aspect windows that “Turn the 
corner” to maximise surveillance over the public realm. 
3.51 – Landscape – Requirements for defensible 
space and planting to temporary residential plots, 
again to demarcate the change in ownership from 
public to private or semi-private space, and to afford 
protection to easily accessible ground floor windows. 
Defensible space and planting as a buffer along walls 
also reduces opportunities for loitering and crime such 
as graffiti.  
3.58 – Recommend adding a requirement for green 
infrastructure to be protected from unauthorised 
vehicle incursion, including vehicles and 
mopeds/motorbikes. Spaces need to be accessible but 
only to legitimate users.  
3.67 or 3.75 – Recommend adding a point that lighting 
must be considered holistically with tree planting to 
avoid conflict between trees and lighting, that will not 
only create shadowing which is attractive to crime and 

 
 

 
 

• Officers are not aware of any history of 
unauthorised vehicle intrusion. 
 
 
 

 

• The LDO design guidance 
discourages blank facades. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 52



 
ASB but also significantly increase the amount of 
maintenance required.  
3.82 – add car parking, this should also be well lit.  
3.83 – Strongly recommend specifically excluding rear 
parking courts within this guidance. In line with OCC 
guidance they are undesirable and problematic areas 
for parking that create significant crime and ASB 
issues, undermine the security of secure perimeter 
blocks and are almost always abandoned in favour of 
parking elsewhere.  
3.85 – Landscaping should be designed so as not to 
hamper surveillance – Trees should be of clear 
stemmed variety with a canopy above 2.2m, and 
hedge planting should be maintained below 1m.  
3.86 – Strongly recommend all parking areas should 
be designed in accordance with Park Mark standards, 
to ensure opportunities are taken to significantly 
reduce opportunities for crime and ASB to occur. 
Recommend asking for good surveillance and lighting 
(To the same standard as the highway) as well within 
parking areas. There should also be a requirement for 
commercial, business and residential parking to be 
clearly separate and identifiable.  
3.89 – Strongly recommend wording is amended to 
“Cycle parking should be covered and secured in line 
with recommendations of Secured by Design, and be 
positioned adjacent to building entrances”.  
3.95 – If it is desirable for refuse storage areas to be 
hidden and not well covered by surveillance, it is vital 
that they are secure otherwise there is a high risk of 
crime, ASB and arson within them.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• Need to balance design and potential 
fear of crime. In this case the balance 
is considered appropriate and it 
seems the currently well landscaped 
Park is not subject to significant levels 
of personal safety issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 53



 
4.36 – Significant concerns with a physical 
requirement to locate all parking to the rear of 
buildings, without further guidance to ensure parking 
provision is safe and secure from crime and ASB. 
Surveillance may be a significant challenge when 
parking to the rear of buildings, particularly with the 
railway line to the rear of these parking areas which 
reduces surveillance even further. Guidance should be 
provided as to what type of parking is required that 
meets the requirements of Secured by Design, and to 
ensure surveillance is maximised.  
4.45 – Underpasses are a significant risk area for 
crime and ASB to occur if pedestrians are required to 
use them. Vehicles can go underground, but 
pedestrians must go over ground. I strongly 
recommend any underpass connection is only for 
vehicles and not pedestrians. Pedestrian links should 
be at surface level or over bridges. If the underpass 
requires pedestrian access, it must be as wide and as 
short as possible, be very well lit and have a clear line 
of sight from one end to the other, with both entrances 
well overlooked by surveillance from surrounding 
dwellings.  
4.49 – Connectivity must not undermine security, and 
any permeability should not be “excessive”, such as 
through private parking areas or behind plots, where 
side and rear boundaries are vulnerable to 
unauthorised entry and burglary attempts. 

• Object to the point requiring security lighting to be PIR 
motion activated. This type of lighting is not supported 
by Secured by Design and is proven not to reduce 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Underpasses are not proposed. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

• The LDO Design Guide references 
maintaining connectivity to 
cycle/footways over ‘Kelhaart’s Field’ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 54



 
crime, and may even increase the fear of crime. 
Security lighting should be photoelectric switched 
“Dusk till dawn” lighting. Motion activated technology 
that dims light output by up to 50% may be utilised to 
reduce output when no activity is happening nearby. 
PIR motion activated lighting may be used for 
convenience in private areas that are not publicly 
accessible. 

Conditions 
1. No development is occupied until Secured By Design 

accreditation has been applied for and approved. 
2. Safety/security requirements be included in proposed 

condition 6 with lighting to highways, footways and 
parking areas conforming to BS5489-1:2020. 
 

 

• Secure By Design goes beyond 
planning requirements e.g. types of 
locks fitted. A condition would not be 
appropriate. 

• It is a matter of balancing skyglow, 
biodiversity impacts and security. 
Condition 6 is adequate. 

Ministry of 
Defence 

Comments: 

• Milton Park contains areas that are washed over by 
safeguarding zones that are designated to preserve 
the operation and capability of defence assets and 
sites, in this case RAF Benson. 

• No concerns with the LDO but would wish to be 
consulted of any potential development within the 
statutory technical safeguarding zones that surround 
RAF Benson, which consists of structures or buildings 
exceeding statutory safeguarding height criteria, and 
would emphasise that development including open 
water storage, wetlands or any schemes that might 
result in the creation of attractant environments for 
large and flocking bird species hazardous to aviation 
within the bird strike safeguarding zone associated 
with RAF Benson, then consultation with the MOD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
None of the height parameters in the LDO 
exceed the statutory safeguarding height 
criteria which are 50m or exceeding 11m for 
wind turbines, and wind turbines are 
excluded by the LDO and therefore, they 
would need planning permission. 

P
age 55



 
should take place. Policy wording that alerts 
developers to this potential would be welcomed. 
 

 
 

P
age 56



 

 
 

Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee  

Report of Head of Finance 

 
Author: Donna Ross 
E-mail: donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk 

SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Pieter-Paul Barker 
Telephone: 01844 212438 
E-mail:  pieter-paul.barker@southoxon.gov.uk 
 
VWHDC cabinet member responsible:  Councillor Andrew Crawford 
Telephone: 01235 772134 
E-mail:  andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee; Cabinet; Council 

DATE: 31 January by Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
 2 February (S) / 3 February (V) by Cabinet  
 16 February (S) / 15 February (V) by Council  
 

 

 

Treasury management mid-year monitoring report  

Recommendations 

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee: 

1. notes the treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2022/23. 
2. is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 

treasury management strategy and policy. 
 
That Cabinet: 

3. considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and       
recommends council to approve the report. 

 
Purpose of report 

1. The report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring of the 
treasury management activities and that each council’s prudential indicators are 
reported to their respective council mid-year (i.e. as at 30 September).  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the first six months of 2022/23 and an 
update on the current economic conditions with a view to the remainder of the year. 

Strategic objectives  

2. Managing the finances of the authorities in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver their services and 
meet the councils’ strategic objectives. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9

mailto:donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:pieter-paul.barker@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 
 

Background 

Treasury management 

3. This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2017). 

 
4. The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  
 

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which 
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management 
activities. 

 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
way the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives. 

 

 Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
- including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-Year Review Report and an Annual Report, 
(stewardship report), covering activities during the previous year. 

 

 Delegation by the Councils of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions. 

 

 Delegation by the Councils of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy 
and policies to a specific named body. 

 
5. This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 

on Treasury Management, and covers the following: 
 

 An economic update for the first part of the 2022/23 financial year; 

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

 A review of the Councils’ investment portfolios for 2022/23; 

 A review of the Councils’ borrowing strategy for 2022/23; 

 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2022/23. 
 
6. The first main function of the treasury management service is to ensure the councils’ 

cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low-risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising 
investment return. The Treasury Management Strategy determines to whom the 
councils can lend, and this is the manifestation of their risk appetite. 

 
7. The second main function of the treasury management service is to ensure funding for 

the Councils’ capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need 
of the Councils, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the Councils 
can meet their capital spending operations. This management of longer-term cash 
may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
risk or cost objectives.  

Page 58



 

 
 

 
8. Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 

9. The 2022/23 treasury management strategy was approved by each council in February 
2022.  This report summarises the treasury activity and performance for the first six 
months of 2022/23 against those prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the 
year.  It also provides an opportunity to review and subsequently revise limits if 
required.  Full council is required to approve this report and any amendments to the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

Treasury Strategy 

10. The approved Treasury Management Strategies for 2022/23 were based on a base 
rate forecast of 0.25 per cent from April rising to 0.5 per cent in June, with a further 
increase to 0.75 per cent in the last quarter of the financial year. 
 

11. The global economy has changed significantly since the strategy was agreed.  World 
central banks have increased base interest rates much faster than forecast in 
response to global inflation.  At the beginning of the financial year UK base rate was 
0.75 per cent; the Bank of England raised the rate by 0.25 per cent at both of its 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meetings in May and June, with base rate at 1.25 
per cent by the end of the first quarter of the financial year.  Further rate increases of 
0.5 per cent were agreed by the MPC in August and September, with base rate ending 
quarter 2 at 2.25 per cent.  

 
12. In-house cash balances were deposited with institutions that met each council’s 

approved credit rating criteria with security of capital remaining the main objective. 
 
Treasury activity 

13. The mid-year performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below1.   

  

                                            
1 For property, the balance shown is the fair value of investment properties as at 31 March 2022. 

 

Page 59



 

 
 

  South 

Treasury 
investments 

£000 

Non 
treasury 

loan £000 
Sub Total 

£000 

Property 
investment 

£000 
Overall 

total £000 

1 Average investment balance 192,723  15,000  207,723  17,870  225,593  

2 Budgeted investment income 579  312  891  579  1,469  

3 Actual investment income 799  312  1,111  563  1,674  

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 220  (0) 220  (15) 205  

5 Annualised rate of return 0.83% 4.15% 1.07% 6.30% 1.48% 

 

  Vale 

Treasury 
investments 

£000 

Property 
investment 

£000 
Overall total 

£000 

1 Average investment balance 130,552  7,121  137,673  

2 Budgeted investment income 245  71  317  

3 Actual investment income 652  155  807  

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 407  83  490  

5 Annualised rate of return 1.00% 4.34% 1.17% 

 
 

14. The forecast outturn position as at September 2022, based on known investments and 
maturities and an estimate for future earnings is shown in the table below: 

 

South Oxfordshire 
District Council 

Vale of White Horse 
District Council 

Annual budget as per MTFP £1,776,730 £488,820 

Forecast outturn £2,452,520 £1,131,303 

Variance against budget £675,790 £642,483 

Borrowing Nil Nil 

 
 

15. SODC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £0.68 million. This is due to frequent increases in interest rates that 
were unexpected when the budget was set.    

 
16. VWHDC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 

above budget by £0.64 million. This is due to frequent increases in interest rates that 
were unexpected when the budget was set. 

 
17. The forecast outturn is based on the expectation of further interest rate rises in the 

second half of the financial year as the markets are factoring in further increases in 
Bank Rate in the autumn.  The estimates may prove to be prudent, depending on the 
rate of increase and the council’s ability to maximise opportunities to invest with 
appropriate counterparties at higher rates.     

 
Performance measurement 

18. A list of investments as at 30 September 2022 is shown in Appendices A1 and A2.   
 
19. The councils’ performance against benchmarks for the first six months of the year are 

detailed in Appendices A3 and A4.  All investments were with approved 
counterparties. The average return on these investments is shown above in the table 
at paragraph 13.   

 

Page 60



 

 
 

Treasury management limits on activity 

20. Each council is required by the Prudential Code to report on the limits set each year in 
their respective Treasury Management Strategies.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury functions remain within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if the limits set are too restrictive, they will impair the opportunities to 
reduce costs/improve performance.  The performance against the limits for both 
councils are shown in Appendices B1 and B2. 

Debt activity during 2022/23 

21. During the first six months of 2022/23 there has been no need for either of the councils 
to borrow.  The Head of Finance will continue to take a prudent approach to the 
councils’ debt strategies.  The prudential indicators and limits set out in Appendices 
B1 and B2 provide the scope and flexibility for either of the councils to borrow in the 
short-term up to the maximum limits, if ever such a need arose within the cash flow 
management activities of the councils in order to achieve their service objectives. 

 
Interest rate forecasts  

22. The Councils’ treasury advisor, Link Treasury Services, has provided the following 
forecast: 
 

23. ‘The latest forecast on 27 September sets out a view that both short and long dated 
interest rates will be elevated for a while, as the Bank of England seeks to squeeze 
inflation out of the economy, whilst the government is providing a package of fiscal 
loosening to try to protect households and businesses from the ravages of ultra-high 
wholesale gas and electricity prices. 

 
24. The increase in PWLB rates reflects a broad sell-off in sovereign bonds internationally 

but more so the disaffection investors have with the position of the UK public finances 
after September’s ‘fiscal event’.  To that end, the MPC has tightened short-term 
interest rates with a view to trying to slow the economy sufficiently to keep the 
secondary effects of inflation – as measured by wage rises – under control, but its job 
is that much harder now. 

 
25. Our PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the standard rate 

minus 20bps).’ 
 

 
 

 

Page 61



 

 
 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

26. There are no climate or ecological implications arising from this report. As a 
responsible investor, the Council is committed to considering environmental, 
social, and governance (ESG) issues, and has a particular interest in taking 
action against climate change and pursuing activities that have a positive social 
impact. 
 

27. As opportunities to support the climate ambitions of the Council arise, they will be 
considered. However, the treasury management function is controlled by statute 
and by professional guidelines and the first priorities of treasury must remain 
security, liquidity, and yield. 

 

Financial Implications 

28. These are covered in the body of the report. 
 
Legal implications 

29. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this 
report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the councils’ investments are, and will continue to be, within their legal 
powers. 

 
Conclusion 

30. This report provides details of the treasury management activities for the period 1 April 
2022 to 30 September 2022 and the mid-year prudential indicators to each respective 
council.  
 

31. This report also provides the monitoring information for joint audit and governance 
committee to fulfil its role of scrutinising treasury management activity at each council. 

 
Background papers 

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 

 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018 

 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments in 
commercial properties 

 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018 

 Statutory investment guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local 
authorities) 

 Statutory MRP guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local 
authorities) 

 Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2022/23 (South Oxfordshire & Vale of 
White Horse, February 2022) 

 
Appendices 

A1 – SODC List of investments as at 30 September 2022 
A2 – VWHDC List of investments as at 30 September 2022 

Page 62



 

 
 

A3 – SODC Performance against benchmark 
A4 – VWHDC Performance against benchmark 
B1 – SODC Prudential Indicators 
B2 – VWHDC Prudential Indicators 
C1 – Note on Prudential Indicators 

Page 63



Appendix A1/2 

A2 – 1 

 

South Oxfordshire 
 

Deposits as at 30 September 2022           

            

  Deposit   Start Maturity   

Counterparty Type Principal 
Date Date 

Rate 
(%) 

Principality Building Society Fixed 3,000,000 14/10/2021 14/10/2022 0.23% 

Progressive Building Society Fixed 1,000,000 21/10/2021 21/10/2022 0.35% 

Progressive Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 29/10/2021 28/10/2022 0.35% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 4,000,000 29/10/2021 28/10/2022 0.82% 

Saffron Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 02/11/2021 02/11/2022 0.35% 

Saffron Building Society Fixed 1,000,000 05/11/2021 04/11/2022 0.35% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 3,000,000 05/11/2021 04/11/2022 0.50% 

Skipton Building Society Fixed 3,000,000 15/11/2021 15/11/2022 0.20% 

Furness Building Society Fixed 3,000,000 19/11/2021 18/11/2022 0.50% 

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed 1,000,000 26/11/2021 25/11/2022 0.40% 

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 4,000,000 29/11/2021 28/11/2022 0.28% 

Saffron Building Society Fixed 3,000,000 10/12/2021 09/12/2022 0.40% 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed 3,000,000 17/12/2021 16/12/2022 0.18% 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed 4,000,000 04/01/2022 03/01/2023 0.20% 

Skipton Building Society Fixed 4,000,000 04/01/2022 04/01/2023 0.25% 

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 17/01/2022 16/01/2023 0.55% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 3,500,000 18/01/2022 17/01/2023 0.38% 

Cumberland Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 26/01/2022 26/01/2023 0.62% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 5,000,000 22/02/2022 21/02/2023 1.72% 

Wokingham BC Fixed 5,000,000 10/03/2022 09/03/2023 1.10% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 23/03/2022 23/03/2023 1.23% 

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 23/03/2022 23/03/2023 1.15% 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed 3,000,000 08/04/2022 16/04/2023 0.28% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 5,000,000 19/04/2022 18/04/2023 0.75% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 1,000,000 29/04/2022 28/04/2023 1.63% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000 29/04/2022 28/04/2023 0.75% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 5,000,000 20/05/2022 19/05/2023 0.75% 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Fixed 5,000,000 27/06/2022 26/06/2023 0.50% 

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 08/08/2022 08/11/2022 1.65% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 08/08/2022 08/11/2022 1.65% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 1,500,000 09/05/2022 09/11/2022 1.75% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 15/08/2022 15/11/2022 1.75% 

Furness Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 18/08/2022 18/11/2022 1.75% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 3,500,000 22/08/2022 22/11/2022 2.04% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 26/08/2022 28/11/2022 2.00% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 2,000,000 26/08/2022 28/11/2022 2.00% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 4,000,000 01/09/2022 01/09/2023 4.05% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 2,000,000 13/09/2022 12/09/2023 4.04% 

Uttlesford District Council Fixed 7,000,000 13/09/2022 12/09/2023 3.00% 

National Bank of Kuwait Fixed 3,000,000 15/09/2022 15/09/2023 4.15% 

London Borough of Haringey Fixed 5,000,000 27/09/2022 26/09/2023 3.00% 

Santander Call 410,170        

Royal Bank of Scotland Call 98,866     

Goldman Sachs MMF 12,625,000     

Blackrock MMF 240,000     

Total short term investments (<1 yr) 135,874,036        

 
 
 

Page 64



Appendix A1/2 

A2 – 1 

 
 
South Oxfordshire Continued 
 

Investments as at 30 September 2022         

            

  Deposit   Start Maturity   

Counterparty Type Principal 
Date Date 

Rate 
(%) 

Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed 2,000,000 18/02/2019 20/02/2023 2.46% 

Places for People Fixed 5,000,000 15/03/2021 15/03/2023 1.00% 

Places for People Fixed 5,000,000 01/04/2021 03/04/2023 1.00% 

Places for People Fixed 2,000,000 10/05/2021 10/05/2023 1.00% 

Places for People Fixed 3,000,000 25/06/2021 23/06/2023 1.00% 

Gravesham Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000 30/11/2021 24/04/2024 0.30% 

Gravesham Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000 31/03/2022 31/03/2027 0.75% 

London Boro’ - Barking & Dagenham   Fixed 5,000,000 14/04/2022 14/04/2025 0.30% 

Total long term cash deposits (>1 yr) 28,000,000        

        

CCLA Property Fund   7,602,919        

L&G Unit Trust  12,424,595      

Total lnvestments   183,901,550        

 
 
Returns shown represent prevailing rates at end Q2 2022. 
Above figures exclude SOHA loan 

  

Page 65



Appendix A1/2 

A2 – 1 

 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 
 

Deposits as at 30 September 2022           

            

  Deposit   Start Maturity   

Counterparty Type Principal 
Date Date 

Rate 
(%) 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 5,000,000  27/09/2021 26/09/2022 0.20% 

Saffron Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  01/10/2021 30/09/2022 0.20% 

Cambridge Building Society Fixed 2,000,000  01/10/2021 30/09/2022 0.25% 

Furness Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  29/10/2021 28/10/2022 0.30% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 3,000,000  04/11/2021 03/11/2022 0.91% 

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed 2,000,000  05/08/2022 07/11/2022 1.65% 

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 3,500,000  11/08/2022 11/11/2022 1.71% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  15/08/2022 15/11/2022 1.85% 

Metropolitan Housing Trust Ltd Fixed 3,000,000  16/11/2020 16/11/2022 1.10% 

Cambridge Building Society Fixed 1,000,000  17/08/2022 17/11/2022 1.85% 

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 2,500,000  29/11/2021 28/11/2022 0.36% 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Fixed 5,000,000  26/08/2022 28/11/2022 1.62% 

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  07/12/2021 06/12/2022 0.38% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 2,000,000  13/12/2021 12/12/2022 0.38% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 5,000,000  28/01/2022 28/12/2022 1.09% 

Progressive Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  04/01/2022 03/01/2023 0.35% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000  04/01/2022 03/01/2023 0.25% 

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed 3,000,000  21/01/2022 20/01/2023 0.90% 

Cumberland Building Society Fixed 2,000,000  26/01/2022 25/01/2023 0.62% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 3,000,000  16/02/2022 15/02/2023 1.68% 

Blackpool Council Fixed 4,000,000  22/02/2022 23/01/2023 0.40% 

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 2,000,000  01/03/2021 01/03/2023 0.37% 

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed 2,000,000  07/03/2022 06/03/2023 1.50% 

Nat Bank of Kuwait International Fixed 5,000,000  14/03/2022 13/03/2023 1.65% 

Southern Housing Group Fixed 5,000,000  19/03/2021 20/03/2023 1.00% 

Thurrock Borough Council Fixed 2,000,000  24/03/2022 23/03/2023 1.17% 

Newcastle Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  09/06/2022 08/06/2023 1.65% 

Furness Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  24/06/2022 23/06/2023 2.50% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 1,000,000  24/06/2022 23/06/2023 2.40% 

Nat Bank of Kuwait International Fixed 5,000,000  29/06/2022 28/06/2023 2.88% 

Newcastle Building Society Fixed 2,500,000  30/06/2022 29/06/2023 2.10% 

Progressive Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  06/07/2022 05/07/2023 2.40% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 1,000,000  25/07/2022 24/07/2023 2.45% 

Saffron Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  01/09/2022 31/08/2023 2.75% 

National Counties Building Society Fixed 1,000,000  08/09/2022 07/09/2023 2.98% 

Principality Building Society Fixed 3,000,000  08/09/2022 07/09/2023 2.98% 

Goldman Sachs Money Market Fund MMF 4,590,000    1.670% 

LGIM Money Market Fund MMF 14,000,000    1.670% 

Total short-term investments (<1 yr) 124,090,000        

 
 
 

 

 

 
Page 66



Appendix A1/2 

A2 – 1 

Vale of White Horse continued 
 

Investments as at 30 September 2022         

            

  Deposit   Start Maturity   

Counterparty Type Principal Date Date Rate (%) 

Yorkshire Housing Ltd Fixed 5,000,000  29/04/2021 28/04/2023 1.00% 

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed 2,000,000  17/06/2021 16/06/2023 1.00% 

Gravesham Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000  28/10/2021 24/04/2024 0.30% 

Rotherham MBC Fixed 5,000,000  25/06/2021 25/06/2024 escalator 

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed 1,000,000  29/10/2021 27/10/2023 1.00% 

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed 2,000,000  21/02/2022 21/02/2024 1.00% 

Kirklees Council Fixed 5,000,000  18/03/2022 18/03/2025 0.80% 

LB Barking & Dagenham Fixed 5,000,000  14/04/2022 14/04/2025 escalator 

Gravesham Borough Council Fixed 3,000,000  16/05/2022 17/05/2027 escalator 

Total long term cash deposits (>1 yr) 31,000,000        

        

CCLA Property Fund   2,000,000        

        

Total lnvestments   157,090,000        

 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 67



Appendix A3 

A3 – 1 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

Investment returns achieved against benchmark     

    
Benchmark 

Return 
Actual 
Return 

Growth 
(Below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks 

            

Bank & Building Society deposits - 
internally managed (6mths to 30/09)   1.70% 1.19% (0.51)% 3 Month SONIA 

L&G UK Index Trust (12mths to 30/09)   -4.41% -4.35% 0.06% 
 

FTSE All Shares Index 

            

 Fixed rate deposits arranged prior to the start of the financial year achieved prevailing 
market rates at the time of arrangement, which were lower than the market rates 
available during the first half of 2022-23. Following rises in the base rate during the 
period some new deposits achieved returns above benchmark, however existing 
unmatured loans caused a below average benchmark return for the in-house portfolio. 

CCLA 

 

 

 The CCLA investment is a long-term holding.  The above table shows the performance of 
the fund as a whole and the longer term performance should be used as a guide to 
returns achievable in the medium term. 

 South invested £5 million into the fund at inception and in the first six months of 2022/23, 
earned dividends of £136,806.46. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annualised total return performance       

Performance to 30 September 2022 1 year 3 years 5 years 

The local authorities property fund 14.59% 8.80% 7.69% 

Benchmark - IPD property index 13.30% 7.56% 6.97% 

Page 68



Appendix A4 

2 
 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

Investment returns achieved against benchmark     
  Benchmark 

return 
Actual return Growth 

(below)/above 
benchmark 

Benchmarks 

 
Internally managed - Bank & Building 
Society deposits (6mths to 30/09) 

1.70% 1.04% (0.66)% 
 

3-month SONIA 

          

 Fixed rate deposits arranged prior to the start of the financial year achieved 
prevailing market rates at the time of arrangement, which were lower than the 
market rates available during the first half of 2022-23. Following rises in the base 
rate during the period some new deposits achieved returns above benchmark, 
however existing unmatured loans caused a below average benchmark return for 
the in-house portfolio. 

CCLA 

 

 

 

 The CCLA investment is a long-term holding.  The above table shows the 
performance of the fund as a whole and the longer-term performance should be 
used as a guide to returns achievable in the medium term. 

 Vale invested £2 million into the fund at inception, and in the first six months of 
2022/23 earned dividends of £54,727.49. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annualised total return performance       

Performance to 30 September 2022 1 year 3 years 5 years 

The local authorities property fund 14.59% 8.80% 7.69% 

Benchmark - IPD property index 13.30% 7.56% 6.97% 

Page 69



Appendix B1 

B1 - 1 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council 
 

 

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2022     

   2022/23 Actual as at 

   

Original 
Estimate 30-Sep 

Debt  £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt     

Borrowing  30 0 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 

   30 0 

Operational boundary for external debt     

Borrowing  25 0 

Other long-term liabilities  0 0 

   25 0 

Interest rate exposures     

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 0 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 0 

      

Investments     

Interest rate exposures     

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 82% 

Limits on variable interest rates  50 33.4 

      

Principal sums invested > 364 days     

Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days  70 28 

        

Page 70



Appendix B2 

B2 - 1 

 
 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 
 

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2022      

    2020/21 Actual as at 

   

Original 
estimate 30-Sep 

   £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt     

Borrowing  30 0 

Other long-term liabilities  5 0 

   35 0 

Operational boundary for external debt     

Borrowing  25 0 

Other long-term liabilities  5 0 

   30 0 

Interest rate exposures     

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 0 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 0 

      

Investments     

Interest rate exposures     

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 87% 

Limits on variable interest rates  100 20.59 

      

Principal sums invested > 364 days     

Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days  45 31 

        

 

 

 

Page 71



Appendix C1 

C1 - 1 

Prudential indicators – explanatory note 

Debt 

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with 
approved treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based 
on estimates of most likely, but not worst-case scenario.   

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash 
flows.   

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position. 

Interest rate exposures 

The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable 
rate of interest. 

Investments 

Interest rate exposure 

The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the 
net position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding. 

Principal sums invested 

This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days. 

 

Page 72



 
 

Treasury Management and Investment 

Strategy 2023/24  

Recommendations 
 
That Joint Audit and Governance Committee approves each of the following key 
elements of this report, and recommends these to Cabinet: 

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2023/24 set out in 
appendix A to 
this report; 

2. To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2023/24 to 2025/26 as 
set out in, appendix A. 

3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2023/24 set out in appendix A, 
and the lending criteria detailed in table 6.  

That Cabinet considers any comments from committee and recommends Council to 
approve report. 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 

2023/24. This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support financing of 
capital investment decisions, and how treasury management operates day to 

Report to: 

 

Joint Audit and Governance Committee 

Cabinet 

Council 

Report of Head of Finance  

Author: Donna Ross 

Telephone:  07917 088335 

E-mail: donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk 

Cabinet member responsible:  Councillor Andrew Crawford 

Telephone: 01235 772134 

Email:  andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

 

To: JOINT AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE on               31 January 2023 
 CABINET on                     03 February 2023 
 COUNCIL on                     15 February 2023 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10

mailto:donna.ross@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 
 

day. It sets out the limitations on treasury management activity informed by the 
prudential indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate.  

2. The strategy is included as appendix A to the report. This report includes the 
three elements required by legislation as follows: 
 

 The prudential and Treasury indicators required by the CIPFA Prudential 
Code 2021 for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA TM code of 
Practice 2021; 

 

 The annual investment strategy. This sets out the council’s criteria for 
selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its 
investments. 

 

 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy statement, 
(appendix A, paragraphs 15-18). 

 
It is a requirement of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2021 
that this report is approved by full Council on an annual basis. 

 
Strategic objectives 
 
3. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury 

management strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver 
its services and meet the council’s strategic objectives. 

 
Background 
 
4. Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s 

investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

5. The primary function of the treasury management service is to manage cashflow 
and ensure cash is available when needed.  Surplus monies are deposited with 
low-risk counterparties and financial instruments with adequate liquidity to fund 
expenditure commitments.   

 
6. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury 

management. The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of 
the council and informs long-term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can 
meet its capital spending obligations. All expenditure of a capital nature is 
managed through the council’s capital programme and is not covered by this 
report.  

 
7. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s 

policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments. It also includes the prudential 
indicators for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital 
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 

Page 74



 
 

8. The council’s treasury management strategy 2023/24 is attached in 
appendix A. Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical 
content of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with 
associated guidance, technical in parts. A glossary of terms in appendix G should 
aid members understanding of some technical terms used in the report. 

 

Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy 
 
9. Council approved the 2022/23 treasury management strategy on 16 February 

2022. The proposed strategy for 2023/24 includes the changes detailed below, 
which cabinet is asked to recommend to council. 
 

Counterparty limits 
 
10. Amendments to the individual maximum counterparty limits for the higher credit 

rated counterparties 
 

 an increase to the counterparty limits for LVNAV & VNAV Money Market 
Funds to £30 million, 

 an increase to the specified instruments counterparty limit for banks and 
building societies with a minimum F1, A- credit rating from £10 million to 
£15 million, 

 an increase to the non-specified instruments counterparty limit for 
institutions with a minimum credit rating of F1+, AA- from £10 million to £15 
million. 

 
11. Amendments to the minimum lending criteria 

 

 An increase in the minimum asset value criteria for non-rated building 
societies from assets over £1 billion to assets over £2 billion. 

 
Financial implications and risk assessment 
 
12. This report and all associated policies and strategies set out clearly the 

parameters the council must work within. It is important that the council follows 
the approved treasury management strategy which is designed to help protect 
the council’s finances by managing its risk exposure. 
 

13. Link Group has provided a counterparty methodology, but given the council’s 
balances, we have expanded on this methodology to include additional building 
societies to ensure a diversified portfolio. 
  

14. At the time of writing the Bank of England base rate is currently 3.5 per cent.  The 
Bank of England increased the rate by 0.5 per cent from 3.0 per cent on 14 
December 2022 to help control the rise in inflation.  This was the ninth 
consecutive hike since December 2021 and the highest rate for 14 years. 
 

15. Link Group’s latest base rate forecast anticipates that the next bank base rate 
rise will be before the beginning of the 2023/24 financial year.  Table 1 below 

Page 75



 
 

gives an estimate of the investment income achievable for the council next five 
years. 

 
 

 
 
16. The 2023/24 budget setting report and medium-term financial plan will take into 

account the latest projections of anticipated investment income.  
 

Climate and ecological impact implications 
 
17. There are no climate or ecological implications arising from this report.  As a 

responsible investor, the Council is committed to considering environmental, 
social, and governance (ESG) issues, and has a particular interest in taking 
action against climate change and pursuing activities that have a positive social 
impact.  
 

18. As opportunities to support the climate ambitions of the Council arise, they will be 
considered.   However, the treasury management function is controlled by statute 
and by professional guidelines and the first priorities of treasury must remain 
security, liquidity, and yield.   
 

Legal implications 
 
19. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in 

this report. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services, the CLG Local Government Investment 
Guidance provides assurance that the council’s investments are, and will 
continue to be, within its legal powers. 

 
20. The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy 

and annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 
2003 (the Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under 
Section 15(1) (a) Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance. 

 
Conclusion 
 
21. This report introduces the treasury management strategy and the annual 

investment strategy for 2023/24 which are appended to this report, together with 
the prudential indicators for approval to council. These documents provide the 
parameters within which the council’s treasury management function will operate. 

 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Forecast as at December 2021 33329 2695 1811 1462 1337 

Page 76



 
 

 
 
Background papers 

 

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2021 

 CIPFA Prudential Code 2021 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2021 

 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments 
in commercial properties 

 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018 

 Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd Edition)  
Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision  

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
Appendix B Economic Background 
Appendix C Risk and performance benchmarking 
Appendix D Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Appendix E TMP1 extract 
Appendix F Extension to the responsibilities of the S151 officer 
Appendix G Glossary of terms 
  

Page 77



 
 

Appendix A 

Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The primary function of the treasury management service is to ensure the 

council’s cash flow is adequately managed, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity 
initially before considering investment return. The second main function of the 
treasury management service is the funding of the council’s capital plans.   

 
2. Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 

treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, 
(arising usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day 
treasury management activities. 

 
3. CIPFA defines treasury management as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
4. Revised reporting was required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of 

the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) (formerly 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG)) Investment 
Guidance, and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code and the 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes included the 
introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital 
plans, and greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity 
undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is reported 
separately. 

  

Treasury Management Reporting 

5. The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three 
main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, 
estimates and actuals.   

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The 
first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: 

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and 
borrowings are managed), including treasury indicators; and  

Page 78



 
 

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

b) A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report 
and will update members on the mid-year treasury performance, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision. 

c) An annual treasury report – This report reviews performance for the previous 
financial year and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates 
within the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny 

6. The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee. 

 

Quarterly reports 

7. In addition to the three major reports detailed above, from 2023/24 quarterly 
reporting (end of June/end of December) is also required.  However, these 
additional reports do not have to be reported to Full Council but do require to be 
adequately scrutinised. 

 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 

8. The strategy for 2023/24 covers two main areas: 

 

Capital issues 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury Management issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 the policy on use of external service providers. 

 

Page 79



 
 

9. These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, (the 
Act) the CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 
Councillor and Officer Training 
 

10. The CIPFA Code requires the Head of Finance to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. The 
training needs of treasury management officers and councillors will be reviewed, 
and further training will be arranged as required.  

 

 
Treasury Management Consultants 
 

11. The Council uses Link Group, Link Treasury Services Limited, as its external 
treasury management advisors. 

 
12. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

always remains with the organisation and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon the services of external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, 
treasury advisory services. 

 
13. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills, knowledge 
and resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and 
the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented and subjected to regular review.  

 
Capital Prudential Indicators 
 

14. The Council’s capital expenditure plans (as detailed in the council’s capital 
programme) are a key driver of treasury management activity. The output of the 
capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 
 

 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 2023/24 
 

15. The council’s current 2023/24 capital programme will primarily be financed from 
internal resources and external funding. If borrowing is undertaken, then the 
council will be required by statute to set aside funds in the annual revenue 
budget to amortise the principal element of any borrowing – this is the MRP. 
There will also be a requirement to set aside revenue budget for the interest 
payments on any borrowing raised. Loans will generally be taken over the life of 
the assets being financed and amortised accordingly. 

 

Page 80



 
 

16. The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before 
the start of the year to which it relates. Any in-year changes must also be 
submitted to the council for approval. 

 
17. A variety of options are provided to councils for the calculation of MRP. The 

council has chosen the “asset life method” as being most appropriate. Using this 
method MRP will be based on the estimated life of the asset, in accordance with 
the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised 
under a Capitalisation Direction). Repayments included in annual PFI or finance 
leases are applied as MRP. 

 
18. Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil. This will remain the case unless 

capital expenditure is financed by external or internal borrowing.  The Head of 
Finance will determine the most appropriate repayment method, term of 
borrowing and duration of borrowing. As a general illustration, Table 2 below 
gives an example of the annual revenue costs associated with borrowing an 
amount of £2.5 million over a 50 year period, based on the current district tax 
base of 56,665 Band D equivalents. 

 
 
 

  
 

Prospects for Interest Rates 

19. The council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link 
provided the following forecasts on December 19 2022.  These are forecasts for 
certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps. 

  

Loan Amount £2,500,000

Loan Duration 50 Years

PWLB Interest 4.18%

2023/24 Tax Base 56,665       

£ £ per Band D

MRP Element £50,000 0.88

Annual Interest Cost £104,375 1.84

Total £154,375 2.72

Table 2: Example MRP and interest calculation

Page 81



 
 

Table 2: Interest Rate Forecasts 

 

 
 
Economic Background – Provided by Link 

“Our central forecast for interest rates was updated on 19 December and reflected a 
view that the MPC would be keen to further demonstrate its anti-inflation credentials 
by delivering a succession of rate increases.  Bank Rate stands at 3.5% currently but 
is expected to reach a peak of 4.5% in H1 2023. 

Further down the road, we anticipate the Bank of England will be keen to loosen 
monetary policy when the worst of the inflationary pressures are behind us – but that 
timing will be one of fine judgment: cut too soon, and inflationary pressures may well 
build up further; cut too late and any downturn or recession may be prolonged. 

The CPI measure of inflation looks to have peaked at 11.1% in Q4 2022 (currently 
10.7%).  Despite the cost-of-living squeeze that is still taking shape, the Bank will want 
to see evidence that wages are not spiralling upwards in what is evidently a very tight 
labour market. 

Regarding the plan to sell £10bn of gilts back into the market each quarter 
(Quantitative Tightening), this has started and will focus on the short, medium and 
longer end of the curve in equal measure, now that the short-lived effects of the 
Truss/Kwarteng unfunded dash for growth policy are firmly in the rear-view mirror. 

In the upcoming months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data 
releases and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the 
Government over its fiscal policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and 
Ukraine.  (More recently, the heightened tensions between China/Taiwan/US also 
have the potential to have a wider and negative economic impact.) 

On the positive side, consumers are still estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of 
excess savings left over from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact of 
the above challenges.   However, most of those are held by more affluent people 
whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their income on essentials 
such as food, energy and rent/mortgage payments.  

 

PWLB RATES 

 The yield curve movements have become less volatile of late and PWLB 5 to 
50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, in the range of 4.10% to 4.80%.   

 We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt 
yields of the likely increases in Bank Rate and the elevated inflation outlook.  

Page 82



 
 

 
The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is to the downside. 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include:  
 

 Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and 
depress economic activity (accepting that in the near-term this is also an upside 
risk to inflation and, thus, rising gilt yields). 

 

 The Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next year to raise 
Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be 
weaker than we currently anticipate.  
 

 UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and 
financial services due to complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out 
significant remaining issues.  

 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, China/Taiwan/US, Iran, 
North Korea and Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe-
haven flows.  
 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 
 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank 
Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly and 
for a longer period within the UK economy, which then necessitates Bank Rate 
staying higher for longer than we currently project or even necessitates a further 
series of increases in Bank Rate. 
 

 The Government acts too quickly to cut taxes and/or increases expenditure in 
light of the cost-of-living squeeze. 
 

 The pound weakens because of a lack of confidence in the UK Government’s 
fiscal policies, resulting in investors pricing in a risk premium for holding UK 
sovereign debt. 
 

 Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than 
currently forecast. 
 

 Projected gilt issuance, inclusive of natural maturities and QT, could be too 
much for the markets to comfortably digest without higher yields consequently.” 
 

 

Treasury Limits for 2023/24 to 2025/26 
 

20. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for 
the council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to 

Page 83



 
 

borrow. The amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. 
The Authorised Limit is the legislative limit specified in the Act. 

 
21. The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the 

Authorised Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital 
expenditure remains within sustainable limits and that the impact upon its future 
council tax is ‘acceptable’.  The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the 
forthcoming financial year and two successive financial years. 

 
22. The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the overall 

capital investment and treasury management functions. There are specific 
treasury activity limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury function 
in order to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in 
interest rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive, they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  

 
23. The limits are set out in table 3 below.  The graph below the table shows the 

council’s liability benchmark which is also required to be calculated.  Cabinet is 
asked to recommend council to approve the limits: 

 
  

Page 84



 
 

Table 3: Prudential indicators           

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

    Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate 

    £m £m £m £m 

Debt       

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 30 30 30 

Other long-term liabilities  5 5 5 5 

   35 35 35 35 

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 25 25 25 

Other long-term liabilities    5   5   5   5 

   30 30  30 30 

Interest rate exposures       

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 
        

Investments       

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates  50 100 100 100 
        

Principal sums invested > 364 days       

Upper limit for principal sums invested 
>364 days  40 50 50 50 

            

 

-£140,000

-£120,000

-£100,000

-£80,000

-£60,000

-£40,000

-£20,000

£0

£20,000

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

T
o

ta
l 
A

m
o

u
n

t 
(£

'0
0

0
)

Liability Benchmark

PWLB Loans Market Loans (excl LOBO loans)
LOBO Loans Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)
Variable rate loans Existing Loan Debt Outstanding
Net Loans Requirement (forecast net loan debt) Loans CFR
Liability Benchmark (Gross Loans Requirement)

 

Page 85



 
 

 
Current position 
 

24. The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 30 November 2022 was as 
follows: 

 

 
 
Note: £162 million does not represent uncommitted resource the council has at its 
disposal. This amount includes council tax receipts held prior to forwarding to 
Oxfordshire County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner for the Thames 
Valley, business rate receipts prior to payment to the government and committed 
capital and revenue balances. Details of the council’s uncommitted balances are 
provided in the annual budget and council tax setting report. 

 
25. The council currently holds all of its investments in the form of either cash 

deposits or a managed property fund (£2 million with CCLA), the majority of 
which have been placed for fixed terms with a fixed investment return. 

 
26. The council's considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and 

yield – in that order. Officers undertaking Treasury Management will work 
towards the optimum profile distribution. 

 

Investment performance for the year to 30 September 2022. 
 

27. The council’s budgeted investment return for 2022/23 is £0.5 million, and the 
actual interest received to date is shown as follows: 

 

 
   
 

Total

£000's

Call and notice accounts 0 0%

Money Market Funds 28,520 18%

Less than 6 months 54,000 33%

6 months to 1 year 54,500 34%

1 year + 23,000 14%

CCLA - Property Fund 2,000 1%

Total Investments 162,020 100%

% Holding

Table 4: maturity structure of investments:

Annual Actual Annual Forecast

Investment type Budget to date Forecast Variation

£000's £000's £000's £000's

405 652 1031 626

CCLA 84 55 100 16

Total interest 489 707 1131 642

Interest Earned

Fixed term and call cash 

Table 5: Investment interest earned by investment type

Page 86



 
 

Borrowing Strategy 2023/24 
 

28. The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 
borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, 
and the effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years. 
This council currently has no external debt and in general, the council will 
borrow for one of two purposes; 

 

 to support cash flow in the short-term; 

 to fund capital investment over the medium to long term. 
 

29. Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in 
the prudential indicators shown in Table 2, which allow for the council to borrow 
up to a maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose. This also allows short-
term borrowing for the cash flow management activities of the authority. 

 
30. The council’s current capital programme for 2023/24 will primarily be financed 

from internal resources and external funding. If borrowing is undertaken, then 
the council will be required by statute to set aside funds in the annual revenue 
budget to amortise the principal element of any borrowing – this is the MRP. 
There will also be a requirement to set aside revenue budget for the interest 
payments on any borrowing raised. Loans will generally be taken over the life of 
the assets being financed and amortised accordingly. 

 
31. Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the Head of 

Finance to be prudent, sustainable and affordable 
 

32. This strategy allows the Head of Finance to determine the most suitable 
repayment terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability 
in the medium-term financial plan if required. As a general rule, the term of any 
borrowing will not be longer than the expected life of the capital asset being 
created. 

 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 

33. The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow 
in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can 
be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

 

34. Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

 
Annual investment strategy 2023/24 
 

35. The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC – this was 
formerly the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Page 87



 
 

(MHCLG)) and CIPFA have extended their definition of ‘investments’ to include 
both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with 
financial investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-
financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are 
covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 

 

36. The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 
 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021   
 

37. The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 
and then yield, (return).  The council will aim to achieve, the optimum return 
(yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and 
liquidity and with regard to the council’s risk appetite. 

 
38. In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a 

degree of liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” 
investments for periods up to twelve months with high credit rated financial 
institutions, whilst investment rates remain elevated. 

 
39. The above guidance from DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 

management of risk.  This council has adopted a prudent approach to managing 
risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:- 

 
1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a 

list of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables 
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.  The key 
ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short-term and long-term 
ratings. 
 

2. Other Information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality 
of an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the 
financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate.  The 
assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets.  To achieve this consideration the council will 
engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such 
as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the 
credit ratings. 

 
3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share 

price and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in 
order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of 
potential investment counterparties. 

 
4. Deposits will only be placed with counterparties from countries that 

meet the minimum sovereign rating criteria. 

Page 88



 
 

 
5. The council will set a limit for its investments which are invested for 

more than 365 days. 
 

40. The council’s Head of Finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named 
institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating 
criteria (table 6) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit 
rating criteria to council for approval as necessary. 

 
Investment types 
 

41. The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These 
are split under the headings of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ in accordance with 
the statutory guidance. 

 
Specified investment instruments 
 

42. These are high credit quality, sterling investments of not more than one-year 
maturity, or those where the council has the right to be repaid within 12 months 
if it wishes. These would include sterling investments with: 

 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 

 UK government – treasury bills and Gilts with less than one year to maturity 

 Deposits with UK local authorities 

 Pooled investment vehicles (AAA rated) 

 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 

 
Non-specified investment instruments 
 

43. These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as 
specified, above). Examples of non-specified investments include any sterling 
investments with: 

 

 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years to maturity 

 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years 

 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion) 

 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A- rated) 

 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 5 years to maturity 

 Corporate bonds, Sovereign bonds, and covered bonds 

 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds 

 Diversified Income Funds 

 Multi-Asset Funds 

 Ultra-Dated/Short dated bond Funds 

 Non-UCITS Retail Schemes (NURS) 
 

Approach to investing 
 

Page 89



 
 

44. The council holds core cash balances which are available to invest for more 
than one year. This is expected to reduce over the medium term as the 
approved capital expenditure is incurred and to fund the revenue budget 
shortfall. 

 
45. In addition, the council has funds that are available to deposit on a temporary 

basis. These sums are held pending payment over to another body, for example 
precept payments and council tax. As the balances fluctuate on a daily basis, 
instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated 
deposits are normally utilised for these funds, to ensure funds are available to 
meet cash flow commitments. 

 
46. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 

requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates. Greater returns are 
usually obtainable by investing for longer periods.  While most cash balances 
are required to manage cash flow, where funds can be invested for longer 
periods, options will be carefully assessed. 

 
47. If it is anticipated that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly consideration will 

be given to keeping new deposits short term or variable.  Conversely, if it is 
thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within an investment time horizon, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for 
longer periods. 

 
48. Officers will continue to provide tight controls on the investments placed.  Where 

possible, opportunities to spread the investment risk over different types of 
instruments will be considered. 

 
49. Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is 

unable to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it may 
make use of the UK Government deposit account (DMADF). 

 
50. The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates. 

Whilst investments with other local authorities are considered to be supported 
by central government, officers will consider the financial viability and 
sustainability of the individual local authority before including it on the councils 
list of approved counterparties. 

 
51. During 2021 the council commissioned a review and health check of its treasury 

management activities.  The assessment, which was undertaken by Link Group, 
considered the market conditions in which the council was operating, compared 
activity with other local authorities and considered the council’s financial position 
and forecasts. 

 
52. Following an evaluation of the suitability of investment options available, the 

council’s strategy for 2022-23 included an intention to engage Link Group to 
support a fund selection exercise.  However, the unanticipated change in 
market conditions, following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, rising inflation, 
western economies moving into recession, and central banks raising interest 
rates has resulted in a suspension of the fund selection exercise during 2022-

Page 90



 
 

23.  Officers will continue to liaise with the council’s treasury advisors and will 
reconsider starting a selection exercise during 2023-24, if it is considered in the 
council’s best interest. 

 
Counterparty selection 
 

53. Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council. To 
minimise this risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering 
who to lend to. Link Group provide the council with credit rating updates from all 
three ratings agencies – Standard & Poors, Fitch and Moodys. 

 
54. The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest 

rating from all three rating agencies in evaluating investment opportunity. This is 
because adopting this approach could leave the council with too few 
counterparties for the strategy to be workable. Instead, whilst the council will 
have regard to the ratings provided by all three rating agencies, Fitch ratings will 
be used as the basis for setting minimum credit criteria and deriving 
counterparty investment limits. 

 
55. Where counterparties fail to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 6 below) 

they will be omitted from the counterparty list. Any rating changes and rating 
watches (notification of a rating change under consideration) are provided to 
officers almost immediately after they occur, and this information is considered 
before any deal is entered into. Market movements may result in a downgrade 
of an institution or removal from the council’s lending list. 

 
56. Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code require 

the council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market 
information such as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, 
which are considered when assessing the security of counterparties. This 
additional information is used so that the council does not rely solely on current 
credit ratings of counterparties. 

 
57. Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees 

provided by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions 
covered by such guarantees. Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to 
consultation with the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance. 

 
Country and sector considerations 
 

58. The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside 
the UK from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch 
Ratings. This is in line with the current Fitch Sovereign rating for the UK.  This is 
to enable deposits to be placed with foreign financial institutions with higher, or 
equivalent credit ratings to UK banks on the approved counterparty list. 

 
59. The three major credit rating agencies have placed the UK Sovereign debt 

rating on Negative Outlook, the outcome of the rating agency reviews is 
unknown at present, but it is possible that the UK Sovereign rating could be 

Page 91



 
 

downgraded. When setting minimum Sovereign debt ratings, the council will not 
set a minimum rating for the UK. 

 
Counterparty limits 
 

60. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations, it is expected that 
both specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of 
liquidity.  Guidance states that specified investments are those requiring 
“minimal procedural formalities”. The placing of cash on deposit with banks and 
building societies ‘awarded high credit ratings by a credit rating agency’, the use 
of Money Market Funds (MMFs) and investments with the UK Government and 
local authorities qualify as falling under this category and form a normal part of 
day to day treasury management activity.  

 
61. All specified investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to a 

maximum of 1 year, meeting the ‘high’ credit rating criteria where applicable. 
 

62. Non-specified investments which would be specified investments apart from 
originally being for a period longer than 12 months, will be classified as being 
specified once the remaining period to maturity falls to under 12 months. 

 
63. Non-specified investment products are those which take on greater risk. They 

are subject to greater scrutiny and include all longer term instruments (greater 
than one year from inception to repayment). The council will lend to institutions 
that meet the criteria outlined in table 6 below: 

 
64. If the council’s banking services contract is held with a bank that fails to meet 

the minimum credit criteria for banks in the specified or non-specified 
investment categories, the house bank limit will apply.  In this instance balances 
will be minimised as far as possible.  Standard bank limits will apply where the 
house bank meets the minimum credit rating criteria. 

 
65. The operation of some building societies does not require a credit rating, 

although in every other respect the security of the society would match similarly 
sized societies with ratings. The council may use such building societies but will 
restrict their use to within the non-specified investments category limit for non-
rated building societies. Where a building society has a credit rating, the 
minimum credit rating criteria for rated financial institutions will apply. 

 
66. The counterparty limits apply at the time investments are arranged. Where the 

council has deposits on instant access, this limit may temporarily be exceeded 
by the accrual and application of interest or dividends into accounts such as call 
accounts, money market funds, or notice accounts.  Where the application of 
interest causes the balance with a counterparty to exceed the agreed limits, the 
balance will be reduced when appropriate, dependent upon the terms and 
conditions of the account and the cashflow position. 

 
67. The counterparty limits apply to the net cash value of units purchased and sold 

at the time of investment, or disinvestment, in pooled and managed funds.  The 

Page 92



 
 

limits will not apply to the value of accumulated or reinvested investment 
returns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 
 

 
 

68. The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to 
investment. Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 6, the 
Head of Finance may temporarily amend the operational criteria to further 
restrict investment activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit 

Table 6: Counterparty Limits

Individual

Counterparty

Limit

Specified Instruments

Term Deposits - UK Government

UK Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility

UK Government Treasury Bills

UK Government Gilts

Term Deposits - Other UK Local Authorities N/A N/A £20m

Term Deposits - Banks and Building Societies F1 A- £15m

Covered Bonds N/A A- £5m

Money Market Funds (CNAV) £30m Liquid

Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds £20m Liquid

Non-Specified Instruments

Term Deposits 1yr + - UK Government N/A N/A N/A 5 years 100%

Term Deposits 1yr + - Other UK Local Authorities N/A N/A £20m 5 years 100%

Banks - part nationalised UK N/A N/A £15m 3 years 100%

Institutions with a minimum rating:    F1+ AA- £15m 5 years 80%

Institutions with a minimum rating:  F1 A- £10m 2 years 80%

Institutions with a minimum rating: F2 BBB £5m 1 year 70%

Building Societies F2 BBB+ £7m 1 year 70%

Building societies assets >£2bn N/A N/A £6m 1 year 50%

Banks - house bank N/A N/A £5m 3 months 20%

Managed Funds

Money Market funds (LVNAV & VNAV) £30m Liquid 70%

Bond Funds £15m Variable 70%

Pooled property funds £10m Variable 15%

Non-UCITS Retail Scheme (NURS) £3m Variable 50%

Diversified Income Funds £3m Variable 10%

Multi - Asset Funds £3m Variable 10%

Equity Funds £3m Variable 10%

Tradable Instruments

UK Government Gilts with maturities over 1yr UK sovereign No limit 25 years 20%

Supranationals AAA £10m 10 years 50%

Corporate Bonds AA- £5m 5 years 40%

Covered Bonds maturities over 1yr AA- £5m 5 years 40%

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development banks AA- £5m 5 years 40%

Sovereign Bond Issues AA- £5m 5 years 40%

Maximum 

% of total 

investment

Minimum Fitch 

Long term 

Rating ( or 

Use of these instruments can be 

deemed capital expenditure.  The 

council will seek guidance on the 

status of any fund it may consider 

using.  Appropriate due diligence will 

also be undertaken before 

investment of this type is 

undertaken.

Minimum Fitch 

Short term 

Rating ( or 

Maximum 

maturity 

period

1
0
0
%

N/A

Fund Rating AAA

1
 y

e
a

r

Fund Rating AAA

Page 94



 
 

quality than the minimum criteria set out for approval and/or reduce maximum 
maturity limits. 

 
69. Delegation 2.7 of the council constitutions allows the Head of Finance, in 

consultation with the cabinet member for finance, to raise counterparty limits by 
£3,000,000 within a financial year if they consider it to be in the council’s best 
interest. 

 
Fund managers 
 

70. The council does not currently employ any discretionary external fund 
managers. However, in the event of such an appointment, appointees will 
comply with this and subsequent treasury strategies. This strategy empowers 
the Section 151 officer to appoint such an external manager to manage a 
proportion of the council’s investment portfolio if this is considered 
advantageous. 

 
Risk and Performance Benchmarks 
 

71. A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are 
considered and approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are 
used to assess performance. The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may 
be breached depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty 
criteria. Their purpose is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position 
and amend the operational strategy depending on any changes. Any breach of 
the benchmarks will be reported, with an explanation in the mid-year or annual 
report to audit and governance committee. Detailed information for the 
assessment of risk is shown in appendix C. 

 

72. Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function 
over the year. These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to 
the predominantly forward looking prudential indicators. The indicators used to 
assess the performance of the treasury function are: 

 

 Cash investments – 3-month compounded SONIA rate. 

 Property related investments – IPD Balance Property Unit Trust Index. 
 

73. The results of these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and 
year-end treasury reports. 

 
Policy on the use of treasury management advisors 

 
74. The council has a joint contract with South Oxfordshire District Council for 

treasury management advice, which is currently supplied by Link Group,.  A 
range of services are provided and include: 

 

 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory 
reports; 

 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis; 

Page 95



 
 

 credit ratings / market information service involving the three-main credit 
rating agencies; 

 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing 
strategies  and policy documents; 

 treasury management training. 
 

75. The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
always remains with the organisation and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in 
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to 
acquire access to specialist skills, resources and up to date market information. 

 
Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 
officer 
 

76. Council 
 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices 
and activities; 

 approval of annual strategy. 
 

77. Joint Audit and Governance Committee/ Cabinet  

 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices; 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations; 

 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function 

 
78. Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance  

 

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 
the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment.  

 

79. The above list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2021 
Treasury Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the 
changes in both codes, is a major extension of the functions of this role, 
especially in respect of non-financial investments, (which CIPFA has defined as 
being part of treasury management), (See Appendix G). 

Page 96



 
 

 
Summary 

 

80. Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the 
treasury management strategy. The strategy sets the parameters within which 
officers can manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus fund. 

 

81. This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets 
out the council’s lending strategy in response to this. 

  

Page 97



 
 

Appendix B  

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND – Provided by Link Group 

“Against a backdrop of stubborn inflationary pressures, the easing of Covid restrictions 
in most developed economies, the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and a range of 
different UK Government policies, it is no surprise that UK interest rates have been 
volatile right across the curve, from Bank Rate through to 50-year gilt yields, for all of 
2022. 

Market commentators’ misplaced optimism around inflation has been the root cause 
of the rout in the bond markets with, for example, UK, EZ and US 10-year yields all 
rising by over 200bps since the turn of the year.  The table below provides a snapshot 
of the conundrum facing central banks: inflation is elevated but labour markets are 
extra-ordinarily tight, making it an issue of fine judgment as to how far monetary policy 
needs to tighten.   

 

 UK Eurozone US 

Bank Rate 3.5% 2.0% 4.25%-4.50% 

GDP -0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.4%y/y) 

+0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.1%y/y) 

2.6% Q3 
Annualised 

Inflation 10.7%y/y (Nov) 10.1%y/y (Nov) 7.1%y/y (Nov) 

Unemployment 
Rate 

3.7% (Oct) 6.5% (Oct) 3.7% (Nov) 

 

Q2 of 2022 saw UK GDP revised upwards to +0.2% q/q, but this was quickly reversed 
in the third quarter, albeit some of the fall in GDP can be placed at the foot of the extra 
Bank Holiday in the wake of the Queen’s passing.  Nevertheless, CPI inflation has 
picked up to what should be a peak reading of 11.1% in October, although with further 
increases in the gas and electricity price caps pencilled in for April 2023, and the cap 
potentially rising from an average of £2,500 to £3,000 per household, there is still a 
possibility that inflation will spike higher again before dropping back slowly through 
2023.   

The UK unemployment rate fell to a 48-year low of 3.6%, and this despite a net 
migration increase of c500k.  The fact is that with many economic participants 
registered as long-term sick, the UK labour force actually shrunk by c500k in the year 
to June.  Without an increase in the labour force participation rate, it is hard to see 
how the UK economy will be able to grow its way to prosperity, and with average wage 
increases running at over 6% the MPC will be concerned that wage inflation will prove 
just as sticky as major supply-side shocks to food and energy that have endured since 
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 22nd February 2022. 

Throughout Q3 Bank Rate increased, finishing the quarter at 2.25% (an increase of 
1%).  Q4 has seen rates rise to 3.5% in December and the market expects Bank Rate 
to hit 4.5% by May 2023. 

Following a Conservative Party leadership contest, Liz Truss became Prime Minister 
for a tumultuous seven weeks that ran through September and October.   Put simply, 

Page 98



 
 

the markets did not like the unfunded tax-cutting and heavy spending policies put 
forward by her Chancellor, Kwasi Kwarteng, and their reign lasted barely seven weeks 
before being replaced by Prime Minister Rishi Sunak and Chancellor Jeremy Hunt.  
Their Autumn Statement of 17th November gave rise to a net £55bn fiscal tightening, 
although much of the “heavy lifting” has been left for the next Parliament to deliver.  
However, the markets liked what they heard, and UK gilt yields have almost completely 
reversed the increases seen under the previous tenants of No10/11 Downing Street. 

Globally, though, all the major economies are expected to struggle in the near term.  
The fall below 50 in the composite Purchasing Manager Indices for the UK, US, EZ 
and China all point to at least one, if not more, quarters of GDP contraction.  In 
November, the MPC projected eight quarters of negative growth for the UK lasting 
throughout 2023 and 2024, but with Bank Rate set to peak at lower levels than 
previously priced in by the markets and the fiscal tightening deferred to some extent, 
it is not clear that things will be as bad as first anticipated by the Bank.  

The £ has strengthened of late, recovering from a record low of $1.035, on the Monday 
following the Truss government’s “fiscal event”, to $1.22. Notwithstanding the £’s 
better run of late, 2023 is likely to see a housing correction of some magnitude as 
fixed-rate mortgages have moved above 5% and affordability has been squeezed 
despite proposed Stamp Duty cuts remaining in place. 

In the table below, the rise in gilt yields, and therein PWLB rates, through the first half 
of 2022/23 is clear to see. 

 

 

 

However, the peak in rates on 28th September as illustrated in the table covering April 
to September 2022 below, has been followed by the whole curve shifting lower.   
PWLB rates at the front end of the curve are generally over 1% lower now whilst the 
50 years is over 1.75% lower.  

1.40%

1.80%

2.20%

2.60%

3.00%

3.40%

3.80%

4.20%

4.60%

5.00%

5.40%

5.80%

PWLB Rates 1.4.22 - 30.9.22

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year target %

Page 99



 
 

 

After a shaky start to the year, the S&P 500 and FTSE 100 have climbed in recent 
weeks, albeit the former is still 17% down and the FTSE 2% up.  The German DAX is 
9% down for the year. 
 
CENTRAL BANK CONCERNS – DECEMBER 2022 
 
In December, the Fed decided to push up US rates by 0.5% to a range of 4.25% to 
4.5%, whilst the MPC followed by raising Bank Rate from 3% to 3.5%, in line with 
market expectations.  EZ rates have also increased to 2% with further tightening in the 
pipeline. 
 
Having said that, the sentiment expressed in the press conferences in the US and the 
UK were very different.  In the US, Fed Chair, Jerome Powell, stated that rates will be 
elevated and stay higher for longer than markets had expected.  Governor Bailey, here 
in the UK, said the opposite and explained that the two economies are positioned very 
differently so you should not, therefore, expect the same policy or messaging. 
 
Regarding UK market expectations, although they now expect Bank Rate to peak 
within a lower range of 4.5% - 4.75%, caution is advised as the Bank of England 
Quarterly Monetary Policy Reports have carried a dovish message over the course of 
the last year, only for the Bank to have to play catch-up as the inflationary data has 
proven stronger than expected. 
   
In addition, the Bank’s central message that GDP will fall for eight quarters starting 
with Q3 2022 may prove to be a little pessimistic.  Will the £160bn excess savings 
accumulated by households through the Covid lockdowns provide a spending buffer 
for the economy – at least to a degree?  Ultimately, however, it will not only be inflation 
data but also employment data that will mostly impact the decision-making process, 
although any softening in the interest rate outlook in the US may also have an effect 
(just as, conversely, greater tightening may also).” 
 
 
  

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25%

Date 01/04/2022 13/05/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022

High 5.11% 5.44% 5.35% 5.80% 5.51%

Date 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022

Average 2.81% 2.92% 3.13% 3.44% 3.17%

Spread 3.16% 3.26% 2.99% 3.28% 3.26%

Page 100



 
 

Appendix C 
 
Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, Liquidity and Yield in the Investment 
Service. 
 
1. These benchmarks are targets and so may be exceeded from time to time. Any 
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury 
Report. 
 
2. Yield.  
 
This council will use an investment benchmark to assess the performance of cash 
investments of three month SONIA.  Property related investments are benchmarked 
against the IPD Balanced Property Unit Trust Index. 
 
3. Liquidity.  
 
Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not excessive, cash 
resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities to enable it at all 
times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
of Practice). 
 
In respect of this area, the council shall seek to: 
 

 maintain a positive minimum balance in the council’s main bank account at 
the close of each working day and hold adequate balances for working capital 
in the councils call accounts, money market funds and investments available 
at short-term notice. 

 

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where there 
is clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital requirements at 
short notice 

 
5. Security of the investments.  
 
In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is very much more a subjective 
area to assess. Security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit 
quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of credit 
ratings supplied by the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s). Whilst this approach embodies security considerations, 
benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic.  
 
One method to benchmark security risk is to assess the historic level of default 
against the minimum criteria used in the Council’s investment strategy. The table 
beneath shows average defaults for differing periods of investment grade products 
for each Fitch long term rating category over the last 20-30 years. 
 
 
 

Page 101



 
 

 
 
Average defaults for differing periods of investment 
 

Long 
term rating  

1 year  2 years  3 years  4 years  5 years 

AA  0.02%  0.04% 0.09% 0.16% 0.23% 

A  0.05%  0.14%  0.26%  0.38%  0.54% 

BBB  0.14%  0.38%  0.66%  1.01%  1.36% 

 

6. The council’s minimum long term (i.e. plus 365 day duration) rating criteria is 
currently “A-”. For comparison, the average expectation of default for a two year 
investment in a counterparty with an “A” long term rating would be 0.14 per cent of 
the total investment (e.g. for a £1m investment the average loss would be £1,400). 
This is an average - any specific counterparty loss is likely to be higher. These 
figures act as a proxy benchmark for risk across the portfolio. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
 

Appendix D 
 

Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
Prudential borrowing permits local government organisations to borrow to fund 
capital spending plans provided they could demonstrate their affordability. Prudential 
indicators are the means to demonstrate affordability. 
 
Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external 
borrowing. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day 
operational management of cash flows. 
 
Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that 
may be required for day to day cash flow. 
 
Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the 
council flexibility in its investment and borrowing options. 
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 365 days – the amount it is 
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



 
 

Appendix E 

 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management 
 
The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the 
council’s policy below. 

The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to 
invest prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield. In order 
to facilitate this objective, the guidance requires this council to have regard to the 
CIPFA publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. In accordance with the code, the Interim Head of 
Finance has produced its treasury management practices (TMPs). This part, TMP1(1), 
covering investment counterparty policy requires approval each year 

 

The key requirements of both the Code and the investment guidance are to set an 
annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following 
year, covering the identification and approval of following: 
 

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments.  

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds 
can be committed. 

 specified investments that the Council will use. These are high security (i.e. 
high credit rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines 
are given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no 
more than a year. 

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying 
the general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall 
amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 
 
Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more 
than one-year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the 
Council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are 
considered low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment 
income is small.  These would include sterling investments which would not be 
defined as capital expenditure with: 
 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 

 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 

 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 

 Deposits with UK local authorities 

 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 

 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A-) 

Page 104



 
 

 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum 
rating as above) covers pooled investment vehicles, such as money market 
funds, rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and / or Fitch rating 
agencies. 
 

Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies. 
These criteria are as stated in table 6 to this report. 
 
Non-specified investments 
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above). The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and 
the maximum limits to be applied are as set out in Table 6. 
 
IFRS  9 
Risk management will need to take account of the 2018/19 Accounting Code of 
Practice proposals for the valuation of investments. Key considerations are: 
 

 Expected credit loss model. Whilst this should not be material for ordinary 
treasury investments such as bank deposits, this is likely to be challenging for 
some funds e.g. property funds, (and also for non-treasury management 
investments dealt with in the capital strategy e.g. longer dated service 
investments, loans to third parties or loans to subsidiaries). 

 The valuation of investments previously valued under the available for sale 
category e.g. equity related to the “commercialism” agenda, property funds, 
equity funds and similar, will be changed to Fair Value through the Profit and 
Loss (FVPL).  

 
Following the consultation undertaken by the then Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government, [MHCLG], on IFRS9 the Government introduced a mandatory 
statutory override for local authorities to reverse out all unrealised fair value 
movements resulting from pooled investment funds. This was effective for five years 
to March 2023. In December 2022, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities announced an extension to the override for a further two years until 31 
March 2025.  Local authorities are required to disclose the net impact of the unrealised 
fair value movements in a separate unusable reserve throughout the duration of the 
override in order for the Government to keep the override under review and to maintain 
a form of transparency. 
 
 
  

Page 105



 
 

Appendix F 
 
Extension to the specific responsibilities of the S151 officer as per the 
Treasury Management code 
 

The below list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2021 Treasury 
Management Code is unchanged.  However, implicit in the changes in both codes, is 
a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-financial 
investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury management); 

 

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, 
non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term 
timeframe. 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 
prudent in the long term and provides value for money 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-
financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure 
on non-financial assets and their financing 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level 
of risk compared to its financial resources 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and 
long term liabilities 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial 
guarantees  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how 
non treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the 
following 

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

  
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 

including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;          

  
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 

including a statement of the governance requirements for decision 
making in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to 

Page 106



 
 

ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to 
support decision making; 

  
o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), 

including where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 
  
o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 

relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will 
be arranged. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



 
 

Appendix G 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Authorised Limit  
The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the 
financial year. 

Basis Point (BP)  1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 

Base Rate  Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 

Benchmark  
A measure against which the investment policy or performance of a 
fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange  A financial instrument financing trade. 

Callable Deposit  

A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time. However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre-agreed dates, before maturity. This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed. 
If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises, 
as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

Cash Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio of 
cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts and 
distribution of dividends and interest, and all other administrative 
work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date. They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore, the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers. Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although some 
may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond  

Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies. 
However, the term is used to cover all bonds other than those 
issued by governments in their own currencies and includes issues 
by companies, supranational organisations and government 
agencies. 

Counterparty  
Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

CDS  

Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit 
exposure of fixed income products between parties. The buyer of a 
credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of the 
swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product. By doing 
this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of the fixed 
income security to the seller of the swap. 

CFR  Capital Financing Requirement. 

CIPFA  Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

Derivative  

A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an option 
is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

Page 108



 
 

DMADF  
Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government. 

ECB  

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the EMU 
area. The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest rate 
setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 2 per 
cent. It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

Enhanced Cash 
Funds 

A pooled investment fund. Longer dated investment than a MMF 
and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable asset 
value. Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and the unit 
prices vary accordingly. Investments can be withdrawn on a notice 
basis (the length of which depends on the fund) although such 
funds would typically be used for investments of 3 to 6 month 
duration. 

Equity  
A share in a company with limited liability. It generally enables the 
holder to share in the profitability of the company through dividend 
payments and capital gain. 

Forward Deal  
The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an 
agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward Deposits  Same as forward dealing (above). 

Fiscal Policy  The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 

GDP  Gross Domestic Product. 

Gilt  
Registered British government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt that 
those securities represent. 

Mark to Market 
Accounting 

Accounting on the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability, 
based on the current market price. As a result, values will change 
with market conditions. 

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal 
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local taxpayer. 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments. It is very similar 
to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to companies rather 
than share holdings. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to as 
being base rate). Their primary target is to keep inflation within 
plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per cent in two 
years’ time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee. 
Their secondary target is to support the government in maintaining 
high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Non-UCITS Retail 
Scheme (NURS) – 

Undertakings for collective investments are funds authorised to be 
sold in the UK that are required to meet standards set by the UK 
services regulator. An example is property funds. 

Operational 
Boundary 

The most likely, prudent but not worst-case scenario of external 
debt at any one time. 

Other Bonds Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

PWLB  Public Works Loan Board. 

Page 109



 
 

QE  Quantitative Easing. 

Retail Price Index  
Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of prices 
at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure pattern of 
the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(Ex UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank. The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development Bank 
bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to gilts, but 
pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when 
compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill  
Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK or 
other governments. They provide a return to the investor by virtue 
of being issued at a discount to their final redemption value. 

 

 
 

Page 110



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Finance  

Author: Simon Hewings 

Telephone: 01235 422499 

E-mail: simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk  

Cabinet member responsible: Andy Crawford 

Tel: 01235 772134 

E-mail: andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 3 February 2023 
       
TO: COUNCIL 15 February 2023 

 

 

Capital strategy 2023/24 to 2032/33 

Recommendation 

1) That cabinet recommends council to approve the capital strategy 2023/24 to 
2032/33 which is contained in appendix one of the report of the head of finance to 
cabinet  

2) That cabinet recommends to council to agree the strategy for flexible use of capital 
receipts which is contained as annex 1 of the capital strategy. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To request cabinet to recommend council to approve the capital strategy for 2023/24 to 
2032/33. The capital strategy outlines the council’s approach to capital spending, 
based on the council’s corporate strategy, and is linked to the council’s corporate 
objectives, medium term financial strategy, and management of projects and 
programmes. 

Strategic Objectives  

2. The allocation of financial resources within capital budgets needs to match the 
objectives agreed by the council. 

Background 

3. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.  
Under the Code, a capital strategy is required to be agreed ahead of the 2023/24 
financial year and will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11

mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


4. The capital strategy for 2023/24 to 2032/33 is attached as appendix one to this report. 
The strategy provides the overall policy framework for capital expenditure and 
investment.  It does this by bringing together the requirements of the council’s strategic 
objectives, and the constraints of its medium-term financial plan, and within the 
parameters set by those it determines how capital schemes can be progressed from 
initial idea through to conclusion.  

5. A key change to the strategy made in 2022/23 was broaden the areas where capital 
investment will be considered to include property investments, loans and renewable 
energy schemes.  No substantive changes to the 2023/24 strategy are proposed.  

6. As previously, the strategy includes within it a strategy for the flexible use of capital 
receipts.  This identifies revenue activity which, under guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, is eligible to be funded 
using capital receipts rather than revenue resources.   

7. The capital strategy is a key document for the council.  It provides a high-level overview 
of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity 
contribute to the provision of services. It also provides an overview of how associated 
risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.  It will increase 
transparency in the planning, approval and monitoring of capital expenditure.  

Climate and Ecological Impact Implications 

8. There are no direct implications arising from implementing the strategy. As part of the 
asset management and ongoing review process for the council’s property asset 
portfolio, measures will be introduced to enhance building sustainability, reduce water 
consumption and waste and improve energy efficiency in new developments and 
refurbishment projects in line with the council’s adopted Climate Action Plan. 

Financial Implications 

9. There are no direct financial implications arising from implementing the strategy.  

Legal Implications 

10. None. 

Conclusion 

11. This report provides details of the proposed capital strategy for 2023/24 to 2032/33 and 
asks cabinet to recommend the capital strategy to council. These documents provide 
the parameters within which capital expenditure and investment decisions will be made 
once the supporting requirements are in place. 

Background Papers 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  

Appendices 

Appendix one Capital strategy 2023/24 to 2032/33.  

Page 112



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Strategy 

2023/24 – 2032/33 

 
  

Page 113



 

2 
 

Contents 
  

1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

2 Purpose ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

3 Scope .................................................................................................................................................... 3 

4 Capital expenditure .............................................................................................................................. 4 

5 Delivery and Commercial Investments ................................................................................................ 4 

5.1 Delivery investments......................................................................................................................... 4 

5.2 Commercial investments .................................................................................................................. 4 

6 Due Diligence ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

7 Council Objectives ................................................................................................................................ 5 

8 The Capital Budget Setting Process ..................................................................................................... 6 

8.1 Key Criteria for Strategy .................................................................................................................... 6 

8.2 Deciding which Schemes are to be put forward for review.............................................................. 7 

8.3 Prioritisation of Schemes put forward .............................................................................................. 8 

8.4 Options Appraisals and Feasibility Studies ....................................................................................... 8 

8.5 Investment Opportunities ................................................................................................................. 9 

8.6 Governance Arrangements ............................................................................................................. 10 

9 Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure .......................................................................... 10 

10 Multi-Year Schemes ......................................................................................................................... 10 

11 Funding Strategy and Capital Policies .............................................................................................. 11 

11.1 Capital Programme Financing Principles ...................................................................................... 11 

11.2 External Funding ........................................................................................................................... 11 

11.3 Capital Receipts ............................................................................................................................. 12 

11.4 Flexible use of Capital Receipts.....................................................................................................13 

11.5 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing ............................................................................................. 13 

11.6 Invest to Save Schemes ................................................................................................................. 13 

11.7 Leasing .......................................................................................................................................... 14 

12 Procurement and Value for Money ................................................................................................. 14 

13 Performance Management .............................................................................................................. 15 

14 Risk Management ............................................................................................................................ 15 

Annex A………………..……….....…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….16 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

3 
 

1 Introduction  

The council’s capital strategy represents its approach to future investment in 

achieving its agreed objectives, whilst having regard to governance and its limited 

financial resources available. The council has a significant capital investment 

programme for the period from 2023/24 to 2027/28, whilst facing a number of 

competing demands on finite resources. To achieve its aims and objectives the 

council seeks to work with partners who share its ambitions for improved outcomes 

for all its residents and will introduce a capital investment programme that will 

facilitate its key objectives.  

2 Purpose  

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 

requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 

expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with long-term objectives and 

take account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 

affordability.  

The definition of an investment covers all the financial assets of a local authority as 

well as other non-financial assets that the organisation holds primarily or partially to 

generate a profit; for example, investment property portfolios. 

The Prudential Code requires authorities to look at capital expenditure and 

investment plans in the light of overall organisational strategy and resources and 

ensure that decisions are made with sufficient regard to the long-term financing 

implications and potential risks to the authority. 

The Capital Strategy will be a key document for the council and will form part of the 

authority’s integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning. It will provide a 

high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 

management activity contribute to the provision of services. It will also provide an 

overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 

sustainability.  It will include an overview of the governance processes for developing 

proposals, approval and monitoring of capital expenditure.  

3 Scope  

This Capital Strategy will include all capital expenditure and capital investment 

decisions for the council, entered into as an individual local authority and also under 

joint arrangements. It sets out the long-term context in which decisions are made 

with reference to the life of the projects/assets and will stress the need for evidence-

based decision making. 

The Capital Strategy specifically excludes investments that are entered into under 

Treasury Management powers; these are covered in the Treasury Management 

Strategy.  The Treasury Management Strategy also includes the policy for borrowing 

to finance capital expenditure. 

Page 115



 

4 
 

4 Capital expenditure  

Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of assets, or 

expenditure that enhances or adds to the life or value of an existing fixed asset that 

is needed to provide services. Fixed assets are tangible or intangible assets that 

yield benefits to the council generally for a period of more than one year, e.g. land, 

buildings, vehicles. This contrasts with revenue expenditure which is spending on the 

day to day running costs of services such as employee costs and supplies and 

services.   

The capital programme is the authority’s plan of capital works for future years, 

including details on the funding of the schemes. Included are projects such as the 

purchase of land and buildings, the construction of new buildings, design fees and 

the acquisition of vehicles and major items of equipment.   

The council’s proposed capital programme for 2023/24 to 2027/28 and latest budget 

for 2022/23 totals is summarised in the table below. 

2022 /23 2023 24 2024 /25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

latest

estimate

estimate estimate estimate estimate estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Expenditure 16,812 11,469 3,950 5,097 4,772 2,122

Financing

Grants and external contributions 11,584 1,353 1,327 1,327 1,327 1,327

CIL 3,384 7,016 185 195 195 50

Borrowing 0 0 2,500 3,500 3,250 750

Usable capital receipts 1,844 3,100 (62) 75 0 (5)

Capital Financing 16,812 11,469 3,950 5,097 4,772 2,122

 

5 Delivery and Commercial Investments  

The CIPFA Prudential Code identifies categories of capital investment expenditure 

as those which are outside of normal treasury management activity. These may 

include:  

5.1 Delivery investments  

These are investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, and 

for the purposes, of operational delivery, including regeneration.  

A local authority may choose to make loans to local enterprises, local charities, 

wholly owned companies and joint ventures as part of a wider strategy for local 

economic growth, if total financial exposure to these types of loans is proportionate 

and policy and risk management conditions specified in the code are met. 

5.2 Commercial investments  

These are investments taken for mainly financial reasons. These may include:  

Page 116



 

5 
 

1. investments arising as part of business structures, such as shares and 

loans in subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures such as IT providers 

or building services providers;  

2. investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for 

the Council.  

Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily for 

financial benefit, such as investment properties.   

Due to the nature of the assets or for valid investment reasons, such investments do 

not always give priority to security and liquidity over yield. In these cases, such a 

decision will be explicit, with the additional risks set out and the impact on financial 

sustainability identified and reported.  

The Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will ensure that the council has the 

appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments and will also ensure the 

proportionality of all investments so that the council does not undertake a level of 

investing which exposes it to an excessive level of risk compared to its financial 

resources.  

In compliance with the latest CIPFA Prudential Code, the council will not invest in 

commercial property, primarily for financial gain. 

6 Due diligence  

For all capital investments, it is proposed that the appropriate level of due diligence 

will be undertaken with the extent and depth reflecting the level of additional risk 

being considered.  

The process and procedures will include effective scrutiny of proposed investments 

that will, for example, consider: 

 identification of the risk to both the capital sums invested and the returns;  

 understanding the extent and nature of any external underwriting of those 

risks;  

 the potential impact on the financial sustainability of the council if those 

risks come to fruition;  

 identification of the assets being held for security against debt and any 

prior charges on those assets;   

 where necessary independent and expert advice will be sought. 

The Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will ensure that members are adequately 

informed and understand the risk exposures being taken.  Internal control and policy 

compliance will regularly be assessed by Joint Audit and Governance Committee.  

7 Council objectives  

In October 2020 the council published a Corporate Plan for 2020-24 setting out the 

council’s priorities to help communities and people across the Vale of White Horse 

thrive.  The plan was developed with community consultation and sets out the 

Page 117



 

6 
 

corporate aims, priorities and objectives which shape the provision of services.  

capital investment projects if, and when undertaken, must be in line with these 

overall objectives and considered in the longer term.  

 

The corporate plan priority themes are: 

 Providing the homes people need 

 Tackling the Climate Emergency 

 Building healthy communities 

 Building stable finances 

 Working in partnership 

 Working in an open and inclusive way 

 

The council monitors its progress towards achieving the Corporate Plan aims and 

priorities and publishes a quarterly report on performance against the six strategic 

themes. 

 

During 2021 a Strategic Property Review of the council’s assets was conducted to 

evaluate how each asset could help support and deliver the council’s strategic aims 

and to establish priorities for the ongoing management and development of the 

council’s estate.  Following the review an Asset Management Group (AMG) was set 

up to check and challenge property holdings to ensure they meet the council’s 

priorities.   

 

The Strategic Property Review is the beginning of a rolling programme with all 

assets within the portfolio to be reviewed and challenged on a regular and frequent 

basis. 

 

The council’s ambition is to be amongst the leading public sector organisations for 

development, property and asset management with a proactive approach to deriving 

the best from its asset base and service delivery. 

 

8 The capital budget setting process  

8.1 Key criteria for strategy  

During preparation of the council’s annual budget, the key criteria for considering 

capital budget proposals will be set. These may include for example:  

 Maintenance of the essential infrastructure of the organisation;  

 Essential Health and Safety works;  

 Essential rolling programmes; 

 Invest to save schemes; 

 Match funded investment for regeneration projects;  

 The outcome of feasibility studies. 

Page 118



 

7 
 

8.2 Deciding which schemes are to be put forward for review 

When decisions on capital projects to be put forward are made it is proposed that 

consideration is given to the following:  

Prudence: 

 Recognition of the ability to prioritise and refocus following changes to the 

council’s Corporate Plan; 

 Recognition of the capacity in the organisation to deliver such a 

programme;  

 Recognition of the knowledge and skills available and whether these are 

commensurate with the appetite for risk; 

 Recognition of the future vision of the authority; 

 The approach to commercial activities including ensuring effective due 

diligence, defining the risk appetite and considerations of proportionality in 

respect of overall resources; 

 The approach to treasury management and the management of risk is set 

out in the Treasury Management Strategy.  

Affordability: 

 Revenue impact of the proposals on the Medium-Term Financial Plan; 

 The borrowing position of the council as required, projections of external 

debt and the use of internal borrowing to support capital expenditure; 

 The authorised limits and operational boundaries; 

 Whether schemes are profiled to the appropriate financial year.  

Sustainability: 

 An overview of asset management planning including maintenance 

requirements and planned disposals; 

 A long-term view of capital expenditure plans, where long term is defined 

by the financing strategy and risks faced with reference to the life of the 

project/assets; 

 If the need to borrow is approved, provision for the repayment of debt over 

the life of the underlying debt as set out in the Minimum Revenue 

Provision policy, and consideration by Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee of the impact on the repayment on future viability. 

All proposals would be produced in line with the Corporate Delivery Framework 

which will ensure the above points on prudence, affordability and sustainability are 

considered. 

The Corporate Delivery Framework uses a three-stage approach to ensure strong 

governance and consistency in delivering programmes of work.  The framework sets 

out the procedures and approval process to be followed dependent upon the size 

and complexity of the project. 

Page 119



 

8 
 

The business case for a project is defined during the first stage of the Corporate 

Delivery Framework and includes proposed funding arrangements. Sources of 

funding would be considered for each of the proposed capital schemes. Each project 

would be considered in terms of revenue funding to cover the operational running 

costs of the asset and any borrowing repayment costs, and how the asset would be 

funded in terms of capital expenditure. This is known as whole life budgeting.  

8.3 Prioritisation of schemes put forward  

The Council is working towards introducing a Corporate Landlord model for the 

operations and management of its land and building corporate assets and is working 

towards developing a Corporate Asset Management Document (AMD) to include 

 A high-level policy which links the aims and objectives of the 
organisations into key property vision and behaviours. 

 An intermediate strategy which takes the property vision and explains how 
it will be delivered.  

 A working action plan that lists the key property initiatives and projects 

and can be used to manage this at a corporate level.  

In order to ensure that Corporate Plan objectives are prioritised the advisory Asset 

Management Group (AMG) meets on a regular basis to review the property team’s 

recommendations for the council’s assets.  The AMG recommendations may be 

agreed by way of the appropriate formal decision, in accordance with the terms of 

the council’s constitution. A capital expenditure register will be used to prioritise 

projects and rank against corporate plan priorities and apply for external funding 

from CIL or alternative sources. 

8.4 Options appraisals and feasibility Studies  

As part of the process of producing a list of potential schemes the capital programme 

option appraisals will be required to determine the most cost effective and best 

service delivery options.  

Some projects may require a feasibility study. As part of any feasibility study an 

assessment of the maintenance costs per annum averaged over the whole life of the 

asset will be calculated.  

For complex projects a financial assessment of the business case for the proposed 

project should be carried out. This should normally take the form of a discounted 

cash flow projection in order to calculate the net present value (NPV) of a proposal, 

although other assessment methods may be used where more appropriate, such as 

internal rate of return or payback period. 

A standard methodology for calculating NPV should be followed as set out in 

separate guidance notes. This should include a sensitivity analysis based on the 

risks of the project and the key assumptions adopted in the financial analysis. 

The actual sensitivities used may vary from project to project but should include: 

Page 120



 

9 
 

 Costs more than expected by five per cent; 

 Expected savings / income less than expected by five per cent; 

 Costs more than expected by five per cent AND expected savings / income 

less than expected by per cent; 

 How much would cost increase / savings need to reduce by to make the 

project unviable. 

All costs and benefits must be clearly broken down so that it is clear what is included 

and so that the behaviours of the individual elements can be properly assessed and 

scrutinised. Costs and benefits with different behaviours and / or dependencies 

should therefore be separately identified.  

The overall impact on cashflow, income and expenditure account and balance sheet 

should be identified. 

A risk assessment should be undertaken using the council’s standard methodology. 

The assessment summarises the significant risks specifically related to the project 

and should explain clearly what the causes, consequences, controls and mitigations 

are and how the risks are managed 

8.5 Investment opportunities  

Property schemes which arise during the year will only be considered for inclusion in 

the capital programme if they meet key criteria set out in section 8.1 or one or more 

of the following criteria:  

 The location of the property to be purchased will bring added value to the 

estate; 

 The requirement for the asset is an extraordinary service demand which could 

not be anticipated in the normal planning processes. 

 

Capital investment opportunities will be considered under the following broad 

categories: 

 

 Property Investments – maximising the use and value of council owned 

assets (land and buildings) to support council services, or for regeneration 

purposes to deliver a wider social, or community benefit; 

 

 Loans - to companies and other organisations to support the delivery of the 

council’s corporate objectives; 

 

 Renewable energy Schemes – investments in renewable energy schemes to 

support delivery of the council’s climate action priorities. 

 

In all cases investment will need to be: 

 

 Within the council’s legal powers, 

 Primarily in support of council objectives and not primarily for commercial gain 

Page 121



 

10 
 

 Proportionate to the council’s financial standing. 

 

Investment will be subject to satisfactory business case, due diligence and analysis 

of risk (which may require external support) and will require a cabinet 

recommendation to council on a case-by-case basis – at that point budgets will be 

created. 

 

8.6 Governance arrangements 

The Prudential Code sets out that the responsibility for decision making and on-
going monitoring in respect of capital expenditure, investment and borrowing, 
including prudential indicators, sits with full council.  However, detailed 
implementation and monitoring may be delegated to a committee. 

Council and the Cabinet are the key democratic decision-making bodies for the 
capital programme.  The Council approves the key policy documents and the capital 
programme as part of the Council’s Policy and Budgetary Framework.  The Cabinet 
recommends priorities, policy direction and the new capital programme to the 
Council for approval.  Cabinet and Council also approve new inclusions to the capital 
programme in line with the scheme of delegation and the financial procedure rules.  

Delegations to officers and individual Cabinet members are set out in the council’s 
Financial Regulations. 

9 Monitoring of the capital programme expenditure  

The Section 151 Officer, jointly with senior managers with responsibility for delivery 
of the capital programme, are responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
arrangements are in place to monitor the capital programme and resources. 

Capital budget monitoring reports are produced periodically, listing provisional and 
approved capital schemes, giving details of the project manager, budgets, year to 
date spend, brought forward spend and capital financing.  

The reports are sent to budget managers of each department for review and 
comment and returned to the finance team to incorporate into a consolidated capital 
budget monitoring report. The consolidated report is reviewed and considered by the 
Strategic Management Team (SMT) to ensure schemes are on target.  Summaries 
are presented to formal Cabinet meetings for consideration. 

When the capital schemes are completed a full evaluation report will be made 
available.  

10 Multi-year schemes  

Payments for capital schemes often occur over many years, depending on the size 

and complexity of the project. Estimated payment patterns are calculated for each 

Page 122



 

11 
 

project so that the expected capital expenditure per year is known. This is known as 

a cash flow projection and is key to analysing funding requirements.  

The length of the planning period is defined by the financing strategy and the risks 

faced with reference to the life of the project/assets.  For example, some schemes 

may span two or three years whereas others may be over much longer timeframes. 

This allows greater integration of the revenue budget and capital programme and 

matches the time requirement for scheme planning and implementation since 

schemes have a considerable initial development phase.  

11 Funding strategy and capital policies  

This section sets out the policies of the council in relation to funding capital 

expenditure and investment.  

11.1 Capital programme financing principles 

The council’s capital programme financing principles are: 

 The council will continue to be proactive in ensuring, as far as possible, 

that additional capital investment needs arising from new developments 

are funded from developer contributions. 

 Ringfenced resources are used for the purposes for which they are 

issued. 

 Non ringfenced capital grants are treated as a corporate resource and 

used flexibly. 

 Capital receipts are treated as a corporate resource and used across the 

capital programme flexibly. 

 Prudential borrowing will only be considered where it is affordable. 

 Revenue contributions can be used to finance the capital programme, 

subject to the levels of revenue funding available and the judgement of 

the Head of Finance (section 151 officer). 

11.2 External funding  

The council will seek to maximise external funding wherever possible to support 

capital schemes. This can be in the form of grants and contributions from outside 

bodies including central government.  

Prior to submitting proposals for grant funding, an assessment of the risk of a 

contract price increase, associated with market conditions or abnormal building plan 

demands attached to some grants, must be completed to estimate the likelihood of 

additional funding being needed.  

As part of the planning process and negotiations on major developments the council 

takes a positive approach to securing land and buildings through Section 106 

agreements.   

Page 123



 

12 
 

In April 2021 the council published its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending 

Strategy, which sets out how the council allocates CIL funds collected.  Funds 

available at 30 September are used as the basis for calculating allocations included 

in the capital programme and approved as part of the council’s budget setting each 

February.   

Funding may be allocated and approved for projects during the year in line with the 

council’s financial procedure rules. A procedural overview of the process for 

allocating spending and reporting of CIL is outlined in the CIL Spending Strategy. 

The council publishes on its website, no later than 31 December each year, an 

annual infrastructure funding statement showing both CIL and S106 income and 

expenditure for the preceding financial year. 

11.3 Capital receipts  

A capital receipt is an amount of money which is received from the sale of an asset. 

In most cases they cannot be spent on revenue items. However, capital receipts may 

be spent on certain projects as defined in the Statutory Guidance on the Flexible Use 

of Capital Receipts (updated) March 2016 by Department for Communities and Local 

Government. 

An ongoing asset challenge process to review the council’s property and land assets 

on a rolling programme, identifies asset rationalisation and disposal opportunities 

and provides assurance that funds are spent in the right places and on the right 

buildings. 

The council’s disposal policy provides a framework by which the council considers 

how surplus or underperforming assets can deliver and maximise capital receipts 

and/or income revenue, in order to facilitate the council’s provision of existing and 

future services and locality needs. 

 

The objectives of the council’s disposal strategy are intended to align with the 

council’s Corporate Plan, with reference to reducing the funding gap between 

income and expenditure in adherence to the council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan, 

and aim to: 

 

 Complement the council’s policy of only holding assets that meet the 

council’s objectives for operational, socio-economic or investment 

purposes; 

 Enable actual and latent capital value tied up in potentially surplus assets 

to be realized;  

 Eliminate liabilities; 

 Unlock the benefits of regeneration; 

 Enable Local Development Plan/Framework policies to be realized; 

 Maximise the proceeds or land use benefit from disposals for the benefit 

of the council and its community. 

 

Page 124



 

13 
 

The disposals policy sets out a five-stage procedure to be adopted by the council in 

connection with the disposal of its surplus and underperforming assets.  

 
 PROCESS – to identify the assets as ‘surplus’ or ‘underperforming’; 

 PREPARATION - for disposal, including obtaining confirmation that the 

property is suitable for disposal; 

 DETERMINATION - of the method of disposal; 

 ONGOING MANAGEMENT - for managing the asset in the run up to 

disposal;  

 DISPOSAL of the asset. 

 

11.4 Flexible use of capital receipts 

The council has adopted a strategy on the flexible use of capital receipts as detailed 

in Annex A of this report. 

11.5 Prudential/unsupported borrowing  

Local authorities can set their own borrowing levels based on their capital need and 

their ability to pay for the borrowing. The levels will be set by using the indicators and 

factors set out in the Prudential Code. This borrowing may also be referred to as 

Prudential Borrowing.   

Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will make an assessment of the overall 

prudence, affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing which is reviewed by 

the Joint Audit and Governance Committee before approval by the Council. The 

impact of this borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management Strategy 

alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance. 

The view of the Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will be fed into the corporate 

budget process so that, should the required borrowing levels be unaffordable or not 

prudent, then the schemes will be prioritised against the available funding from 

borrowing.  

Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will also determine whether the borrowing 

should be from internal resources, or whether to enter external borrowing. 

The council’s current capital programme includes borrowing of £10 million to finance 

capital expenditure.  

11.6 Invest to Save Schemes  

Occasionally projects arise which require set-up costs.  Such projects may bring long 

term service delivery improvements and/or cost savings. The initial set up costs may 

be of a revenue or capital nature. Assistance for these schemes must be considered 

on an individual basis.  

Page 125



 

14 
 

For ‘invest to save’ schemes it is expected that in the longer term these schemes will 

produce savings and/or additional income that will support the revenue budget.  

11.7 Leasing  

Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance may enter into finance leasing agreements to 

fund capital expenditure. However, a full option appraisal and comparison of other 

funding sources will be made, and the Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will 

ascertain that leasing provides the best value for money method of funding the 

scheme.  

Under the Prudential Code finance leasing agreements are counted against the 

overall borrowing levels when looking at the prudence of the authority’s borrowing.  

12 Procurement and Value for Money  

In October 2021 the council adopted a Procurement Strategy and Action Plan 

providing guidance of matters to be considered and procedures to followed when 

purchasing goods, services and works. The Procurement Strategy and Action Plan 

aim to ensure resources are focussed on delivering the councils’ priorities and 

strategic themes.   

The council requires consideration of climate and ecological impacts to be at the 

heart of procurement decisions. Due consideration of the carbon footprint of service 

delivery, goods manufacturing and provision of works should be factored into the 

procurement process through statements of requirements and evaluation criteria. 

 

The council recognises that through the purchase of goods, services and works the 

resulting contracts should promote ethical procurement. Decisions made during the 

procurement process can have a direct effect on socio-economic and environmental 

implications. The council’s approach to this is set out in its Ethical Procurement 

Statement. 
 

It is essential that all procurement activities comply with procurement legislation and 

adhere to the relevant requirements. Guidance on this can be sought from the 

Procurement team. Procurement must also comply with the council’s policies and 

regulations such as Contract Procedural Rules and Financial Regulations.  

The main aim is to hold ‘value for money’ as a key goal in all procurement activity to 

optimise the combination of cost and quality and ensure all expenditure is 

appropriate. 

The council has drafted a Land and Property Asset Acquisition Policy to set out the 

principles and rules by which the council will acquire land and property.  The policy 

when adopted will inform officers and members when considering the acquisition of 

additional property holdings (land or buildings) to be brought under the control of the 

council. 

 

Page 126



 

15 
 

This policy places emphasis on adopting procedures that are consistent and which 

ensure maximum benefit from the effective acquisition and subsequent management 

of the council’s property whether on a freehold, leasehold or other basis. 

 

13 Performance management  

Clear measurable outcomes will be developed for each capital scheme. After the 

scheme has been completed, the Gateway three stage of the Corporate Delivery 

Framework ensures programmes of work are reviewed and all lessons learnt are 

identified to ensure that we are constantly refining and improving the approach we 

take to delivering our work. 

Reviews will look at the effectiveness of the whole project in terms of operational 

delivery outcomes, design and construction, financing etc. and identify good practice 

and lessons to be learnt in delivering future projects.  

14 Risk management  

Risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect the council’s ability to 

achieve its desired outcomes and to execute its strategies successfully. 

Risk management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential 

consequences and determining the most effective methods of managing them and/or 

responding to them. It is both a means of minimising the costs and disruption to the 

organisation caused by undesired events and of ensuring that staff understand and 

appreciate the element of risk in all their activities.  

The aim is to reduce the frequency of adverse risk events occurring (where 

possible), minimise the severity of their consequences if they do occur, or to 

consider whether risk can be transferred to other parties.  

To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project will be 

identified, analysed, and monitored.  

As part of the Corporate Delivery Framework a project dashboard is created for each 

project, this includes the details of project risks and mitigation defined at the 

Gateway 2 stage. 

It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and for the capital 

programme, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily for financial 

returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as investments and so 

the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns consistent with the level of 

risk applies.  

Section 151 Officer/Head of Finance will explicitly identify the affordability and risk 

associated with the Capital Strategy. Where appropriate they will consider 

specialised advice to assist in decision making.  

An assessment of risk will therefore be built into every capital project and major risks 

recorded in a Risk Register, before consideration by Council.  

Page 127



 

16 
 

Annex A 

Strategy for flexible use of capital receipts 

Purpose 

1. This report reviews the statutory guidance on the flexible use of capital receipts 
and its application within this council. 

Background 

2. Capital receipts can only be used for specific purposes and these are set out in 
Regulation 23 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 made under Section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003. The 
main permitted purpose is to fund capital expenditure but the use of capital receipts 
to support revenue expenditure is not permitted by these regulations. 

3. The Secretary of State is empowered to issue Directions allowing expenditure 
incurred by local authorities to be treated as capital expenditure. Where such a 
direction is made, the specified expenditure can then be funded from capital receipts 
under these Regulations. 

4. The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government has issued 
guidance in March 2016, giving local authorities greater freedoms with how capital 
receipts can be used to finance expenditure. This Direction allows for the following 
expenditure to be treated as capital, 

“expenditure on any project that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in 
the delivery of public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs 
and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services 
in future years for any of the public sector delivery partners.” 

5. In order to comply with this Direction, the Council must consider the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Secretary of State. This Guidance requires authorities to 
prepare, publish and maintain a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy with the 
initial strategy being effective from 1st April 2016 with future Strategies included 
within future Annual Budget documents. 

6. There is no prescribed format for the Strategy, the underlying principle is to 
support local authorities to deliver more efficient and sustainable services by 
extending the use of capital receipts to support the revenue costs of reform projects. 

7. The Statutory Guidance for the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy states 
that the Strategy should include a list of each project which plans to make use of the 
capital receipts flexibility. The Strategy should also include the impact of this 
flexibility on the affordability of borrowing by including updated Prudential Indicators. 

Page 128



 

17 
 

                                                                                                     

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy 

8. Government has provided a definition of expenditure which qualifies to be funded 
from capital receipts. This is: 

“Qualifying expenditure is expenditure on any project that is designed to generate 
ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and/or transform service 
delivery to reduce costs and/or transform service delivery in a way that reduces 
costs or demand for services in future years for any of the public sector delivery 
partners. Within this definition, it is for individual local authorities to decide whether 
or not a project qualifies for the flexibility.” 

9. The council intends to use capital receipts to fund transformation projects as 
follows: 

 

Project  
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Description £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

            

Five Councils' Partnership 0 0 350 1,150 0 

Total 0 0 350 1,150 0 

      
 

10. The Council will revisit the use of capital receipts to fund projects during the 

financial year if further opportunities arise for consideration.  

                                                                                                      

Impact on Prudential Indicators 

11. The guidance requires that the impact on the council’s Prudential Indicators 

should be considered when preparing a flexible use of capital receipts strategy. 

12. The key indicator that is impacted by this strategy is the “Estimates of Capital 

Expenditure Indicator”, which will reflect the £1,500,000 over the five financial years. 

 

Page 129



 

 
 

 

Report to:   

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Cabinet 

Council 

Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Simon Hewings  

Tel: 01235 422499 

E-mail: simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk   

Wards affected: All 

Cabinet Member responsible: Andrew Crawford 

Tel: 01235 772134 

E-mail: andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                     30 January 2023 
To: CABINET                                                               3 February 2023 
To: COUNCIL                                                             15 February 2023 

 

 

 

Revenue Budget 2023/24 and Capital 

Programme to 2027/28 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Cabinet recommends to Council that it: 

 sets the revenue budget for 2023/24 as set out in appendix A.1 to this report, 

 approves the capital programme for 2023/24 to 2027/28 as set out in appendix 
D.1 to this report, together with the capital programme changes as set out in 
appendix D.2 and appendix D.3 to this report, 

 sets the council’s prudential limits as listed in appendix E to this report, 

 approves the medium-term financial plan to 2027/28 as set out in appendix F to 
this report.  

2. That Cabinet agrees that the cabinet member for finance, in conjunction with the 
head of finance, may make minor adjustments to this report and the prudential 
indicators should they prove necessary prior to its submission to Council on 15 
February 2023.  

Page 130

Agenda Item 12

mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 
 

 

Purpose of report 

1. This report: 

 brings together all relevant information to allow Cabinet to recommend to 
Council a revenue budget for 2023/24 and a capital programme for 2023/24 
to 2027/28; 

 recommends the prudential indicators to be set by the council in accordance 
with ‘the Prudential Code’ introduced as part of the Local Government Act 
2003; 

 contains the opinion of the council’s chief financial officer on the robustness 
of estimates and adequacy of the council’s financial reserves; 

 contains the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which provides details of 
the forward budget model for the next five years. 

Corporate objectives 

2. The allocation of financial resources within the revenue and capital budgets needs 
to match the objectives agreed by the council.   

Revenue budget setting 2023/24   

Background 

3. The revenue budget for 2022/23 was agreed by Council in February 2022.  Whilst 
a draw on reserves was anticipated to be required across all future years of the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) agreed in February 2022, following the 
budget challenge activity undertaken during 2021/22 this was much lower than 
previously predicted. 

4. As noted in the budget setting report, this use of reserves was considered 
manageable in the period covered by the MTFP and beyond (in light of the 
reserves and balances available to the council and the council’s ability to vary 
budgets and redirect funding) but still needed to be addressed through the 
council’s long term transformation programme, which will need to continue to 
evolve as the position of national funding settlements becomes clear in future 
years. 

5. The background and approach to budget setting for 2023/24, reflecting the 
economic and political turmoil experienced during 2022, were covered in the 
“Budget setting 2023/24 update report” considered by Cabinet in December 2022.   

Revenue base budget setting 2023/24 

6. The starting point for building the council’s budget for 2023/24 is to determine the 
base budget.  This represents the costs to the council of continuing to provide 
existing services on an ongoing basis. 

Page 131



 

 
 

 

7. Base budgets for 2023/24 have been constructed by heads of service and budget 
holders supported by finance business partners from the Strategic Finance Team.  
They have been tested through a two stage “base budget challenge” exercise:  

 Stage 1 is a rigorous officer-based challenge undertaken by the Interim Head 
of Policy and Programmes and the Head of Finance supported by accountants 
from the Strategic Finance Team,    

 Stage 2 is a member-led challenge exercise, led by the relevant portfolio 
holder for the service under review and the cabinet member for finance.   

8. The challenge process, which was completed before Christmas, focussed on the 
following key areas: 

 Identification and removal of any remaining surplus budgets,  

 Right-sizing budgets to reflect the current economic climate and pressures, 

 Ensuring that all discretionary fees and charges increase by a minimum of 
five per cent and that the Council delivers on its commitment to ensure that 
when setting discretionary charges, all relevant costs are included and 
recovered transparently, 

 Ongoing centralisation of budgets as the impact of our insourcing and 
increased corporate capacity, which has been a member priority, is utilised to 
ensure accurate budgeting, proper control of expenditure and the avoidance 
of potential over-budgeting through double provision.  

Revenue budget setting 2023/24 

9. Appendix A.1 summarises the movements in the base budget from £15,557,968 
in 2022/23 to £17,134,841 in 2023/24. These movements are detailed below.  

10. Opening budget adjustment reduction £568,422 (appendix A.2).  This includes 
the removal of one-off growth items from the base budget relating to previous 
years.   

11. Additions to the base budget: 

 Inflation, salary increments and other salary adjustments £688,135 
(appendix A.3). For all council employees an increase in salary of 5.5 per cent 
is budgeted for 2023/24, reflecting the core settlement agreed with Ridgeway 
Unison. Increments payable to council employees not at the top of their salary 
range total £74,615.  Other salary adjustments represent a cost of £26,472. 

At this stage, the council has not received formal confirmation of the results of 
the triennial valuation of the council’s pension fund liability, as calculated by 
Oxfordshire County Council’s pension fund actuaries.  The 2023/24 budget is 
based on the assumption that the valuation does not make a material impact 
on the pension costs incurred by the council as employer.   

 Essential growth – one-off £100,061 and ongoing £2,952,899 (appendix 
A.4).  These items comprise additional expenditure, and reductions in income, 

Page 132



 

 
 

 

which have been identified as unavoidable and reflect changes that have 
occurred in the current year or which are known will happen in 2023/24.  Given 
the value of these additional growth items, they have been tested and 
challenged during the base budget challenge by both officers and the relevant 
cabinet members.   

12. Deductions from the base budget:  

 Base budget reductions £1,533,857 (appendix A.5).  These base budget 
savings are reductions in costs identified by officers, which may be the result 
of more efficient working or previously agreed policy decisions, cost 
reductions outside of the council’s control, increases in income, or correction 
to budgets.   

 In year savings target £300,000.  In undertaking the base budget challenge 
exercise, officers consider that there is further potential to realise further 
savings from the base budgets from the long-term transformational 
programme as identified changes are implemented.  As an illustration, further 
changes across the following areas will be made in 2023/24: 

o Development management, 

o Customer services, 

o Grounds maintenance  

13. The contingency budget was raised to £400,000 as part of 2022/23 budget setting.  
Officers have concluded that this level should be unchanged for 2023/24 as it is 
reflective if wider economic uncertainty.   

14. As a result of these changes the council’s revised base budget for 2023/24 is 
£17,134,841, an increase of £1,576,873 over 2022/23.   

Revenue growth  

15. Revenue growth of £200,000 per annum has been included in the budget for both 
2023/24 and 2024/25.  This is detailed in appendix B.1. and reflects the 
continuation of the community hub for a further two years.   

Gross treasury income 

16. Investment returns for 2023/24 will be used to finance expenditure in-year.  It is 
currently forecast that £3,329,071 will be earned in 2023/24.   

17. More details of treasury income can be found in the council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy report1.  

18. Including growth and gross treasury income results in a net expenditure budget for 
the council of £14,005,771. 

Reserves and other funding 

                                            
1 Considered by Cabinet 3 February 2023, Council 15 February 2023 

Page 133



 

 
 

 

Transfers to earmarked reserves    

19. This amounts to £43,960 and represents the net of the transfer to reserves of the 
affordable homes element of the New Homes Bonus (NHB) payment.  

20. Based on the above use of reserves and other funding, the amount of revenue 
expenditure to be financed from government settlement and from council tax 
2022/23 is £16,533,422 (appendix A.1). 

Funding 

Local government settlement 

21. The provisional local government settlement for 2023/24 was announced in 
December 2022.  Whilst the settlement gave “details of funding in 2024/25”, in 
reality it did not provide certainty as to the numbers for 2024/25.   

22. Table 1 below details the government’s funding for the council in 2023/24.  

Table 1:  provisional local government finance settlement 2023/24 
 

    Provisional 

    Settlement 

    £ 

Settlement Funding Assessment (2,576,119) 

Indexation   (418,823) 

NDR at safety net 184,405 

Settlement Funding Assessment (2,810,537) 

      

Other funding   

New Homes Bonus (1,848,953) 
Rural Services Delivery Grant (9,551) 
Lower tier services grant  (92,065) 

Funding guarantee (2,318,489) 

Grand total (7,079,595) 
 

23. The provisional settlement for 2023/24 represents an increase in “core revenue 
spending power” of 4.9 per cent compared to 2022/23.  Whilst the provisional 
settlement, at a national level, includes an average increase in core revenue 
spending power of nine per cent, for district councils the average is five per cent.  
Council tax income is included in the definition of core revenue spending power 
and, in calculating the increase, government assumes that council tax will 
increase by the maximum allowed before a referendum is required.  

24. Included within the government’s definition of core revenue spending power is 
NHB, which has become critical to the sustainability of the council’s MTFP. As 
identified above funding has been provisionally announced along with the 
settlement this year at £1,848,953 for 2023/24.  This represents one year’s worth 
of NHB only, which is much reduced from the original scheme of six years.   

Page 134



 

 
 

 

25. Government has also provided Services grant funding of £92,065.  It has also 
provided a one-off funding guarantee as part of this year’s settlement of 
£2,318,489.  

26. At the time of writing this report the final settlement figures had not been received 
from the government.  It is not anticipated that when this information is available it 
will be materially different to the provisional figures. 

For budget setting purposes it has been assumed that the council’s “core revenue 
spending power” will be maintained for 2024/25, but then the one-off, funding 
guarantee element in this year’s settlement is assumed to fall out for 2025/26 
onwards, to reflect the announcement made by the Secretary of State.  It is 
conceivable that this may be too optimistic an approach, or indeed too pessimistic, 
but given the ongoing uncertainty over local government funding officers consider 
this to be a prudent approach at this time.   
 

27. The actual funding generated in future years will depend on the outcome of the 
national review of the retained business rates scheme which could include 
changes to: 
 

 The percentage of business rates growth that is retained by the different tiers 
of local government,  
 

 the baseline in accordance with the review of needs and resources, 
 

As identified in the update report presented to Cabinet before Christmas, it was 
confirmed by government that this review will not be implemented for the next two 
years.  In respect of NHB, government has announced its intention to set out the 
future position ahead of the local government finance settlement for 2024/25. 

 
28. Business rates retained by the council as planning authority relating to facilities 

generating renewable energy within the district is estimated at £226,304 (MTFP 
row 56). 

 
Collection fund 

29. The surplus on the collection fund is estimated in 2022/23 to be £632,044 (MTFP 
row 58).  

 
Use of reserves  

30. The difference between expenditure requirement and the funding available is 
smoothed over the medium-term financial plan by earmarked reserves and the 
general fund balance.  The net impact of these budget proposals is a contribution 
to reserves of £2,603,014 in 2023/24.    

Revenue budget proposal 

31. Based on the amendments detailed above, and as shown in appendix A.1 of this 
report, the budget proposal, including growth, is for a budget requirement of 
£14,005,771.  This revenue budget as proposed would result in an increase of 
£5.00 to current band “D” council tax to £151.69.   

Page 135



 

 
 

 

32. Appendix C shows the breakdown of the revenue budget.   

 

Capital programme 2023/24 to 2027/28 

Current capital programme 

33. The latest capital programme (before growth) is shown in Appendix D.1 and 
summarised in table 2 below.  It is the capital programme as set by Council in 
February 2022 plus: 

 slippage (caused by delays to projects) carried forward from 2021/22, 

 new schemes approved by Council during 2022/23, 

 re-profiling of expenditure on schemes from the 2022/23 financial year to 
future years where delays to schemes have occurred or additional information 
is now available to support more accurate profiling, 

 the deletion of previously agreed schemes that have completed or are not 
being pursued at this time in their original form.  

34. The capital programme also includes CIL receipts that are payable to Oxfordshire 
County Council and Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated 
Care Board. 

Cabinet capital programme proposals 

35. Appendix D.2 contains a list of new capital schemes that are being recommended 
as part of this budget proposal to be funded from council resources.  Appendix 
D.3 contains a further list of proposals that will be funded from CIL receipts.  
Officers will amend the capital programme to include the proposals if approved by 
Cabinet and Council.  All of the CIL funded schemes included in appendix D.3 can 
be funded from receipts already received by the council and those forecast to be 
received over the capital programme period. 

36. On Appendix D.2, item 5, the proposed Wantage teaching pool is shown as being 
fully funded by Section 106 receipts.  It should be noted that one source of Section 
106 receipts funding this project is the Valley Park development.  Up to £981,000 
of receipts from this development are not scheduled to be paid until after 2030.  If 
the council commits to this scheme at this time, it is accepting that it will forward 
fund this scheme, and there is a risk, albeit a risk considered low by officers, that 
those receipts will not materialise, or will materialise later than expected. 

37. Item 6 on Appendix D.2 represents the payment of Section 106 receipts collected 
by this council in respect of the Valley Park development to South Oxfordshire 
District Council for two leisure schemes in Didcot: 

 Didcot North-East leisure centre, and 

 Didcot Wave learner pool. 

Page 136



 

 
 

 

In addition to these commitments, a further £3.616 million of receipts from Valley 
Park, expected to be earned after 2030, are required to be paid from this council 
to South Oxfordshire District Council in respect of these schemes. 

 

Financing the capital programme 

38. Where permitted, capital expenditure is funded in the first instance from specific 
government grants, earmarked reserves and other external contributions.  The 
balance of the programme is funded from the council’s capital receipts reserve or 
through prudential borrowing. 

39. Table 2 contains a schedule showing the current and proposed capital programme 
and how it will be financed, including the growth proposals, if they are approved. 

40. The total planned capital expenditure, including the current financial year is 
£50.354 million over the programme period. The council’s usable capital receipts, 
based on current estimates, are expected to be £2.362 million by the end of 
2027/28.   

Table 2: current and proposed capital programme with financing 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 GRAND

latest

estimate

estimate estimate estimate estimate estimate TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital programme approved 16,312 8,318 2,200 3,247 2,122 2,122 34,321

Transformation funding - flexible use of capital receipts 500 0 0 350 1,150 0 2,000

Capital growth proposals (Appendix D.2) 0 6,840 1,934 1,509 1,519 19 11,821

Capital growth funded by CIL receipts (Appendix D.3) 0 886 1,122 204 0 0 2,212

Total expenditure 16,812 16,044 5,256 5,310 4,791 2,141 50,354

Financing

Grants and external contributions 11,584 1,353 1,327 1,327 1,327 1,327 18,245

CIL 3,384 5,701 1,307 399 195 50 11,036

Borrowing 0 0 2,500 3,500 3,250 750 10,000

Usable capital receipts 1,844 8,990 122 84 19 14 11,072

Total financing 16,812 16,044 5,256 5,310 4,791 2,141 50,354

Estimated balances as at 31 March 2028

Usable capital receipts 2,362

 

Future pressures on the capital programme 

41. As can be seen from table 2, borrowing of £10 million has been factored into the 
funding of the programme across the MTFP, although no borrowing is expected to 
be required during 2023/24.  Given the likely need for borrowing, the Section 151 
officer intends to conduct a full review of the current capital programme, including 
funding options, ahead of budget setting for 2024/25.   

The prudential code and prudential indicators 

42. In setting its revenue and capital budgets for 2022/23, the council must agree 
prudential indicators in accordance with the prudential code (see below).  When 

Page 137



 

 
 

 

recommending its budgets to Council, Cabinet must also recommend the 
prudential indicators.   

43. From 1 April 2004, government control of local authorities’ borrowing was 
abolished and replaced by a prudential system of self-regulation.  Authorities are 
able to borrow based on need and affordability, which they demonstrate through 
compliance with the prudential code developed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and which has statutory force by government 
regulation. 

44. The key objectives of the prudential code are to ensure that the capital investment 
plans of the authority are affordable, prudent and sustainable.  To demonstrate that 
authorities have had regard to these objectives, the prudential code sets out a 
number of indicators that must be considered covering five distinct areas – capital 
expenditure, affordability, prudence, external debt and treasury management.  The 
council must approve the indicators through the budget process before 1 April 
each year, but they can be revised during the year if required.  

45. The key indicators that will drive the capital budget decision making process will be 
those concerning affordability, as these measure the impact of capital investment 
decisions on the overall revenue budget and in particular the precept against the 
collection fund. 

46. In setting or revising the prudential indicators the council is required to have regard 
to: 

 affordability e.g. implications for the precept  

 prudence and sustainability e.g. implications for external borrowing 

 value for money e.g. option appraisal 

 stewardship of assets e.g. asset management planning 

 service objectives e.g. strategic planning for the council 

 practicality e.g. achievability of the forward plan.  

47. Under the code, the head of finance as chief finance officer is responsible for 
ensuring that the council considers all relevant matters when setting or revising 
indicators through a report.  The head of finance is also required to establish 
procedures to monitor performance against all forward-looking indicators; and 
report upon any significant deviations from forward forecasts with proposed 
actions. 

48. Appendix E contains the recommended prudential indicators, which have been 
calculated based on the budget proposals.  The head of finance is satisfied that 
these indicators show that the council’s capital investment plans are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable.   

The Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

49. The MTFP provides a forward budget model for the next five years. Appendix F 
contains the MTFP for 2023/24 to 2027/28.  This is a projection of the revenue 
budget up to 31 March 2028.  As identified above it assumes that core revenue 
spending power will remain unchanged for 2024/25 but will then be lower for the 

Page 138



 

 
 

 

rest of the MTFP period.  It also incorporates assumptions on interest income and 
other pressures on the council, such as inflation and salary increments.  Clearly in 
the current economic climate, these assumptions are subject to greater volatility 
than experienced in recent years.  This therefore renders the estimates in the later 
years of the MTFP far more speculative than has been the case historically, 
particularly given the uncertainty around future government funding. 

50. At the foot of the MTFP is an illustration on the use of reserves if, instead of core 
revenue spending power falling from 2025/26 it is in fact maintained at current 
levels.  This illustration still represents a year-on-year reduction in government 
funding, but the reduction is less severe, with a consequent improvement in the 
council’s predicted financial position. 

51. Last year’s budget included within the MTFP an estimate of costs associated with 
the exit and service transformation required when the Five Councils Partnership 
contract ends in September 2025.  It was proposed that the council would, as 
allowed under the rules for the flexible use of capital receipts, fund these costs, 
anticipated at this time to be around £1.5 million, from those receipts.  During the 
year ahead officers expect to be clearer on the timing and nature of such costs.   

52. The MTFP also, through the “Future essential growth” row, makes provision in 
future years for increased costs associated with the delivery of council services.  
At this stage these costs reflect officers’ best estimates of such future pressures.  
It is anticipated that there will be greater clarity on these costs ahead of budget 
setting for 2024/25.  

53. As a result of the work undertaken over the last two years through the budget 
challenge process, the revenue budget for 2023/24 is in a much healthier state 
than that previously predicted and demonstrates the positive impact of decisions 
taken by the council in recent years.  However, whilst the short-term position is 
more positive, looking ahead over the MTFP the picture is much less certain, due 
to the following factors: 

 Ongoing uncertainty around future local government funding, especially 
from 2025/26 onwards, 

 The uncertain economic position, 

 Growing uncertainty over the future cost of service provision as this is 
impacted by external economic factors, in respect of both services provided 
in-house and externally. 

It should be noted that these factors are out of the control of the Council and their 
impact is not, at this time, possible to predict with certainty.   

54. From 2024/25 onwards it is estimated that revenue expenditure exceeds revenue 
income, and there is an increasing draw on reserves to balance the budget 
towards the end of the MTFP period.  Based on these latest estimates, revenue 
reserves are sufficient to set a balanced budget across the MTFP period to 
2027/28, but not beyond.  However, more so than in recent years, the estimates in 
later years of the MTFP should be treated with a degree of caution.  Clearly if the 
potential pressures identified in the later years of the MTFP come to fruition then 
officers and members will need to work together to address the budget gap, but to 

Page 139



 

 
 

 

do so, at this time, would not reflect the more positive position achieved for 
2023/24 and 2024/25 and the positive approach to, and the direction of travel of, 
the Councils finances that has been sustained over the past three years. 

Table 3: use of reserves during MTFP period to balance the revenue budget 

 
 

The robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves  

55. The Local Government Act 2003 places a duty on the chief finance officer (i.e. the 
head of finance) to report on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of 
reserves.  The council must have regard to this report when making decisions 
about the setting of the budget. 

56. The construction of the budget has been managed by qualified accountants and 
as identified above, has this year been subject to significant challenge both by 
strategic management team and cabinet members.   

57. A report was presented to cabinet in December 2022 on progress with budget 
setting.  A detailed briefing on this budget proposal will be given to the council’s 
Scrutiny committee on 30 January 2023.  As a public meeting, this session will be 
open to all councillors. 

58. In view of the process undertaken and his own knowledge of the budget, the head 
of finance is satisfied that the budget for 2023/24 is both prudent and robust and 
reflects a positive improvement over previous estimated budget positions for that 
year, reflecting the continued positive direction of travel from 2021/22.   However, 
as demonstrated above and based on current assumptions, from 2024/25 
onwards revenue expenditure exceeds revenue income in all years of the MTFP.  
Whilst the council’s revenue reserves are sufficient to cover that gap over the 
MTFP period, the ongoing budget gap will still need to be monitored closely and 
continue to be assessed and reacted to at the appropriate time, should that prove 
necessary, noting the significant level of uncertainty around future finances at this 
point. 

59. The Head of Finance is satisfied, based on their knowledge of the current work to 
deliver the long-term transformation programme, that there is very strong member 
and officer commitment to ensure financial sustainability is achieved in the longer 
term, and that responsible action will continue to be taken in a timely manner, 
should that become necessary as the longer-term financial position becomes 
clearer as the funding intentions of Government become known in coming years. 

60. The transformation activity, which was first agreed in the 2020/21 budget and 
forms part of the corporate plan delivery activity, is central to the council’s efforts 
to tackle the increasing budget gap.   

Financial Use of reserves

year £000

2023/24 (2,484)

2024/25 922

2025/26 5,199

2026/27 6,808

2027/28 7,786

Page 140



 

 
 

 

61. A dedicated team of officers, supported by external consultants as appropriate, 
will drive and programme manage the delivery of the transformation work, which 
will be focussed initially on the following areas that have been identified in 
discussions between officers and cabinet members: 

 Implementation of the IT strategy, 

 Customer services including front of house, 

 Development management, 

 Beacon, 

 Grounds maintenance. 

62. Details of this work will continue to be presented to cabinet as they progress in 
accordance with the council’s democratic process.   

63. The head of finance’s full report will be available at full Council. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

64. Agreement of the revenue budget for 2023/24 and capital programme to 2027/28 
agrees the allocation of funding to support the council’s corporate objectives, 
including the objective of Tackling the Climate Emergency which includes the 
specific item of revenue growth for community climate initiatives. 

Legal Implications 

65. The Cabinet needs to make recommendations to the council on its spending 
proposals.  Under the Local Government Act 2000 it is the council that must agree 
the revenue and capital spending plans, and then set the council tax.  Council will 
meet on 15 February 2023 in order to set the budget, and the council tax including 
amounts set by the town and parish councils, Oxfordshire County Council and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Thames Valley. 

66. The requirement placed on the council by the Local Government Act 2003 to set 
prudential indicators and for the head of finance as chief finance officer to make a 
report to the authority on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of 
reserves are addressed within the body of this report. 

Other Implications 

67. Agreement of the revenue and capital budgets authorises expenditure in 
accordance with the council’s delegated powers and financial procedure rules.  
The officer, councillor or councillor body taking those decisions will take into 
account the human resources, sustainability and equality and diversity implications 
of individual spending decisions, at the time they are made, as required by law.   

Conclusion 

68. This report provides details of the revenue base budget for 2023/24, the capital 
programme 2023/24 to 2027/28, government grants (the settlement), uncommitted 

Page 141



 

 
 

 

reserves and balances, the cabinet member for finance’s budget proposals and 
the resulting prudential indicators.  

69. In light of the information provided Cabinet must make a number of 
recommendations to Council regarding the revenue budget, the capital 
programme and the prudential indicators. 

  

Appendices 

Appendix A.1 Revenue budget 2023/24   
Appendix A.2 Opening budget adjustments 
Appendix A.3 Inflation, salary increments and other salary adjustments 
Appendix A.4 Essential growth      
Appendix A.5 Base budget savings  
Appendix B Revenue growth and savings  
Appendix C Service budget analysis 
Appendix D.1 Capital programme before growth 
Appendix D.2 Capital growth bids 
Appendix D.3  Capital growth bids – funded by CIL 
Appendix E Prudential indicators      
Appendix F Medium term financial plan 

 

Background Papers 

Provisional settlement figures (December 2022) 
Council tax base 2023/24 – Cabinet 2 December 2022, Council 7 December 2022 
Treasury Management Strategy – Cabinet 3 February 2023, Council 15 February 
2023 
 

Page 142



Appendix A.1

Vale of White Horse DC - revenue budget summary 2023/24

2022/23 2023/24
Budget Budget Appendix Ref:

Opening base budget 2023/24 15,557,968

Revision to base budget
  Opening budget adjustments (568,422) Appendix A.2
  Inflation, salary increments and other salary adjustments 688,135 Appendix A.3
  Essential growth - one-off 100,061
  Essential growth - ongoing 2,952,899
  Base budget savings (1,533,857) Appendix A.5
  Increase in revenue contingency 0
  Movement in managed vacancy factor (61,942)
Total base budget after revsions 15,557,968 17,134,842
  Revenue - one-off 200,000
  Revenue - ongoing 0

Gross treasury income (388,820) (3,329,071)
Net expenditure 15,169,148 14,005,771

Funding
(Funding from reserves)/contribution to reserves 265,783 2,527,671
Funding from government grants and council tax (15,434,931) (16,533,442)

Total Funding (15,169,148) (14,005,771)

Council tax yield requirement

Appendix A.4

Appendix B.1

Page 143



Appendix A.2

Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 budget build changes
Opening budget adjustments relating to previous year's budget decisions

Year of bid Summary
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£ £ £ £ £
CORPORATE SERVICES
2013/14 Bi-annual residents survey 24,000 0 24,000 0 24,000

24,000 0 24,000 0 24,000

DEVELOPMENT & CORPORATE LANDLORD
2021/22 Faringdon gym - loss of income due to delay (40,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000)
2020/21 GWP - District Centre (164) (458) (458) (458) (458)
2019/20 Lease of 135 Milton Park - Vale share (177,500) (177,500) (177,500) (177,500) (177,500)
2020/21 Rent for 135 Milton Park (14,213) (14,213) (14,213) (14,213) (14,213)
2021/22 Increase maintenance budget/NNDR for 135 Milton Park (112,184) (112,184) (112,184) (112,184) (112,184)

2022/23
Office accommodation costs following departure from 135 
Milton Park 97,048 142,211 187,372 187,372 187,372

2022/23
Increased expenditure and reduced rental income from council 
properties 229,204 292,442 355,680 355,680 355,680

2022/23
Additional costs of strategic property review and 
implementation of corporate landlord model (36,437) (36,437) (36,437) (36,437) (36,437)

(54,246) 53,861 162,260 162,260 162,260

FINANCE
2014/15 Actuarial Fees 15,000 0 0 15,000 0

15,000 0 0 15,000 0

HOUSING & ENVIRONMENT
2022/23 Fees for air quality study (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (35,000)
2020/21 Additional resource for waste contract re-tender 0 (35,843) (35,843) (35,843) (35,843)
2021/22 Temp increase in Env/Housing officers (COVID) (88,283) (88,283) (88,283) (88,283) (88,283)
2021/22 Additional Waste Technical Officer (20,070) (20,070) (20,070)
2022/23 Senior Waste Technical Officer - additional resource 0 0 (23,821) (23,821) (23,821)

(123,283) (159,126) (203,017) (203,017) (203,017)

Spending profile:

1

P
age 144



Appendix A.2

Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 budget build changes
Opening budget adjustments relating to previous year's budget decisions

Year of bid Summary
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£ £ £ £ £

Spending profile:

LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC
2020/21 Storage costs for election equipment (5,000) (5,000) (5,000) (5,000) (5,000)
2018/19 District/parish elections 2023 65,000 (50,000) (50,000) (50,000)
2020/21 District/parish elections 2023 50,000 0 0 0 0

110,000 (55,000) (55,000) (5,000) (55,000)
PARTNERSHIPS
2020/21 Reprofiling of 5CP costs (406,546) (406,546) (406,546) (406,546) (406,546)
2022/23 5CP costs associated with exit and service transformation 0 150,000 1,350,000 0 0
2022/23 Additional contribution to Future Oxfordshire Partnership 0 (88,653) (88,653) (88,653) (88,653)

(406,546) (345,199) 854,801 (495,199) (495,199)

PLANNING
2020/21 Development fees for condition discharge 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
2020/21 Reduction in planning fees (125,000) (125,000) (125,000) (125,000) (125,000)
2020/21 Salary savings due to downturn in sales 78,653 78,653 78,653 78,653 78,653

(43,347) (43,347) (43,347) (43,347) (43,347)

POLICY & PROGRAMMES
2021/22 Growth Board contribution Oxfordshire Plan (60,000) (60,000) (60,000) (60,000) (60,000)

2022/23
One off costs associated with hosting Womens Cycle Tour 
event (30,000) (30,000) (30,000) (30,000) (30,000)

(90,000) (90,000) (90,000) (90,000) (90,000)

(568,422) (638,811) 649,697 (659,303) (700,303)GRAND TOTAL

2

P
age 145



Appendix A.3

Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 budget build changes
Inflation, salary increments and other salary adjustments

Detail

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£ £ £ £ £

ALL SERVICES
Salary inflation 706,586 1,381,055 1,797,877 2,081,316 2,370,423
Salary increments 74,615 152,961 233,657 314,384 397,525
Other salary adjustments (239,923) (251,919) (259,477) (264,666) (269,959)
Other inflation 146,857 340,258 469,192 534,949 602,020
Grand total 688,135 1,622,355 2,241,249 2,665,982 3,100,009

Spending profile:

1

P
age 146



Vale of White Horse - 2023/24 budget build changes
Essential growth

Description
One off/ 
Ongoing

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

2027/28
£

Corporate Services

1
Additional staffing resources for customer services, IT and human 
resources Ongoing 150,309 150,309 150,309 150,309 150,309

150,309 150,309 150,309 150,309 150,309

Development & Corporate Landlord
2 Increase in utilities costs Ongoing 172,154 172,154 172,154 172,154 172,154
3 Net increase in car parking costs, including reduction of car parking 

income
Ongoing 188,700 188,700 188,700 188,700 188,700

5 Great Western Park District Centre reduced income expectation Ongoing 30,047 30,047 30,047 30,047 30,047
6 Play areas increase in cost of repairs and maintenance contract Ongoing 0 19,000 20,000 21,000 22,000
7 Grounds Maintenance service vehicle leasing and fuel cost 

increases
Ongoing 90,570 90,570 90,570 90,570 90,570

8 Development and Corporate landlord proposed restructure 
additional staffing cost

Ongoing 599,518 597,957 597,957 597,957 597,957

9 Tuckmill Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) costs Ongoing 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
10 Reduction in Bury St precinct rental income following member 

budget challenge
Ongoing 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

11 Other net increases Ongoing 37,526 27,134 27,134 27,134 27,134
1,178,515 1,185,562 1,186,562 1,187,562 1,188,562

Finance
12 Additional staffing resource in procurement Ongoing 22,645 22,645 22,645 22,645 22,645
13 Local Council Tax Support Administration Subsidy grant rolled into 

settlement figure
Ongoing 87,277 87,277 87,277 87,277 87,277

14 Net increase in housing benefit costs Ongoing 220,593 260,593 260,593 260,593 260,593
330,515 370,515 370,515 370,515 370,515

Appendix A.4

P
age 147



Vale of White Horse - 2023/24 budget build changes
Essential growth

Description
One off/ 
Ongoing

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

2027/28
£

Appendix A.4

Housing & Environment
15 Increase in waste contract costs as a result of higher than expected 

indexation costs.
Ongoing 583,665 583,665 583,665 583,665 583,665

16 Additional staff due to ongoing high levels of work following 
pandemic

Ongoing 45,594 45,594 45,594 45,594 45,594

17 Waste project officers required for work on waste contract One Off 52,056 52,056 0 0 0
18 Housing Delivery Manager post added to establishment following 

restructure
Ongoing 34,024 34,024 34,024 34,024 34,024

19 Fixed term housing officer required due to increase in workload One Off 15,881 5,294 0 0 0
20 Net increase in costs at mobile home parks Ongoing 22,827 22,827 22,827 22,827 22,827

754,047 743,460 686,110 686,110 686,110

Legal & Democratic
21 CCTV Electricity costs increase Ongoing 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500

22
Councillors allowance - increase in employer National Insurance 
contributions Ongoing 19,348 19,348 19,348 19,348 19,348

23 Increase in anticipated elections costs Ongoing 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
24 Additional staffing resources in legal services Ongoing 174,942 174,942 174,942 174,942 174,942

258,790 258,790 258,790 258,790 258,790

Partnerships
25 Marketing Science Vale growth (against £256K saving in 21/22) Ongoing 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
26 Other net increases Ongoing 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

P
age 148



Vale of White Horse - 2023/24 budget build changes
Essential growth

Description
One off/ 
Ongoing

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

2027/28
£

Appendix A.4

Planning
27 Building control income is anticipated to be lower due to a loss in 

market share of business and customers not implenting their 
planning permissions

Ongoing 84,845 84,845 84,845 84,845 84,845

28 Delays in larger applications due to market conditions and forecast 
downward pressure on house process and activity will reduce 
planning income

Ongoing 222,000 222,000 222,000 222,000 222,000

306,845 306,845 306,845 306,845 306,845

Policy & Programmes
29 Additional fixed term staffing resource to support service delivery One Off 32,124 0 0 0 0
30 Insurance coverage increased due to the results of the property 

revaluations
Ongoing 16,815 16,815 16,815 16,815 16,815

48,939 16,815 16,815 16,815 16,815

Total 3,052,960 3,057,296 3,000,946 3,001,946 3,002,946

P
age 149



Vale of White Horse - 2023/24 budget build changes
Base budget savings

Description
2023/24

£
2024/25

£
2025/26

£
2026/27

£
2027/08

£
0
1 CIL contribution - admin costs (24,100)
2 Other savings across the service (66,382) (36,211) (36,211) (36,211) (36,211)
2 (90,482) (36,211) (36,211) (36,211) (36,211)
2
2
3 Savings identified across facilities functions (50,307) (50,307) (50,307) (50,307) (50,307)
4 Rent & shared cost savings as a result of the moved from Milton Park (316,488) (316,488) (316,488) (316,488) (316,488)
5 Developers contribution for GWP staff costs to 2027-28 (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (50,000) (49,885)
6 CIL contribution - admin costs (11,300)
7 Reduction of insurance budgets (47,534) (47,534) (47,534) (47,534) (47,534)
8 Recharges of insurance costs to SODC (8,418) (8,418) (8,418)
9 Service charges from OCC at Abbey House (331,933) (55,322)

10 Rent receivable from OCC at Abbey House (133,477) (42,156)
11 Service charges from SODC at Abbey House (90,000) (90,000) (90,000)
12 Rent receivable from SODC at Abbey House (75,000) (75,000) (75,000)
13 Other savings across the service (38,293) (37,053) (37,053) (37,053) (28,190)
13 (1,152,750) (772,278) (674,800) (501,382) (492,404)
13
13
14 CIL contribution - admin costs (27,700)
15 Other savings across the service (1,209) (1,209) (1,209) (1,209) (1,209)
15 (28,909) (1,209) (1,209) (1,209) (1,209)
15
15
16 Savings found across the service (25,310) (25,310) (25,310) (25,310) (25,310)
16 (25,310) (25,310) (25,310) (25,310) (25,310)
16

Housing & Environment

Corporate Services

Development & Corporate Landlord

Finance

Appendix A.5

P
age 150



Vale of White Horse - 2023/24 budget build changes
Base budget savings

Description
2023/24

£
2024/25

£
2025/26

£
2026/27

£
2027/08

£

Appendix A.5

16
17 CIL contribution - admin costs (36,400) 0 0 0 0
18 Other savings across the service (26,360) (21,360) (21,360) (21,360) (21,360)
18 (62,760) (21,360) (21,360) (21,360) (21,360)
18
18
19 Five Councils Partnership contract costs saving (29,468) (29,468) (29,468) (29,468) (29,468)
20 Removal of subscription to Ox-Cam arc (13,500) (13,500) (13,500) (13,500) (13,500)
20 (42,968) (42,968) (42,968) (42,968) (42,968)
20
20
21 Savings found across the service (22,662) (22,662) (22,662) (22,662) (22,662)
21 (22,662) (22,662) (22,662) (22,662) (22,662)
21
21
22 Savings found across the service (5,316) (1,771) (1,771) (1,771) (1,771)
22 (5,316) (1,771) (1,771) (1,771) (1,771)
22
22
23 One-off budget to cover increase in national insurance in 2022/23 now 

included in salary budgets
(102,700) (102,700) (102,700) (102,700) (102,700)

23 (102,700) (102,700) (102,700) (102,700) (102,700)
23
23 Total (1,533,857) (1,026,469) (928,991) (755,573) (746,595)

Legal & Democratic

Partnerships

Planning

Policy & Programmes

Contingency

P
age 151



Appendix B.1

Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 revenue growth Appendix B.1

No Title of bid Summary

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£ £ £ £ £

POLICY AND PROGRAMMES

1 Community hub Revenue growth to continue to provide a 
Community Hub service for individuals and 
families across the district.  The Community Hub 
workstream administers the household support 
fund, and provides practical support and advice 
helping our most vulnerable residents. Additionally, 
it supports the work across the asylum and refugee 
schemes the council is responding to, and works 
with partners to lead and deliver programmes 
linked to the council’s food strategy and wider 
Oxfordshire health agenda.

One-off Joint 200,000 200,000

200,000 200,000 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 200,000 200,000 0 0 0

One-off or 
ongoing?

Vale only 
or joint 

bid?

Spending profile:

P
age 152



Appendix C

Vale of White Horse DC Service budget analysis 2023/24

£
Corporate Management Team 796,541
Corporate Services 3,285,799
Development & Corporate Landlord 761,590
Finance 565,370
Housing & Environment 5,993,296
Legal Services 1,769,759
Partnerships 2,112,673
Planning 312,009
Policy & Programmes 2,355,823
All services 71,651
Managed vacancy factor (789,669)
Contingency 400,000
In year savings target (300,000)

Net cost of delivering services 17,334,842

Gross treasury income (3,329,071)
Net expenditure 14,005,771

Transfer to reserves
General fund balance 2,527,671

Budget funding requirement 16,533,442

Page 153



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

APPROVED PROGRAMME
Community Services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate Services 212 30 20 970 20 20
Development & Corporate Landlord 2,835 2,165 479 600 425 425
Finance 1,989 3,830 0 0 0 0
Housing & Environment 10,278 1,583 1,556 1,532 1,532 1,532
Legal Services 193 0 0 0 0 0
Policy & Programmes 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contingency 660 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 16,167 7,608 2,055 3,102 1,977 1,977
Earmarked CIL funded projects 145 710 145 145 145 145
GRAND TOTAL 16,312 8,318 2,200 3,247 2,122 2,122

Cumulative Total Budget 34,321

CAPITAL FINANCING
Developer Contributions - S106 961 0 0 0 0 0
Developer Contributions - CIL 3,384 4,815 185 195 195 50
Other Grants 10,623 1,353 1,327 1,327 1,327 1,327
Balance from capital receipts 1,344 2,150 688 1,725 600 745

GRAND TOTAL 16,312 8,318 2,200 3,247 2,122 2,122
Capital receipts b/f from previous year B7402 13,434 11,590 9,440 8,602 5,527 4,927
Capital receipts earmarked transformation funding 500 150 1,350

Capital receipt balance to c/f 11,590 9,440 8,602 5,527 4,927 4,182

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 154



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

Development & Corporate Landlord

Civic Hall
Wantage Civic Hall Capital Works 201516 (7) YC31 30 30 30 30 30 30

Leisure  
    Leisure Centre - essential works 201516 (9) YC39 636 300 300 300 300 300

Wantage Leisure Centre capital investment YC41 74 64
Abbey Meadows and Gardens Improvements 201516 (11) YC51 24 0 0 0 0 0
Fitness Extension Development WHLC YC56 0 107
WHLC additional fitness equipment YC57 175
WHLC gym equipment upgrade YC59 190
Faringdon LC gym equipment replacement YC60 64 0
Faringdon Pitch S106/CIL YC67 0 882
WHLC wetside refurbishment s106 YC74 70
Capital works feasibility 2020/21 (2) YC77 30 30 30 30 30 30
WHLC Disabled access & changing places s106 YC79 66
Faringdon Leisure Centre ASHP PSDS/s106 YC80 597
Wantage Leisure Centre - air handling unit 2022/23 (1) YC82 0 100
Shrivenham Sports Pavillion s106 YC81 379

Property
O Property Assets essential works-Abbey house move YA29 87 0 0 0 0 0
Property essential works 2022/23 YA54 100 152 0
Purchase of Vans - property maintenance YB02 42

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 155



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

Car Parking
Car park lighting improvements YA33 5 58
Changes to Rye Farm car park 201415 (6) YA34 10 35
Car Park Signs YA39 5
Renovation Charter Car Park 201617 (6) YA45 100
Rye Farm Commercial CP Resurfacing 201415 (6) YA47 5 35
Car park resurfacing 2020/21 (7) YA49 40 40 40 50 50 50
WC refurbishment 2020/21 (8) YA50 47 100
Civil Parking Enforcement YA55 60

Public conveniences
Refurbishment, Portway public toilets, Wantage YA56 157

Flooding/Drainage/STWs
Sparsholt Sewage Works 201617 (7) YA46 20 177

Parks & Open Spaces
New and Upgraded Parks Facilities pre 2014/15 rollingYC03 15 15 15 15 15 15
Grounds Maintnenance equipment 2020/21 (9) YA51 36
Grounds Maintenance electric vehicles 2021/22 (3) YA51 10 40

2,835 2,165 479 600 425 425

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 156



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

Corporate Services

IT Applications
IT hardware 2020/21 (4) YD09 20 20 20 20 20 20
Technology Strategy 2022/23 YP18 192 10

Programmes & Assurance
New Office Accomodation fit-out 2021/22 TBC 0 950

212 30 20 970 20 20

Finance

Development
CIL - OCC CIL YD14 1,963 1948
CIL - CCG CIL YD15 0 1882

General Ledger 202021 YF07 26
1,989 3830 0 0 0 0

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 157



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

Housing & Environment

Housing Register & Homelessness
Elmside Hostel, Faringdon YH27 137
Affordable Homes Delivery Plan 201920 (1) YA48 8,093
Oxfordshire Community Land Trust Affordable housing s106/grant YA53 404

Public Sector Housing
Disabled Facilities Grants 201617 (1) YH05 1,403 1,353 1,327 1,327 1,327 1,327
Home Repairs Target YH06 84 109 108 84 84 84

Waste Services
Additional Wheeled Bins for New Properties YC23 111 111 111 111 111 111

Energy  
Energy Grants YC54 10 10 10 10 10 10

Mobile Home Parks  
Mobile home parks - base replacement YA04 36

10,278 1,583 1,556 1,532 1,532 1,532

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 158



Appendix D.1

No. Costc
2022/23 

Latest Budget 
£000

2023/24
 £000

2024/25
 £000

2025/26 £000
2026/27 

£000
2027/28 

£000

VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO 31 MARCH 2028 LAST UPDATED 3 JANUARY 2023

Legal Services

Community Safety
Replacement CCTV cameras 2020/21 (6) YH12 184
CCTV Equipment 2019/20 YH29 9

193 0 0 0 0 0

Contingency

Capital Contingency YZ01 660

660 0 0 0 0 0

S:\Budget Setting\2023-24\Vale\Cabinet & Council\1. Appendix D.1 - latest capital programmeCapital prog

P
age 159



Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 capital growth bids (Excluding CIL funded bids) Appendix D.2

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Corporate services

1 New portable audio system To provide a replacement microphone system to 
support council meetings at locations away from the 
main office

One-off 37,500

2 Technology strategy Additional capital funding to meet expected expenditure 
requirements arising from the implementation of the 
council's technology strategy

One-off 100,000

Development and Corporate Landlord

3 Abbey House - essential works Replace failing and obsolete building service 
systems, including air conditioning, heating and 
electrical.

One-off 50,000

4 Abbey House - Fire stopping High Risk works identified in fire risk assessments to 
comply with the Fire Safety order.

One-off 180,000

5 Wantage teaching pool Contribution towards a Learner Pool at Wantage leisure 
centre to provide increased capacity for the growing 
demand in the area.

One-off 84,000 942,000 1,314,000 60,000

- funded by Section 106 (84,000) (942,000) (1,314,000) (60,000)
6 Contributions to leisure 

schemes in South Oxfordshire
Contribution of Section 106 receipts received by Vale of 
White Horse towards leisure schemes in South 
Oxfordshire District Council's area

174,000 0 235,000 404,000 235,000

- funded by Section 106 (174,000) 0 (235,000) (404,000) (235,000)
7 The Beacon - Infrastructure 

projects (heat pumps, cooling 
units & lift)

Replace/upgrade end-of-life building services 
infrastructure including, air conditioning units, lift and 
heat pumps.  Install inverter driven pump for improved 
efficiency.

One-off 60,000

8 Property - Resurfacing Resurfacing of unadopted roads and rough parking 
areas where necessary

One-off 90,000

9 Closed churchyard boundary 
walls

Replace damaged/collapsed sections of boundary walls 
in closed churchyards where necessary

One-off 90,000 85,000

10 Pebble Hill Mobile Home Park, 
Radley

Design, planning and delivery of eight additional mobile 
home berths. 

One-off 370,000 (21,400) (21,400) (21,400) (21,400)

11 New Ground Maintenance 
Depot at Great Western Park

Installation of Grounds Maintenance and facilities depot 
at Great Western Park to include EV chargers for vans 

One-off 156,000

12 Electric Vehicle for Parks and 
play area maintenance

One small Electric Vehicle for use by Parks team - 
for repairs and maintenance to Vale owned play 
areas

One-off 20,000

Ref.no. Title of bid Summary of growth bid
(Max 500 characters)

One-off or 
ongoing?

Revenue implications: Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

Spending profile (per council if joint): Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

P
age 160



Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 capital growth bids (Excluding CIL funded bids) Appendix D.2

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Ref.no. Title of bid Summary of growth bid
(Max 500 characters)

One-off or 
ongoing?

Revenue implications: Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

Spending profile (per council if joint): Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

13 Smiths Wharf play area in 
Wantage

Replacement of retaining wall and renewal of 
surfacing

One-off 76,000

Housing and Environment

14 Additional Wheeled bins for 
new properties

Purchase of additional bins for new propertiies One-off 0 9,000 9,000 19,000 19,000

15 Local authority housing fund Capital growth linked to the Government’s 
£500million Local Authority Housing Fund, 
responding to the UK’s humanitarian duties to 
assist those fleeing war.  The Fund aims to help 
local housing and homelessness pressures, by 
providing a new and permanent supply of move 
on and settled accommodation for refugee and 
asylum seekers.  This funding represents the 
council share of cost with the rest funded by 
government

One-off 2,500,000 (120,000) (120,000) (120,000) (120,000)

Confidential items
16 Confidential items Confidential items One-off 3,200,000 1,750,000 1,500,000 1,500,000

TOTAL 6,839,500 1,934,000 1,509,000 1,519,000 19,000 0 (141,400) (141,400) (141,400) (141,400)

P
age 161



Vale of White Horse DC - 2023/24 capital growth bids - CIL funded Appendix D.3

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

1 Charter Medical - Boilers This system is over 40 years old, replacement parts are 
difficult to source,  inefficient & high risk of reputational 
damage - surgery heat loss 

One-off 80,000

2 PSDS funding scheme 
(Decarbonisation) contribution - 
White Horse Leisure and 
Tennis Centre and Wantage 
Leisure Centre

District council contribution towards the £8 million PSDS 
funding application for White Horse Leisure and Tennis 
Centre and Wantage Leisure Centre. Funding only 
required if PSDS application is successful.

One-off 2,478,000 5,439,000 231,000

- Funded by PSDS grant (1,822,000) (4,171,000) 0
- Funded by contribution from OCC (75,000) (146,000) (27,000)

3 Replacement of all roof 
coverings at Wantage Leisure 
Centre

Replacement of roof sections 2,3,4,5,6 as per condition 
survey - Swimming pool section

One-off 225,000

TOTALS 886,000 1,122,000 204,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue implications: Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

Ref.no. Title of bid Summary of growth bid
(Max 500 characters)

One-off or 
ongoing?

Spending profile (per council if joint): Cost 
code: 
AAAA/
CCCC

P
age 162



Latest Medium Term Financial Plan to 2027/28 Appendix F

1

2

3

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

28

29
31

32

33

34

39

40

41

44

46

48

49

50

53

56

58

59

61

62

63

64

65

66

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

A B C D E F

Vale of White Horse District Council Budget Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£ £ £ £ £

Base budget bfwd 15,557,968 15,557,968 15,557,968 15,557,968 15,557,968
Revisions to base budget
Opening budget adjustments (568,422) (638,811) 649,697 (659,303) (700,303)
Inflation, salary increments and adjustments 688,135 1,622,355 2,241,249 2,665,982 3,100,009
Essential growth - one-off 100,061 57,350 0 0 0
Essential growth - ongoing 2,952,899 2,999,946 3,000,946 3,001,946 3,002,946
Assumed future essential growth 0 1,550,000 1,800,000 2,050,000 2,300,000
Base budget savings (1,533,857) (1,026,469) (928,991) (755,573) (746,595)
In year savings target (150,000) (150,000) (150,000) (150,000)
Movement in managed vacancy factor (61,942) (61,942) (61,942) (61,942) (61,942)
Total revised base budget 17,134,842 19,910,397 22,108,927 21,649,078 22,302,083
Growth, savings and other budget adjustments
Growth proposals

   Revenue - one-off 200,000 200,000 0 0 0
   Revenue - ongoing 0 0 0 0 0
   Capital (revenue consequences of) 0 (141,400) (141,400) (141,400) (141,400)

Net cost of services 17,334,842 19,968,997 21,967,527 21,507,678 22,160,683
Gross treasury income (3,329,071) (2,695,587) (1,811,500) (1,461,750) (1,337,000)
Borrowing cost 0 0 276,000 645,000 845,000
Net expenditure 14,005,771 17,273,409 20,432,027 20,690,928 21,668,683
Transfers to/(from) reserves 43,960 (150,000) (1,350,000) 0 0
Amount to be financed 14,049,731 17,123,409 19,082,027 20,690,928 21,668,683
Financing
Core Government Funding (7,079,595) (6,663,088) (3,917,531) (3,479,678) (3,030,814)
Core Funding (7,079,595) (6,663,088) (3,917,531) (3,479,678) (3,030,814)
Add - NDR from renewable energy (226,304) (226,304) (226,304) (226,304) (226,304)
Collection fund (surplus)/deficit (632,044) (300,000) (300,000) (300,000) (300,000)
Council tax requirement before use of reserves 6,111,787 9,934,017 14,638,192 16,684,946 18,111,565
(Use of reserves)/contribution to reserves 2,483,711 (922,012) (5,199,119) (6,808,020) (7,785,775)
Council tax requirement after use of reserves 8,595,499 9,012,006 9,439,074 9,876,926 10,325,790
Tax base 56,664.9 57,514.9 58,377.6 59,253.3 60,142.1

Band D Council tax (£) 151.69 156.69 161.69 166.69 171.69
Council tax increase from previous year 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 3.1% 3.0%
Reserves at year end

General fund balance at 31 March (16,652,370) (16,652,370) (16,652,370) (11,231,669) (3,445,895)
Earmarked revenue reserves  - unallocated (7,508,449) (6,586,437) (1,387,319) 0 0
Earmarked revenue reserves  - allocated (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840)

Memorandum item

Use of reserves to balance budget 2,483,711 (922,012) (2,880,629) (4,489,530) (5,467,285)

Usable balances at year end if core revenue spending 
power maintained over MTFP period:* £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General fund balance (16,652,370) (16,652,370) (16,652,370) (15,868,648) (10,401,363)

Earmarked revenue reserves  - unallocated (7,508,449) (6,586,437) (3,705,808) 0 0
Earmarked revenue reserves  - allocated (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840) (1,731,840)

Use of reserves if Core Revenue Spending Power maintained over MTFP period

1
Page 163



Document is Restricted

Page 164

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Distributing the White Horse Community Lottery - Community Fund
	8 Milton Park - Proposed Revised Local Development Order
	Appendix 2- Local Development Order site plan
	Appendix 3 - Summary of representations

	9 Treasury management mid-year monitoring 2022/23
	10 Treasury management and investment strategy 2023/24
	11 Capital strategy 2023/24 to 2032/33
	Appendix

	12 Revenue budget 2023/24 and capital programme to 2027/28
	Appendix A.1 Revenue budget summary
	Appendix A.2 Opening budget adjustments
	Appendix A.3 Inflation salary increments and other salary adjustments
	Appendix A.4 essential growth
	Appendix A.5 base budget savings
	Appendix B.1 revenue growth
	Appendix C Revenue budget summary
	Appendix D.1 capital programme
	Appendix D.2 capital growth PUBLIC
	Appendix D.3 capital growth Community Infrastructure Levy funded
	Appendix F Medium Term Financial Plan

	14 Revenue budget 2023/24 and capital programme 2023/24 to 2027/28

